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USE OF TERMS AND CONVENTIONS
Unless otherwise specified or the context requires otherwise in this annual report:


references to “2022 Notes” are to the €400.0 million 5.125% Senior Secured Notes due 2022 issued by Dutch
Finco pursuant to an indenture dated June 23, 2015;



references to “2024 Notes” are to the €400.0 million 3.25% Senior Secured Notes due 2024 issued by the
Company pursuant to an indenture dated April 21, 2017;



references to “2026 Notes” are to the €250.0 million 3.375% Senior Secured Notes due 2026, which were
issued pursuant to an indenture dated April 27, 2018;



references to “ADE Facility” are to the facility dated October 22, 2012, between the Agencia de Innovación,
Financiación e Internacionalización Empresarial de Castilla y León, a public company wholly-owned by the
regional government of Castilla y León, and the Company, for an amount up to €70.0 million, with an
outstanding balance of €60.0 million as of December 31, 2016, which was repaid with cash on balance sheet on
March 15, 2017;



references to “Allocation” are to the change in the system by which the Group allocates overheads of the
corporate unit, so that such overhead and structural costs and other structural costs are no longer allocated to
the business segments and are instead allocated within “other”. See “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects—Segment Reporting”;



references to “APAC” are to Australia, China, India, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, Philippines, South Korea,
Taiwan and Thailand, collectively;



references to “Divested Business” are the companies formerly included in our Seating business segment which
were sold in connection with the Divestment and which, collectively, include Grupo Antolín-Ara, S.A.U.,
Grupo Antolín-Ardasa, S.A.U., Grupo Antolín-Álava, S.A.U., Grupo Antolín-Vigo, S.A.U., Grupo
Antolín-PGA, S.A.U., Grupo Antolín-Martorell, S.A.U., Grupo Antolín-Magnesio, S.A.U., Grupo
Antolín-Valença-Componentes Automóvel, Sociedade Unipessoal, Lda., Midtown Invest, S.L., Grupo
Antolín-Loire S.A.S., Grupo Antolín Ingenierie Sièges, S.A.S., Grupo Antolin Jarny, S.A.S., 70% of
Antolín-CIE Czech Republic, s.r.o. and certain assets of Antolín Tanger, S.A.R.L.;



references to “Company” are to Grupo Antolín-Irausa, S.A., a limited liability company (sociedad anónima)
incorporated and existing under the laws of Spain and the issuer of the Notes;



references to “Divestment” are to the sale of the Divested Business on April 28, 2017 pursuant to a sale and
purchase agreement dated February 6, 2017 by and among the Company and certain of its affiliates, as sellers,
and Lear Corporation and certain of its affiliates, as buyers. See “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects—Key Factors Affecting our Results of Operations—Acquisitions and disposals—Divestment of our
Seating segment”;



references to “Dutch Finco” are to Grupo Antolin Dutch B.V., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
the issuer of the 2022 Notes;



references to “Eastern Europe” are to the following countries Azerbaijan, Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic,
Hungary, Kazakhstan, Poland, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, Turkey and Uzbekistan;



references to “EIB” are to the European Investment Bank;



references to “EIB Facility”, are to are to the facility agreement entered into by the Company and EIB on 12
June, 2018 for an amount of €100.0 million maturing on 31 May, 2028, with 14 equal semi-annual instalments,
the first being on 30 November 2021;



references to “emerging markets” and “emerging economies” are to growth markets and growth economies,
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excluding the US;


references to “EU” are to the European Union as of the date of this annual report;



references to “Europe” are to Western Europe and Eastern Europe, collectively;



references to “FCA” are to Fiat-Chrysler Automobiles;



references to “Group”, “Grupo Antolin”, “we”, “us” and “our” are to the Company together with its
consolidated subsidiaries;



references to “growth markets” and “growth economies” are to economies where we are experiencing
increasing demand for our products and which include the US, Mexico, Brazil, Turkey, Russia, China, India
and Thailand;



references to “IFRS-EU” are to the International Financial Reporting Standards promulgated by the
International Accounting Standards Board and as adopted by the European Union;



references to “Intercreditor Agreement” are to the intercreditor agreement dated March 21, 2014 (as amended
and/or amended and restated from time to time) entered into with, among others, lenders under our Senior
Facilities Agreement and the trustee on behalf of the holders of the 2024 Notes, and to which the Trustee will
accede on the Issue Date as the creditor representative on behalf of the holders of the Notes. See “Description
of Indebtedness—Intercreditor Agreement”;



references to “JIT” are to just in time;



references to “JLR” are to Jaguar Land Rover;



references to “LMC Automotive” are to LMC Automotive Ltd.;



references to “Magna” and “Magna Group” are to Magna International Inc. and its subsidiaries;



references to “Magna Interiors Business” are to the Magna Subsidiaries, the interests in the Magna JVs and
the other assets and properties of Magna related to its interior business in Germany (Roitzsch division, included
in Näher Automotive GmbH), Czech Republic (Liban division, included in Magna Exteriors & Interiors
(Bohemia), s.r.o.), Slovakia (Trnava division, included in Magna Slovteca, s.r.o.) and India (Pune division)
included in Magna Closures Automotive Private, Ltd., as well as certain automotive real estate assets and
leasehold improvements, each acquired from Magna pursuant to the terms and conditions of the sale and
purchase agreement dated April 16, 2015, by and among the Company, as buyer, and certain of Magna
subsidiaries listed therein;



references to “Magna JVs” are to Dae Yee Intier Co. Ltd. (now known as Crea Antolin Co. Ltd.), Plastimat
Hungary Kft, Changshu Intier Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd. and Changchun Intier Automotive
Interiors Co., Ltd.;



references to “Magna Subsidiaries” are to Magna Interiors (Austria) GmbH, Magna Beteiligung
(Austria) GmbH, Burg Design GmbH, Magna Interiors GmbH, Magna Interiors (Germany) GmbH, Magna
Interiors (Massen) GmbH, Magna Interiors (Europe) GmbH, Magna Automotive (Hungary) Kft, Magna
Interiors (UK) Limited, Magna Exteriors & Interiors USA, Inc. (including Interlink Automotive, LLC and its
100% interest in Magna Exteriors & Interiors (Suzhou) Co. Ltd.), Administration de Toluca Interiors, S.A. de
C.V., Intier Automotive Interiors de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. and Intier Automotive Interiors de Saltillo, S.A. de
C.V.;



references to “Mercosur” are to Argentina, Brazil, Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Ecuador, Paraguay, Peru,
Uruguay and Venezuela, collectively;



references to “North America” are to the US, Canada and Mexico, collectively;
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references to “Notes” are to the 2026 Notes, 2024 Notes and 2022 Notes;



references to “OEM” are to original equipment manufacturer;



references to “R&D” are to research and development;



references to “Revolving Credit Facility” are to the revolving credit facility made available under the Senior
Facilities Agreement;



references to “Seating” are to the seats and metal business which was a part of the Divested Business;



references to “Senior Facilities” are to the senior term facilities made available under the Senior Facilities
Agreement and the Revolving Credit Facility;



references to “Senior Facilities Agreement” or “SFA” are to the senior term and revolving credit facilities
agreement originally dated March 13, 2014 as amended from time to time and as further amended and restated
pursuant to amendment and restatement agreements dated June 4, 2015, 26 October 2015 and 17 April, 2018
entered into between, among others, the Company, as the original borrower, various subsidiaries of the
Company, as original guarantors, the original lenders listed therein and Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as
agent and security agent. See “Description of Indebtedness—Senior Facilities Agreement”;



references to “SFA Guarantors” are to the Company and the Guarantors;



references to “TCO” are to technical-commercial offices;



references to “Western Europe” are to Austria, Belgium, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands,
Portugal, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom, collectively;



references to “WLTP” are to Worldwide Harmonized Light-Duty Vehicles Test Procedures, the new globally
harmonized standard for levels of pollutants and carbon dioxide of passenger cars. Since the start of September
2018, it has been applying to all newly registered cars.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
Except for historical information contained herein, statements contained in this annual report may constitute
“forward looking statements” within the meaning of the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
The words “believe”, “anticipate”, “expect”, “predict”, “continue”, “intend”, “estimate”, “plan”, “aim”, “assume”,
“positioned”, “will”, “may”, “should”, “shall”, “risk”, “probable” and other similar expressions, which are predictions or
indications of future events and future trends, which do not relate to historical matters, identify forward looking statements.
This annual report includes forward looking statements relating to our potential exposure to various types of market risks,
such as credit risk, interest rate risk, exchange rate risk and commodity price risk. You should not rely on forward looking
statements because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which are in some cases beyond
our control and may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from anticipated future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements (and from past results, performance
or achievements). Certain factors that may cause such differences include but are not limited to:


increased or more pronounced cyclicality in the automobile industry;



our susceptibility to economic trends and to the impact of adverse economic conditions on our customers or
suppliers;



continuing uncertainties and challenging political conditions in Spain and the European economy, which may
impact the value of the euro, and uncertainties regarding Brexit and the outcome of future arrangements
between the EU and the UK, in particular;



significant developments stemming from the recent US presidential elections;



the potential loss of customers or changes in market share by our customers;



our ability to realize revenues from our awarded business and/or the potential termination or non-renewal of
purchase orders by our customers;



disruptions in the automotive supply chain and fluctuations in the prices of materials;



our and our customers’ ability to obtain sufficient capital financing, including working capital lines, and credit
insurance;



fluctuations in the prices of materials;



increased competition in the automotive parts industry generally, as well as shifts in market share among, and
demand for, certain vehicles and products;



our ability to offset price concessions or additional costs from our customers;



costs and risks in relation to the construction, maintenance, downsizing, closing and/or sale of our plants;



mechanical failures, equipment shutdowns, technological breakdowns and interruptions in the supply of
utilities;



increased capital expenditures required by our ongoing operations;



risks and additional costs associated with ongoing and/or future acquisitions and divestitures, program launches
and/or our growth with our customers;



our joint ventures, certain of which we do not control;



potential impairment of deferred tax assets and/or goodwill;
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our current tax liabilities and the tax accounting treatment we are subject to, including risks related to any
changes therein;



potential reduction in our net income and equity due to the impairment of goodwill;



our international operations and risks related to compliance with anti-corruption laws, regulations and
economic sanctions programs in connection thereto;



our exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations;



unrealized expectations on our investment strategies or shifts away from technologies in which we invest;



loss of key executives, availability of labor and any changes in workforce utilization efficiency, including those
resulting from work stoppages and other labor problems;



risks related to potential non-compliance with, or changes in, applicable laws and regulations, including in
relation to environmental, insurance, product liability, tax, intellectual property and/or health and safety laws
and regulations;



risks related to shifts away from technologies in which we invest;



explosions, fires or any other accidents, natural disasters, floods, hurricanes and earthquakes, theft, terrorist
attacks and/or other acts of violence, war or other political changes in geographic areas in which we operate;



restrictions on transfer of funds; and



other risks and uncertainties inherent in our business and the world economy

For a more detailed discussion of these and other factors, see “Risk Factors”, “Operating and Financial Review and
Prospects” and “Business” included elsewhere in this annual report. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward looking statements. These forward looking statements are made as of the date of this annual report and are not
intended to give any assurance as to future results. We undertake no obligation to, and do not intend to, publicly update or
revise any of these forward looking statements, whether to reflect new information or future events or circumstances or
otherwise.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA
Financial Information and Operational Data
Company historical financial information
This annual report includes our audited consolidated historical financial statements as of and for the financial years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2018. Other unaudited financial data is included which is derived from our accounting
records.
The audited financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with IFRS-EU applicable at the
relevant date and are presented in millions of euro.
From January 1, 2017, as part of a global analysis of our tax structure, we have changed the system by which we
allocate overheads of the corporate unit, so that such overhead and structural costs and other structural costs are no longer
allocated to the business segments and are instead allocated within “other”. For further information with respect to the
reallocation of costs, please refer to Note 2-d of our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December
31, 2017. See “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Segment Reporting”.
Non-IFRS financial information
We have included in this annual report certain financial measures, including EBITDA that is not required by, nor
presented in accordance with IFRS-EU. As used in this annual report, “EBITDA” represents our profit for the period from
continuing operations (“EBIT”) after adding back depreciation and amortization expenses.
This annual report also contains other measures and ratios such as gross profit, gross profit margin, EBIT margin,
EBITDA margin, capital expenditures and net financial debt. We present these non-IFRS measures because we believe that
they and similar measures are widely used by certain investors, securities analysts and other interested parties as
supplemental measures of performance and liquidity.
Our management believes that EBITDA is meaningful for investors because it provides an analysis of our operating
results, profitability and ability to service debt and because EBITDA is used by our chief operating decision makers to track
our business evolution, establish operational and strategic targets and make important business decisions. EBITDA is also a
measure commonly reported and widely used by analysts, investors and other interested parties in our industry. To facilitate
the analysis of our operations, EBITDA excludes depreciation and amortization expenses from EBIT in order to eliminate the
impact of general long-term capital investment. Although we are presenting EBITDA to enhance the understanding of our
historical operating performance, EBITDA should not be considered an alternative to EBIT as an indicator of our operating
performance, or an alternative to cash flows from ordinary operating activities as a measure of our liquidity. EBITDA, as
used in this annual report, may not be calculated in the same manner as “Consolidated EBITDA”, which is calculated
pursuant to the Indenture governing the Notes, or for the purposes of any of our other indebtedness.
The information presented by EBITDA and other non-IFRS financial information presented in this annual report is
unaudited and has not been prepared in accordance with IFRS-EU or any other accounting standards. In addition, the
presentation of these measures is not intended to and does not comply with the reporting requirements of the SEC;
compliance with its requirements would require us to make changes to the presentation of this information.
You should not consider EBITDA or any other non-IFRS or financial measures presented herein as alternatives to
measures of financial performance determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, such as net
income, as a measure of operating results or cash flow as a measure of liquidity. EBITDA is not a measure of financial
performance under IFRS-EU. Our computation of such measure and other non-IFRS financial measures may not be
comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies.
Rounding adjustments have been made in calculating some of the financial information included in this annual
report. As a result, figures shown as totals in some tables and elsewhere may not be exact arithmetic aggregations of the
figures that precede them.
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Industry Data
In this annual report, we rely on and refer to information regarding our business and the market in which we operate
and compete. We have obtained this information from various third party sources, including providers of industry data,
discussions with our customers and our own internal estimates. While we believe that industry publications, surveys and
forecasts are reliable, they have not been independently verified, and neither we nor the Initial Purchasers make any
representation or warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of such information set forth in this annual report.
In drafting this annual report, we used industry sources, including reports prepared by LMC Automotive in the
fourth quarter of 2018. While LMC Automotive endeavors to ensure the accuracy of the data, estimates and forecasts,
provided in its services and reflected herein, decisions based upon them (including those involving investment and planning)
are at the user’s own risk and LMC Automotive accepts no liability in respect of information, analysis and forecasts
provided.
Additionally, industry publications, surveys and forecasts generally state that the information contained therein has
been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but that the accuracy and completeness of such information is not
guaranteed and in some instances such sources state that they do not assume liability for such information. Market studies
and analyses are frequently based on information and assumptions that might not be accurate or technically correct, and their
methodologies may be forward looking and speculative. We cannot assure you of the accuracy and completeness of such
information as we have not independently verified such information.
In addition, in many cases, we have made statements in this annual report regarding our industry and our position in
the industry based solely on our experience, our internal studies and estimates, and our own investigation of market
conditions. While we assume that our own market observations are reliable, we give no warranty for the accuracy of our own
estimates and the information derived from them. They may differ from estimates made by our competitors or from future
studies conducted by market research institutes or other independent sources. While we are not aware of any misstatements
regarding the industry or similar data presented herein, such data involves risks and uncertainties and are subject to change
based on various factors. See “Risk Factors” in this annual report. Additionally, all data in relation to our position in our
industry as well as specific market share details are based on the number of units of automotive interior components sold.
We cannot assure you that any of these assumptions are accurate or correctly reflect our position in the industry, and
none of our internal surveys or information has been verified by any independent sources. Neither we nor the Initial
Purchasers make any representation or warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of this information. Some of the surveys
or sources were compiled by our advisors and are not publicly available and accordingly may not be considered to be as
independent as other third party sources.
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EXCHANGE RATE AND CURRENCY INFORMATION
The following tables set forth, for the periods set forth below, the high, low, average and period end Bloomberg
(New York) Composite Rate expressed as US dollars per €1.00. The Bloomberg Composite Rate is a “best market”
calculation, in which, at any point in time, the bid rate is equal to the highest bid rate of all contributing bank indications and
the ask rate is set to the lowest ask rate offered by these banks. The Bloomberg Composite Rate is a mid-value rate between
the applied highest bid rate and the lowest ask rate. The rates may differ from the actual rates used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements and other financial information appearing in this annual report. We make no representation
that the US dollar amounts referred to below could have been or could, in the future, be converted into euro at any particular
rate, if at all.
The Bloomberg (New York) Composite Rate of the euro on March 29, 2019 was $1.1217 per €1.00.

2015....................................................................................
2016....................................................................................
2017....................................................................................
2018....................................................................................
2019 (through March 29, 2018) .......................................

High
1.2103
1.1532
1.2093
1.2509
1.2379

Low
1.0497
1.0389
1.0340
1.1218
1.1194

October 2018 .....................................................................
November 2018 .................................................................
December 2018 .................................................................
January 2019......................................................................
February 2019 ...................................................................
March 2019........................................................................

High
1.1593
1.1453
1.1469
1.1543
1.1459
1.1414

Low
1.1312
1.1218
1.1304
1.1303
1.1268
1.1194

(1)
(2)

US dollars per €1.00
Average(1)
1.1102
1.1069
1.1300
1.1809
1.1583
Average(2)
1.1480
1.1362
1.1374
1.1420
1.1347
1.1299

The average of the exchange rates on the last business day of each month during the relevant period.
The average of the exchange rates on each business day during the relevant period.

Period end
1.0856
1.0520
1.2005
1.1469
1.1217
Period end
1.1312
1.1320
1.1469
1.1448
1.1371
1.1217

SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION
The following tables set forth the selected financial data and other data of the Company for the periods ended and
as of the dates indicated below. For a detailed discussion of the presentation of financial data, see “Presentation of
Financial and Other Data”.
You should read this selected financial data in conjunction with “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects”
and the historical consolidated financial statements of the Company, included elsewhere in this annual report. The results of
operations for prior years are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future period. For more
information on the basis of preparation of this financial information, see “Presentation of Financial and Other Data” and
the notes to the financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report.
Basis of Presentation
The tables below set forth the summary financial data for the Company as of and for the financial years ended
December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018, derived from our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the financial
years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018, which were prepared in accordance with IFRS-EU and are included
elsewhere in annual report. Our summary consolidated financial data for the Company is presented in euro and has been
prepared in accordance with IFRS-EU.
The financial information set forth in this summary financial data and other data of the Company as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2016 (adjusted for the Divestment) has been derived by deducting from our audited consolidated
financial statements of as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, the income statement and the statement of cash flows
attributable to the Divested Business as set forth in Note 25 of our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2017.
From January 1, 2017, as part of a global analysis of our tax structure, we have changed the system by which we
allocate overheads of the corporate unit, so that such overhead and structural costs and other structural costs are no longer
allocated to the business segments and are instead allocated within “other”. For further information with respect to the
reallocation of costs, please refer to Note 2-d of our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December
31, 2017. See “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Segment Reporting”.
Non-IFRS Measures
The summary financial information set forth below contains certain non-IFRS financial measures, including
“EBITDA”, “EBITDA margin”, “capital expenditures” and “net financial debt.” We present these measures because we
believe that they and similar measures are widely used by certain investors, securities analysts and other interested parties as
supplemental measures of performance and liquidity and should not be considered in isolation from or as a substitute for our
historical financial information.
You should read this summary financial data in conjunction with “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects”
and the historical consolidated financial statements of the Company and the related notes, included elsewhere in this annual
report. The results of operations for prior years are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future
period. For more information on the basis of preparation of this financial information, see “Presentation of Financial and
Other Data” and the notes to the financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report.
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Company Historical Financial Data

2016
(audited)

2016
(adjusted for
Divestment)
(unaudited)

Year ended December 31,
2017
2017
2018
(restated
IFRS 15)
(audited)
(audited)
(audited)
(in millions of €)

Consolidated Income Statement of Profit or Loss Data:
Revenue ................................................................................................
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress ......
Capital grants and other grants taken to income ................................
Other operating income .......................................................................
Total operating income .....................................................................
Supplies ................................................................................................
Staff costs .............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization expenses ............................................
Change in trade provisions ..................................................................
Other operating expenses ....................................................................
Less-Own work capitalized .................................................................
Profit for the year from continuing operations.............................
Finance income ....................................................................................
Finance costs ........................................................................................
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial instruments ............................
Impairments and losses on disposal of non-current financial assets
Exchange differences...........................................................................
Net finance income/(cost) ..................................................................
Net impairment loss on non-current assets ........................................
Gain/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets ...................................
Gains/(losses) on the loss of significant influence over
consolidated investments ................................................................
Profit of companies accounted for using the equity method .............
Impairments and losses due to loss of significant influence over
equity accounted investees .............................................................
Profit before taxes ..............................................................................
Corporate income tax ..........................................................................
Profit after tax for the year from discontinued operations ................
Consolidated profit for the year ......................................................
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests ...................................
Profit attributable to the Parent......................................................

5,247.3
(7.8)
1.5
146.2
5,387.2
(3,344.4)
(869.5)
(182.0)
(7.7)
(739.0)
94.1
338.7
1.1
(63.6)
0.6
(0.3)
10.1
(52.1)
(10.4)
(1.5)

4,982.5
(9.9)
1.2
149.0
5,122.8
(3,225.8)
(822.3)
(170.5)
(7.3)
(697.3)
91.6
291.2
4.1
(66.3)
0.6
(0.3)
10.1
(51.8)
(10.4)
(1.5)
9.7

5,036.7
8.4
0.9
174.5
5,220.5
(3,275.6)
(884.7)
(174.7)
1.0
(718.3)
122.8
291.0
2.9
(66.8)
(2.0)
—
(23.9)
(89.8)
(56.5)
(0.9)
(0.2)

5,391.4
8.4
0.9
109.5
5,510.3
(3,565.3)
(884.7)
(174.7)
1.0
(718.3)
122.8
291.0
2.9
(66.8)
(2.0)
—
(23.9)
(89.8)
(56.5)
(0.9)
(0.2)

5,424.6
0.5
0.7
98.0
5,523.8
(3,597.8)
(968.8)
(195.0)
0.3
(734.1)
132.5
160.9
1.6
(59.7)
—
—
(6.1)
(64.2)
(17.5)
(0.4)
—

9.7
4.0

4.0

3.3

3.3

2.6

(7.0)
281.5
(86.8)
—
194.7
(17.0)
177.6

(7.0)
234.2
(79.7)
40.2
194.7
(17.0)
177.6

—
146.9
(37.4)
148.8
258.3
(16.2)
242.1

—
146.9
(37.4)
148.8
258.3
(16.2)
242.1

—
81.4
(27.7)
—
53.8
(6.5)
47.2

As of December 31,
2016
2017
2018
(audited)
(audited)
(audited)
(in millions of €)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position:
Non-current assets:
Intangible assets ........................................................................................................................................
Property, plant and equipment .................................................................................................................
Other non-current assets(1) ........................................................................................................................
Total non-current assets.........................................................................................................................
Current assets:
Inventories .................................................................................................................................................
Trade and other receivables ......................................................................................................................
Cash and bank balances ............................................................................................................................
Other current assets(2)................................................................................................................................
Total current assets .................................................................................................................................
Total assets ...............................................................................................................................................
Total equity ..............................................................................................................................................
Non-current liabilities:
Bank loans, debentures and other marketable securities ........................................................................
Other non-current liabilities(3) ..................................................................................................................
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497.1
808.4
121.8
1,427.3

457.5
789.5
102.5
1,349.4

490.1
866.5
125.1
1,481.7

825.4
1,067.2
306.5
13.9
2,212.9
3,640.2
620.8

910.7
1,037.0
333.9
47.0
2,328.6
3,678.0
792.9

917.5
900.4
310.8
48.7
2,177.5
3,659.2
814.3

1,226.0
201.4

1,152.7
209.2

1,142.0
218.4

Total non-current liabilities...................................................................................................................
Current liabilities:
Bank loans, debentures and other marketable securities ........................................................................
Trade, sundry and other payables ............................................................................................................
Other current liabilities(4) ..........................................................................................................................
Total current liabilities...........................................................................................................................

1,427.4

1,362.0

1,360.4

38.1
1,240.0
313.9
1,592.1

34.4
1,185.6
303.1
1,523.1

72.0
1,135.0
277.5
1,484.4

Total equity and liabilities .....................................................................................................................

3,640.2

3,678.0

3,659.2

(1)

Other non-current assets comprises investment property, investment in companies accounted for using the equity method, non-current financial
assets and deferred tax assets.

(2)

Other current assets comprises non-current assets held for sale, Group and associated companies and other current financial assets.

(3)

Other non-current liabilities comprises grants, non-current provisions, derivatives, other financial liabilities and deferred tax liabilities.

(4)

Other current liabilities comprises current payables to Group and associated companies, other financial liabilities, taxes and social security
contributions refundable, current tax liabilities, current provisions and other current liabilities.

Year ended December 31,
2016
(adjusted
for the
2016
Divestment)
2017
2018
(audited) (unaudited) (audited) (audited)
(in millions of €)

Consolidated Cash Flow Information
Cash flows from ordinary operating activities:
Consolidated profit for the year before taxes ..........................................................................
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization expenses ......................................................................................
Allocation to/(reversal of) current provisions ..............................................................................
Allocation to/(reversal of) non-current provisions ......................................................................
Capital grants and other grants taken to income ..........................................................................
Finance income and expense .........................................................................................................
Net impairment loss on non-current assets ...................................................................................
Gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets ...............................................................................
Change in fair value of financial instruments ..............................................................................
Impairments and losses on disposal of non-current financial assets ..........................................
Gains/(Losses) on the loss of significant influence over consolidated investments ..................
Profit of companies accounted for using the equity method .......................................................
Impairments and losses due to loss of significant influence over companies accounted for
using the equity method ............................................................................................................
Operating profit before movements in working capital ........................................................
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables.......................................................................
(Increase)/decrease in inventories .................................................................................................
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables ...........................................................................
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities .............................................................................
Payments of provisions ..................................................................................................................
Unrealized exchange differences and other items........................................................................
Cash generated from operations................................................................................................
Corporate income tax paid.............................................................................................................
Net cash generated by/(used in) operating activities ..............................................................
Cash flows from investing activities:
Dividends received .......................................................................................................................
Proceeds from disposal of investments in:
Intangible assets .............................................................................................................................
Associated companies ....................................................................................................................
Group Companies, net of cash in consolidated companies .........................................................
Property, plant and equipment ......................................................................................................
Financial assets ...............................................................................................................................
Payments for investments in:
Associates .......................................................................................................................................
Group companies net of the cash of business combinations .......................................................
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281.5

234.2

146.9

81.4

181.9
31.2
47.7
(1.5)
52.4
10.4
1.5
(0.5)
0.3
(9.7)
(4.0)

170.5
31.2
47.7
(1.2)
52.1
10.4
1.6
(0.6)
0.3
(9.7)
(4.0)

174.7
7.7
15.0
(0.9)
87.8
56.5
0.9
2.0
—
0.2
(3.3)

195.0
16.8
14.5
(0.7)
64.2
17.5
0.4
—
—
—
(2.6)

7.0
598.2
(106.4)
(167.9)
223.8
24.1
(21.7)
(22.5)
527.5
(104.6)
423.0

7.0
539.5
(107.7)
(161.3)
218.8
29.1
(20.1)
(22.5)
475.8
(96.1)
379.7

—
487.5
(27.5)
(123.8)
10.6
8.4
(23.1)
13.4
345.5
(112.4)
233.1

—
386.5
114.8
(5.7)
(71.6)
(12.2)
(25.4)
(2.1)
384.2
(21.8)
362.4

2.0

2.0

1.0

0.8

2.9
28.9
22.7
4.1
0.8

2.5
28.9
22.7
3.5
0.8

3.2
—
—
10.0
3.6

15.6
—
—
2.1
2.5

(0.7)
(61.4)

(0.7)
(61.4)

—
(8.9)

(6.2)
(8.7)

Property, plant and equipment ......................................................................................................
Intangible assets .............................................................................................................................
Investment property .......................................................................................................................
Non-current financial assets ..........................................................................................................
Current financial assets ..................................................................................................................
Non-current assets held for sale ....................................................................................................
Net cash generated by/(used in) investing activities ...............................................................
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from/(payments for) equity instruments:
Acquisition of non-controlling interest’s shares ..........................................................................
Returns to non-controlling interests ..............................................................................................
Proceeds from/(payments for) financial liabilities:
Issue of bonds and syndicated loan, nominal ...............................................................................
Early redemption of bonds issued in 2014 ...................................................................................
Repayment of syndicated loan ......................................................................................................
Repayment of loan “RDI & CONVERGENCE” Project ............................................................
Proceeds from/(repayment of) other bank borrowings, net .........................................................
Proceeds from/(repayment of) other financial liabilities, net ......................................................
Other cash flows from financing activities:
Finance income and expense paid, net .........................................................................................
Dividends paid and payments on other equity instruments .........................................................
Net cash generated by/(used in) financing activities...............................................................
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations ...........
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations .......
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ...............................................................
Cash or cash equivalents at end of the year .............................................................................

(194.2)
(91.0)
—
—
(0.3)
—
(286.2)

(183.0)
(81.4)
—
—
(0.3)
—
(266.4)

(208.1)
(125.3)
—
—
(0.7)
—
(325.2)

(185.4)
(135.0)
—
(0.8)
(0.8)
—
(315.9)

—
(8.5)

—
(10.5)

—
(7.7)

(1.5)
(5.7)

—
—
(8.9)
(10.0)
(16.5)
(71.8)

—
—
(8.9)
(10.0)
(20.1)
(73.4)

400.0
(400.0)
(8.7)
(60.0)
(3.5)
(1.0)

400.0
(400.0)
(17.1)
—
38.3
(1.2)

(60.5)
(16.0)
(192.1)
(55.4)
—
361.9
306.5

(60.3)
(16.0)
(199.1)
(85.8)
30.4
361.9
306.5

(60.6)
(16.0)
(157.6)
(249.7)
277.1
306.5
333.9

(52.5)
(30.0)
(69.6)
(23.1)
—
333.9
310.8

As of and for the year ended December 31,
2016
2017
(adjusted
(restated
for the
under
2016
Divestment)
2017
IFRS 15)
(in millions of €, except percentages)

Other Financial Data:
Gross profit(1) ...........................................................................................................
Profit for the year from continuing operations (EBIT)(2) ......................................
EBITDA(2)................................................................................................................
Gross profit margin(3) ..............................................................................................
EBIT margin(3) .........................................................................................................
EBITDA margin(3) ...................................................................................................
Capital expenditures(4).............................................................................................
Cash and bank balances ..........................................................................................
Bank loans, debentures and other marketable securities(5) ...................................
Financial debt(5) .......................................................................................................
Net financial debt(5) .................................................................................................

(1)

2,042.8
338.7
520.7
37.9%
6.5%
9.9%
285.2
306.5
1,264.1
1,314.4
1,007.9

1,897.0
291.2
461.7
37.0%
5.8%
9.3%
264.4
306.5
1,264.1
1,314.4
1,007.9

1,945.0
291.0
465.7
37.3%
5.8%
9.2%
333.4
333.9
1,187.2
1,224.3
890.4

2018

1,945.0 1,926.0
291.0
160.9
465.7
355.9
35.3% 34.9%
5.4%
3.0%
8.6%
6.6%
333.4
320.5
333.9
310.8
1,187.2 1,214.0
1,224.3 1,250.9
890.4
940.1

“Gross profit” represents total operating income less supplies. The following table presents the calculation of gross profit:
Year ended December 31,
2016
2017
(adjusted
(restated
for the
under IFRS
2016
Divestment)
2017
15)
(in millions of €)
5,387.2
5,122.8
5,220.5
5,510.3

Total operating income ......................................................................
Adjusted for:
Supplies..................................................................................................
Gross profit ..........................................................................................

(3,344.4)
2,042.8
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(3,225.8)
1,897.0

(3,275.6)
1,945.0

(3,565.3)
1,945.0

2018
5,523.8
(3,597.8)
1,926.0

(2)

“EBITDA” represents profit for the year from continuing operations (“EBIT”) after adding back depreciation and amortization expenses. Our
management believes that EBITDA is meaningful for investors because it provides an analysis of our operating results, profitability and ability to
service debt and because EBITDA is used by our chief operating decision makers to track our business evolution, establish operational and
strategic targets and make important business decisions. EBITDA is also a measure commonly reported and widely used by analysts, investors
and other interested parties in our industry. To facilitate the analysis of our operations, EBITDA excludes depreciation and amortization expenses
from EBIT in order to eliminate the impact of general long-term capital investment. Although we are presenting EBITDA to enhance the
understanding of our historical operating performance, EBITDA should not be considered an alternative to EBIT as an indicator of our operating
performance, or an alternative to cash flows from ordinary operating activities as a measure of our liquidity. The following table presents the
calculation of EBITDA:

2016
Profit for the year from continuing operations (EBIT) .................................................................
Adjusted for:
Depreciation and amortization expenses ..............................................................................................
EBITDA .................................................................................................................................................

338.7
182.0
520.7

Year ended
December 31,
2016
(adjusted
for the
Divestment)
2017
(in millions of €)
291.2
291.0
170.5
461.7

174.7
465.7

2018
160.9
195.0
355.9

(3)

Gross profit margin is gross profit divided by total operating income. EBIT margin is EBIT divided by revenue. EBITDA margin is EBITDA
divided by revenue.

(4)

Capital expenditures consist of expenditures in property plant and equipment, plus expenditures in intangible assets. See “Operating and
Financial Review and Prospects—Key factors affecting our results of operations—Capital Expenditures”.

(5)

Bank loans, debentures and other marketable securities consists of current and non-current payables under finance leases, the 2024 Notes, the
2026 Notes, the Senior Facilities Agreement, as well as other loans, credit lines, invoice discount lines, interest payable and financial
remeasurements. Financial debt consists of bank loans, debentures and other marketable securities plus non-recourse factoring and other financial
liabilities. Net financial debt consists of financial debt less cash and bank balances. The following table presents a calculation of net financial
debt:

Bank loans, debentures and other marketable securities(a)...................................................................................
Other financial liabilities(b) ............................................................................................................................................
Financial debt ...............................................................................................................................................................
Cash and bank balances.................................................................................................................................................
Net financial debt .........................................................................................................................................................

As of the year ended
December 31,
2016
2017
2018
(in millions of €)
1,258.5
1,187.2
1,214.0
55.9
37.1
36.9
1,314.4
1,224.3
1,250.9
(306.5)
(333.9)
(310.8)
1,007.9
890.4
940.1

(a)

Bank loans, debentures and marketable securities includes both current and non-current liabilities.

(b)

Other financial liabilities primarily include loans granted to us, principally by Spanish public bodies, to finance R&D projects and improve
competitiveness, including financial remeasurment in relation to these loans, and includes both current and non-current portions. For the purpose
of covenant calculations, only interest bearing soft loans are considered financial debt. Interest bearing soft loans amounted to €5.5 million as of
December 31, 2016, €3.8 million as of December 31, 2017 and €4.2 million as of December 31, 2018.

Summary Segmental Information of the Company
Before the acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business, we organized our activities around four business segments:
(i) overhead systems, (ii) doors and interior plastics, (iii) seating and (iv) lighting. As part of the integration of the Magna
Interiors Business, on August 31, 2015, we added a new cockpits and interior segment (which included all of Magna Interior
Business’ products, including primarily cockpits, soft trim and hard trim) to our reporting structure. In 2016, we carried out a
series of additional business realignments within our different segments aimed at improving the integration of our businesses
and materializing synergies from the acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business. On February 6, 2017, the Company and
certain of the Company’s affiliates entered into a sale and purchase agreement with Lear Corporation, a leading global
supplier of automotive seating and electrical systems, and certain of its affiliates, for the sale of our affiliates in the Seating
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segment. The Seating business was sold on April 28, 2017. See “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Segment
Reporting”.
From January 1, 2017, as part of a global analysis of our tax structure, we have changed the system by which we
allocate overheads of the corporate unit, so that such overhead and structural costs and other structural costs are no longer
allocated to the business segments and are instead allocated within “other”. For further information with respect to the
reallocation of costs, please refer to Note 2-d of our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December
31, 2017. See “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Segment Reporting”.
The following table shows selected financial information on a segmental basis for the periods indicated.

2016

Year ended December 31,
2016 (adjusted for
2017
the Divestment
(restated
and Allocation)
2017
IFRS 15)
(in millions of €, except percentages)

2018

Headliners
Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

2,084.2
(1,881.6)
202.6
(46.6)
156.0

2,144.7
(1,913.2)
231.5
(46.2)
185.4

2,043.6
(1,853.0)
190.6
(45.2)
145.5

2,128.4
(1,937.8)
190.6
(45.2)
145.5

2,060.5
(1,957.3)
103.2
(50.7)
52.5

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

9.7%

10.8%

9.3%

9.0%

5.0%

Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

1,461.5
(1,269.4)
192.1
(49.3)
142.8

1,467.9
(1,242.5)
225.4
(49.3)
176.1

1,632.4
(1,431.3)
201.1
(52.2)
148.9

1,828.3
(1,627.1)
201.1
(52.2)
148.9

1,886.5
(1,682.9)
203.6
(59.3)
144.3

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

13.1%

15.4%

12.3%

11.0%

10.8%

Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

272.4
(224.2)
48.2
(14.0)
34.1

272.4
(219.2)
53.2
(14.1)
39.1

318.3
(259.9)
58.5
(16.6)
41.8

324.5
(266.0)
58.5
(16.6)
41.8

349.1
(287.1)
62.0
(18.7)
43.3

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

17.7%

19.5%

18.4%

18.0%

17.8%

Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

1,095.7
(1,052.1)
43.6
(27.7)
15.9

1,095.7
(1,020.1)
75.6
(27.7)
47.9

1,039.8
(962.9)
76.9
(28.4)
48.5

1,107.8
(1,030.9)
76.9
(28.4)
48.5

1,125.5
(1,036.2)
89.3
(36.1)
53.2

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

4.0%

6.9%

7.4%

6.9%

7.9%

Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

331.9
(276.7)
55.2
(11.1)
44.1

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

16.6%

n.a.

—%

—%

—%

1.7
(22.6)
(20.9)
(33.3)
(54.2)

1.8
(125.8)
(124.0)
(33.3)
(157.3)

2.5
(63.9)
(61.4)
(32.3)
(93.7)

2.5
(63.9)
(61.4)
(32.3)
(93.7)

3.0
(105.2)
(102.1)
(30.2)
(132.3)

Doors

Lighting

Cockpits

Seating(1)

Other(2)
Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

(1)

The seating business has been sold pursuant to the Divestment. See “Operating and Financial Review and Prospects—Segment Reporting”.

(2)

Other is not a primary business segment and its operations support our primary business segments. It is included herein for the purposes of
reconciliation and we do not consider it material. Other includes a wide range of results generated mainly by Grupo Antolín-Ingeniería, S.A.U.,
TCOs and consolidated pricing adjustments as well as overhead and structural costs of the Group pursuant to the Allocation.
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RISK FACTORS
The automobile industry is cyclical and cyclical downturns in our business segments negatively impact our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
The volume of automotive production and the level of new vehicle purchases regionally and worldwide are cyclical
and have fluctuated, sometimes significantly from year-to-year. These fluctuations are caused by such factors as general
economic conditions, interest rates, consumer confidence, consumer preferences (including the effects of the increase of the
use of shared cars), patterns of consumer spending, fuel costs and the automobile replacement cycle, and such fluctuations
give rise to changes in demand for our products and may have a significant adverse impact on our results of operations. In
addition, OEM customers generally do not commit to purchasing minimum quantities from their suppliers. As our business
has certain fixed costs that must be met regardless of demand for our products, cyclical downturns can further affect our
results of operations.
The highly cyclical and fluctuating nature of the automotive industry presents a risk that is outside our control and
that cannot be accurately predicted. Moreover, a number of factors that we cannot predict can and have impacted cyclicality
in the past. Decreases in demand for automobiles generally, or in the demand for automobiles incorporating our products in
particular, could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We are susceptible to economic trends, and deterioration of economic conditions could adversely impact our business and
exacerbate the difficulties experienced by our customers and suppliers in obtaining financing.
A significant economic downturn could have a material adverse effect on our business. Continued concerns about
the systemic impact of a potential long-term and wide-spread recession, energy costs (including the recent volatility in oil
prices), strong currency fluctuations, the availability and cost of credit, diminished business and consumer confidence and
increased persistent unemployment in Europe have contributed to increased market volatility and diminished expectations for
western and emerging economies, including in the jurisdictions in which we operate.
In addition, any increased financial instability may lead to longer-term disruptions in the credit markets, which could
impact our customers’ ability to obtain financing for their businesses at reasonable prices, as well as impact their customers
when seeking financing for automobile purchases. Our OEM customers typically require significant financing for their
respective businesses. In addition, our OEM customers typically have related finance companies that provide financing to
their dealers and customers. These finance companies have historically been active participants in the securitization markets,
which has suffered and may suffer additional disruptions should economic conditions deteriorate in the future. Our suppliers,
as well as the other suppliers to our customers, may face similar difficulties in obtaining financing for their businesses. If
capital is not available to our customers and suppliers, or if its cost is prohibitively high, their businesses would be negatively
impacted, which could result in their restructuring or even reorganization/liquidation under applicable bankruptcy laws. Any
such negative impact, in turn, could materially and negatively affect us either through the loss of revenues to any of our
customers so affected, or due to our inability to meet our commitments without excess expense resulting from disruptions in
supply caused by the suppliers so affected. Financial difficulties experienced by any major customer could have a material
adverse impact on us if such customer were unable to pay for the products we provide, materially reduced its capital
expenditure on, and resulting demand for, new product lines, or we otherwise experienced a loss of, or material reduction in,
business from such customer. As a result of such difficulties, we could experience lost revenues, significant write-offs of
accounts receivable, significant impairment charges or additional restructurings beyond the steps we have taken to date.
Furthermore, increased financial instability in credit and other financial markets and deterioration of Spanish and/or
global economic conditions could, among other things:


make it more difficult or costly for us to obtain financing for our operations or investments or to refinance our
debt in the future,



cause our lenders to depart from prior credit industry practice and make more difficult or expensive the
granting of any technical or other waivers under our debt facilities, to the extent we may seek them in the
future, and



negatively impact global demand for our products, which could result in a reduction of our sales, operating
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income and cash flows.
Continuing uncertainties and challenging political conditions in Spain, the European economy and the euro could
intensify the risks faced by the automotive industry and our business, which could have a material adverse effect on our
operations, financial condition and profitability.
Despite our global presence, the EU as a whole is an important market for our business, and adverse economic
effects within the EU could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Continuing or renewed instability in the European markets, the stability of the euro or the European Union and the
uncertainty derived from the refugee crisis has recently contributed to weak European economic performance. Future
developments may continue to be dependent upon a number of political and economic factors, including the effectiveness of
measures by the European Central Bank and the European Commission to address debt burdens of certain countries in
Europe and the continued stability of the Eurozone.
Concerns persist regarding the debt burden of certain European countries and their ability to meet future financial
obligations, the overall stability of the euro and the suitability of the euro as a single currency given the diverse economic and
political circumstances in individual member states of the Eurozone. These concerns could lead to the exit of one or more
countries from the Eurozone and the reintroduction of national currencies in the affected countries.
The UK’s decision to leave the EU has triggered a process of negotiation which will determine the future terms of
the UK’s relationship with the EU (see “—Uncertainty regarding Brexit and the outcome of future arrangements between the
EU and the UK could have a material adverse impact on us”) and the results of elections in other European countries could
lead to the exit of one or more countries from the Eurozone and the reintroduction of national currencies certain countries.
These and other potential developments, or market perceptions concerning these and related issues, could undermine
confidence in the overall stability of the EU, have adverse consequences for us with respect to our overall performance in the
EU and, as a result, our business, financial condition, results of operation and cash flow may be materially affected.
The reintroduction of national currencies in one or more countries that use the euro could lead to the disruption of
financial markets and could have a material adverse impact on our operations. Furthermore, any such redenomination event
would likely be accompanied by significant economic dislocation, particularly within the Eurozone countries, which in turn
could have an adverse impact on demand for our services and, accordingly, on our revenue and cash flows. Moreover, any
changes from euro to non-euro currencies within the countries in which we operate may impact our billing and other financial
systems. In light of the significant exposure that we have to the euro through our euro-denominated cash balances and cash
flows, a redenomination event could have a material adverse impact on our cash flows, financial condition and results of
operations.
Despite our global presence, Spain is still a significant market for our business, representing 4.9% of our revenue for
the year ended December 31, 2018. While Spain’s economy has been gradually improving since 2013, Spain experienced a
significant economic downturn between 2008 and 2012 and the economy still suffers from relatively high levels of debt and
unemployment. The unemployment rate was reported to be approximately 14.5% in December 2018. Gross domestic product
contracted in 2012 and 2013 before gradually recovering between 2014 and 2018. If Spain recovered at a slower pace than in
recent years or were to experience another significant downturn, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be adversely affected. Furthermore, the political environment in Spain has remained unstable. Following a confidence
vote in Parliament against the former central government in 2018, a new government was formed. However, this change in
leadership has been short lived, as the new government has been forced to call for a general election in April. Behind this
uncertainty still remains the tensions in Catalonia relating to the sovereignty of the region. In this context, the economic
prospects for Spain have been revised down, in line with downward revisions across other European Union countries.
Finally, institutions in the European Union are facing significant challenges derived from recent crises in the Middle
East, including the Syrian refugee crisis as a result of the Syrian civil war which began in 2011. While several EU member
states have made attempts to address the humanitarian crisis, a common approach by all EU member states has not been yet
achieved, leading to political uncertainty on this matter in the future.
Instability in the European economy, the euro or Spain could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

8

Uncertainty regarding Brexit and the outcome of future arrangements between the EU and the UK could have a material
adverse impact on us.
In a non-binding referendum on the UK’s membership in the EU conducted in June 23, 2016, a majority of those
who voted approved the UK’s withdrawal from the EU. Additionally, on March 29, 2017, the Prime Minister of the United
Kingdom officially triggered Article 50 of the Treaty of Lisbon, signalling the start of a two-year period in which the United
Kingdom will negotiate the terms of withdrawal (along with the future terms of the UK’s relationship with the EU) from the
European Union (“Brexit”). While it is difficult to predict the effect of Brexit on the European and global economy,
uncertainty regarding new or modified arrangements between the United Kingdom and the European Union could have a
material adverse effect on business activity (including the buying behavior of commercial and individual customers), the
political stability and economic conditions in the United Kingdom, the European Union and elsewhere. Furthermore, lack of
clarity about future UK laws and regulations, as the UK determines which EU laws and regulations to replace or replicate in
the event of a withdrawal, may increase costs associated with operating in either or both of the UK and Europe.
Any of these developments, or the perception that any of these developments are likely to occur, could have a
material adverse effect on economic growth or business activity in the UK, the Eurozone, or the EU, and could result in the
relocation of businesses, cause business interruptions, lead to economic recession or depression, and impact the stability of
the financial markets, availability of credit, political systems or financial institutions and the financial and monetary system.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, 10.2% of our revenues were generated in the UK, where we operate eleven plants and
one TCO, primarily within the Doors and Cockpits segments. Consequently, these developments could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial position, liquidity and results of operations.
Significant developments stemming from the recent US presidential election could have a material adverse effect on us.
On January 20, 2017, Donald J. Trump was inaugurated as the president of the United States. The Trump
administration has called for substantial change to fiscal and tax policies, international agreements, regulatory oversight of
businesses and greater restrictions on free trade, including significant increases on tariffs on goods imported into the US,
particularly from China and Mexico (one of our key markets). Proposals and legislations espoused and implented by President
Trump may result in changes to social, political, regulatory and economic conditions in the US or in laws and policies affecting
the development and investment in countries where we currently conduct business. We cannot assure you as to the ultimate
content, timing, or effect of changes. Given that, in the year ended December 31, 2018, 36.0% of our revenue was attributable
to North America and 1.7% was attributable to Mercosur, with 26.7% of our Mexican sales being exported from Mexico directly
into the US, any such changes could have an impact on us. However, we cannot currently quantify or predict with any certainty
the likely impact of such changes on our business model, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.
We are dependent on large customers for current and future revenues. The loss of any of these customers or changes in
the market share by these customers could have a material adverse impact on us.
Although we supply our products to several of the leading automobile manufacturers, as is common in our industry
we depend on certain large value customers for a significant proportion of our revenues. For example, for the year ended
December 31, 2018, Volkswagen Group, Fiat-Chrysler, Ford, General Motors and Tata Motors—Jaguar Land Rover,
represented 18.6%, 12.8%, 11.2%, 8.7% and 8.5% of our revenue of our revenue, respectively. The loss of all or a substantial
portion of our sales to any of our large volume customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows by reducing cash flows and by limiting our ability to spread our fixed costs
over a larger revenue base. We may make fewer sales to these customers for a variety of reasons, including, but not limited
to:


loss of awarded business;



reduced or delayed customer requirements;



OEMs’ insourcing business they have traditionally outsourced to us;



strikes or other work stoppages affecting production by our customers;



bankruptcy or insolvency of a customer; or



reduced demand for our customers’ products.
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See also “—We are susceptible to economic trends, and deterioration of economic conditions could adversely
impact our business and exacerbate the difficulties experienced by our customers and suppliers in obtaining financing”.
Furthermore, our customers may consolidate or merge from time to time. Consolidation among our customers could
result in an increasingly concentrated client base of large customers which could, among others, increase the bargaining
power of our current and future customers and impact the terms of the services that we provide. Mergers of our customers
with entities that are not our customers could also materially impact our financial position and results of operations. Any
significant changes in the ownership or operation of our customers, as a result of consolidation, merger or otherwise, could
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition or results of operations.
Our inability to realize revenues represented by our awarded business or termination or non-renewal of production
purchase orders by our customers could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.
The realization of future revenues from awarded business is inherently subject to a number of important risks and
uncertainties, including the number of vehicles that our customers will actually produce and the timing of that production.
Typically the terms and conditions of the agreements with our customers do not include a commitment regarding
minimum volumes of purchases from us. In addition, such contracts typically provide that customers have the contractual
right to unilaterally terminate our contracts with them with no notice or limited notice. If such contracts are terminated by our
customers, our ability to obtain compensation from our customers for such termination is generally limited to the direct
out-of-pocket costs that we incurred for materials and work-in-progress and in certain instances undepreciated capital
expenditures and tooling. Further, there is no guarantee that our customers will renew their purchase orders with us. We
cannot assure you that our results of operations will not be materially adversely impacted in the future if we are unable to
realize revenues from our awarded business, if our customers cancel awarded business or if our customers fail to renew their
contracts with us.
Disruptions in the automotive supply chain could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.
The automotive supply chain is subject to disruptions because we, along with our customers and suppliers, attempt
to maintain low inventory levels. In addition, our plants are typically located in close proximity to our customers.
Disruptions could be caused by a multitude of potential problems, such as closures of one of our or our suppliers’
plants or critical manufacturing lines due to strikes, mechanical breakdowns, electrical outages, fires, explosions or political
upheaval, as well as logistical complications due to weather, earthquakes, other natural or nuclear disasters, mechanical
failures, delayed customs processing and more.
Additionally, if we are the cause for a customer being forced to halt production, the customer may seek to recoup all
of its losses and expenses from us. Any disruptions affecting us or caused by us could have a material adverse impact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
The inability for us, our customers or our suppliers to obtain and maintain sufficient capital financing, including working
capital lines, and credit insurance may adversely affect our, our customers’ and our suppliers’ liquidity and financial
condition.
Our working capital requirements can vary significantly, depending in part on the level, variability and timing of our
customers’ worldwide vehicle production and the payment terms with our customers and suppliers. Our liquidity could also
be adversely impacted if our suppliers were to suspend normal trade credit terms and require payment in advance or payment
on delivery. If our available cash flows from operations are not sufficient to fund our ongoing cash needs, we would be
required to look to our cash balances and availability for borrowings under our credit facilities to satisfy those needs, as well
as potential sources of additional capital, which may not be available on satisfactory terms and in adequate amounts, if at all.
There can be no assurance that we, our customers and our suppliers will continue to have such ability. This may
increase the risk that we cannot produce our products or will have to pay higher prices for our inputs. These higher prices
may not be recovered in our selling prices.
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Our suppliers often seek to obtain credit insurance based on the strength of the financial condition of our subsidiary
with the payment obligation, which may be less robust than our consolidated financial condition. If we were to experience
liquidity issues, our suppliers may not be able to obtain credit insurance and in turn would likely not be able to offer us
payment terms that we have historically received. Our failure to receive such terms from our suppliers could have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity.
We are subject to fluctuations in the prices of materials.
Our operating income and net income can be adversely affected by changes in the prices of the materials we use,
notably textile fabrics, plastic injection grain, petroleum-based resins and certain metals. To the extent that our agreements
with suppliers do not protect us from increases in the cost of materials or that we cannot pass through increases in the costs of
our materials to our customers, we are exposed to risks related to unfavorable fluctuations in commodity prices. We do not
use derivatives to hedge our purchases of materials or energy. If commodity prices were to rise steeply, we cannot guarantee
that we would be able to pass on all such price increases to our customers, which could have an unfavorable impact on our
sales, results and overall financial position.
We may have difficulty competing favorably in the highly competitive automotive parts industry generally and in certain
product or geographic areas specifically.
The automotive parts industry is highly competitive. We face significant competition within each of our major
product areas, including from new competitors entering the markets that we serve, and OEMs that may seek to integrate
vertically. The principal competitive factors include price, technology, quality, global presence, service, product
performance, design and engineering capabilities, new product innovation and timely delivery. We cannot assure you that we
will be able to continue to compete favorably in these competitive markets or that increased competition will not have a
material adverse effect on our business by reducing our ability to maintain sales and profit margins.
Furthermore, the failure to obtain new business projects on new models or to retain or increase business projects on
redesigned existing models, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In
addition, it may be difficult in the short-term for us to obtain new revenues to replace any unexpected decline in the sale of
existing products.
Shifts in market shares among vehicles or vehicle segments or shifts away from vehicles in which we have significant
content could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.
While we supply internal components for a wide variety of vehicles produced globally, we do not supply
components for all vehicles produced, nor is the number or value of components evenly distributed among the vehicles for
which we do supply components. Shifts in market shares among vehicles or vehicle segments, particularly shifts away from
vehicles on which we have significant content and shifts away from vehicle segments in which our sales may be more heavily
concentrated, could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.
Our inability to offset price concessions or additional costs from our customers could have an adverse effect on our
profitability.
We face ongoing pricing pressure, as well as pressure to absorb costs related to product design and engineering, as
well as other items previously paid for directly by OEMs, such as tooling. Typically, in line with our industry practice, our
customers benefit from price reductions during the life cycle of a contract. We expect to offset these price concessions by
achieving production efficiencies; however, we cannot guarantee that we will do so. If we fail to achieve production
efficiencies to fully offset price concessions or do not otherwise offset such price concessions, our profitability and results of
operations would be adversely affected.
We may be forced to downsize, close or sell some of our operations which could have an adverse effect on our
profitability.
The automotive industry in some of our markets (most notably Western Europe) continues to experience significant
overcapacity, elevated levels of vehicle inventory, reduced consumer demand for vehicles and depressed production volumes
and sales levels. In response to these conditions, we may be forced to restructure our operations, including through plant
closures. If we are forced to close manufacturing locations because of loss of business or consolidation of manufacturing
facilities, the employee severance, asset retirement and other costs, including reimbursement costs relating to public
subsidies, to close these facilities may be significant. In certain locations that are subject to leases, we may continue to incur
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material costs consistent with the initial lease terms. We continually attempt to align production capacity with demand;
therefore, we cannot assure you that additional plants will not have to be closed.
The construction and maintenance of our facilities entails certain risks.
The construction and maintenance of our facilities entails certain difficulties, both from a technical perspective as
well as in terms of the timing of the various construction phases. A number of problems may arise in relation to our facilities,
such as interruptions or delays due to failed deliveries by suppliers or manufacturers, problems with connecting to the utilities
networks, construction faults, problems linked to the operation of equipment, adverse weather conditions, unexpected delays
in obtaining or sourcing permits and authorizations, or longer-than-expected periods for technical adjustments. The additional
costs that may arise in the maintenance of facilities may adversely affect our business operations, financial position and
operational results.
Mechanical failure, equipment shutdowns and technological breakdown could adversely affect our business.
We are subject to mechanical failure and equipment shutdowns which may be beyond our control, particularly the
failure of the airbags we incorporate into our cockpit modules. If a section of one of our production sites is damaged or shuts
down, it could cause a mechanical failure or equipment shutdown in other components of such production site. If such events
occur, our production capacity may be materially and adversely impacted. In the event that we are forced to shut down any of
our production sites for a significant period of time, it would have a material adverse effect on our business operations,
financial position and operational results.
Interruptions in the supply of utilities to our facilities may negatively affect our operations.
We are reliant upon a continuous and uninterrupted supply of electricity, gas and water to our production facilities to
ensure the continued operation of our production lines and supply chain. An interruption to the supply of any of these
utilities, even in the short-term, including but not limited to a trip in the electricity grid, a gas leak or issues with local water
mains, could cause equipment shutdowns, mechanical failures and/or damage to our facilities and equipment which could
materially and adversely impact our business operations, financial position and operational results.
Our ongoing operations may require increased capital expenditure at certain stages that will consume cash from our
operations and borrowings.
In order to maintain our product lines for existing products, from time to time, we are required to make certain
operational and maintenance related capital expenditure on our facilities. Our capital expenditures for the year ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 amounted to €320.4 million, €333.4 million and €285.2 million, respectively. Our ability
to undertake such operational and maintenance measures largely depends on our cash flow from our operations and access to
capital. We intend to continue to fund our cash needs through cash flow from operations. However, there may be unforeseen
capital expenditure needs for which we may not have adequate capital. The timing of capital expenditures also may cause
fluctuations in our operational results.
Our profitability may be adversely affected by program launch difficulties.
From time to time we are awarded new business by our customers. The launch of new programs is a complex
process, the success of which depends on a wide range of factors, including the production readiness of our and our suppliers’
manufacturing facilities and manufacturing processes, as well as factors related to tooling, equipment, employees, initial
product quality and other factors. Our failure to successfully launch material new programs could have an adverse effect on
our profitability.
We may not be able to grow our business with APAC-based automotive customers, or grow our business enough with such
customers to offset slower growth with our largest customers, which could have an adverse effect on our profitability.
In light of the amount of business we currently have with our largest customers in certain regions, our opportunities
for incremental growth with these customers may be limited. While we have a substantial presence in APAC (especially in
China and South Korea), the amount of business we have with APAC-based OEMs, including Toyota, Hyundai, Kia and
Honda, generally lags that of our largest customers which are based in Europe (Ford, Volkswagen Group and
Renault-Nissan) due in part to the existing relationships between such APAC-based OEMs and their preferred suppliers.
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There is no certainty that we can achieve growth with APAC-based OEMs, or that any such growth will offset slower growth
we may experience with our largest customers.
There are integration and consolidation risks associated with potential future acquisitions and divestitures. Future
acquisitions and divestments may result in significant transaction expenses, unexpected liabilities and a negative impact
on operations and/or cash flows. Future acquisitions may result in risks associated with entering new markets, and we
may be unable to profitably operate any new businesses acquired.
We, at Grupo Antolin, have made strategic acquisitions in the past. For example, in 2015 we acquired the Magna
Interiors Business from Magna for $597.2 million (approximately €535.2 million). The integration of the Magna Interiors
Business within the Group was fully implement in the 2018 calendar year. We have also made strategic divestments in the
past, including the Divestment for €285.6 million on an enterprise value offer and on a debt-free and cash-free basis. If we do
not realize the expected benefits or synergies from the Divestment, it could adversely affect our financial condition and
results of operations. The Divestment entails risks, including the exposure to potential post-closing claims for
indemnification and adjustments to the purchase price. Pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase agreement governing
the Divestment, we are required to indemnify the buyer against certain liabilities and obligations, and we may also become
subject to litigation with the buyer or third-party claims arising out of the divestiture. Any of these risks could demand
significant attention from our management and have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows.
In the future we may make further strategic acquisitions of suitable acquisition candidates in markets where we
currently operate as well as in markets in which we have not previously operated and may also make additional strategic
divestitures, where this is in line with our strategy. However, we may not be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates in
the future, or may not be able to finance such acquisitions on favorable terms. We may lack sufficient management, financial
and other resources to successfully integrate future acquisitions or to ensure that such future acquisitions will perform as
planned or prove to be beneficial to our operations. We may not be offered suitable terms, including price, for divestitures we
wish to make. Acquisitions and divestitures in general involve numerous other risks, including the diversion of our
management’s attention from other business concerns, undisclosed risks impacting the target and potential adverse effects on
existing business relationships with current customers and suppliers. In addition, any acquisitions or divestitures could impact
our financial position or cash flow. In certain transactions, our acquisition analysis includes assumptions regarding the
consolidation of operations and improved operating cost structures for the combined operations. Such synergies or benefits
may not be achieved on the assumed time schedule or in the assumed amount, if at all. Any future acquisitions may result in
significant transaction expenses, unexpected liabilities and risks associated with entering new markets in addition to the
integration and consolidation risks. As a result of our acquisitions or divestments, we may assume continuing obligations,
deferred payments and liabilities. Any past or future acquisitions may result in exposure to third parties for liabilities, such as
liability for faulty work done by the acquired business and liability of the acquired business or assets that may or may not be
adequately covered by insurance or by indemnification, if any, from the former owners of the acquired business or assets. In
connection with divestitures, we may remain exposed to the buyer for tax, environmental or other liabilities of the Divested
Business. The occurrence of any of these liabilities could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations.
We do not control certain of our joint ventures.
We have a number of strategic partnerships and joint ventures and alliances. See “Business—Joint Ventures”. There
can be no assurance that the arrangements will be successful and/or achieve their planned objectives. The performance of all
such operations in which we do not have a controlling interest will depend on the financial and strategic support of the other
shareholders. Such other shareholders may make ill-informed or inadequate management decisions, or may fail to supply or
be unwilling to supply the required operational, strategic and financial resources, which could materially adversely affect
these operations. If any of our strategic partners were to encounter financial difficulties, change their business strategies or no
longer be willing to participate in these strategic partnerships, joint ventures and alliances, our business, financial condition
and results of operations could be materially adversely affected.
Moreover, in some of these businesses, we may not have the power to control the payment of dividends or other
distributions, so even if the business is performing well, we may not be able to receive payment of our share of any profits.
Finally, there could be circumstances in which we may wish or be required to acquire the ownership interests of our partners,
and there can be no assurance that we will have access to the funds necessary to do so, on commercially reasonably terms or
at all.
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The value of our deferred tax assets could become impaired, which could materially and adversely affect our operating
results.
As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately €85.5 million in deferred tax assets. The remaining deferred tax
assets include net operating loss carry forwards that can be used to offset taxable income in future periods and reduce income
taxes payable in those future periods. Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carry forwards may be limited and delayed.
We periodically determine the probability of the realization of deferred tax assets, using significant judgments and estimates
with respect to, among other things, historical operating results and expectations of future earnings. If we determine in the
future that there is not sufficient evidence to support the valuation of these assets, due to the factors described above or other
factors, we may be required to adjust the valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets. Such a reduction could result
in material non-cash expenses in the period in which the valuation allowance is adjusted and could have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations. In addition, adverse changes in the underlying profitability and financial outlook of our
operations in several foreign jurisdictions could lead to changes in our valuation allowances against deferred tax assets and
other tax accruals that could adversely affect our financial results. Finally, the Company and some of its Spanish subsidiaries
and holding companies form a tax group subject to the special tax consolidation regime for corporate income tax purposes. If,
for whatever reason, the consolidated tax regime were forfeited or the tax group extinguished, the right to offset the tax loss
carry forwards and use the tax credits of the tax group would be assigned to the companies that generated them. This could
limit the ability of the companies to effectively make use of these deferred tax assets and that could adversely affect our
financial results.
Our profitability may be materially adversely affected by our inability to utilize tax losses or because of tax exposures we
face.
We have incurred losses in some countries which we may not be able to fully or partially offset against income we
have earned in those countries. In some cases, we may not be able to utilize these losses at all if we cannot generate profits in
those countries or if we have ceased conducting business in those countries altogether. Our inability to utilize material tax
losses could materially adversely affect our profitability. At any given time, we may face other tax exposures arising out of
changes in tax laws, tax reassessments or otherwise. To the extent we cannot implement measures to offset these exposures,
they may have a material adverse effect on our profitability.
Changes in our mix of earnings between jurisdictions with lower tax rates and those with higher tax rates could have a
material adverse effect on our profitability.
Our effective tax rate varies in each country in which we conduct business. Changes in our mix of earnings between
jurisdictions with lower tax rates and those with higher tax rates could have a material adverse effect on our profitability.
We are subject to taxation which is complex and often requires us to make subjective determinations.
We are subject to many different forms of taxation in multiple jurisdictions including but not limited to income tax,
value added tax, social security and other payroll related taxes. Tax law and administration in each of these jurisdictions is
complex and often requires us to make subjective determinations. The various tax authorities may not agree with the
determinations that are made by us with respect to the application of tax law. Such disagreements could result in lengthy
legal disputes and, ultimately, in the payment of substantial amounts of tax, interest and penalties, which could have a
material effect on our results of operations. For example, we are subject to several administrative and judicial proceedings in
Brazil, of which four judicial proceedings are due to the dispute over certain VAT deductions that we had taken under the
exemption for certain manufacturers that applied to us under Brazilian tax law. As of December 31, 2018, we estimate that
the aggregate potential liability under these administrative and judicial proceedings in Brazil amounts to approximately
€14.9 million. Additionally, we could be adversely affected by changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations in various
jurisdictions.
We have a material amount of goodwill, which, if it becomes impaired, would result in a reduction in our net income and
equity.
Goodwill, primarily derived from our acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business, represents the excess of the cost
of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired. IFRS-EU requires that goodwill be periodically evaluated for
impairment based on the fair value of the reporting unit. Declines in our profitability or the value of comparable companies
may impact the fair value of our reporting units, which could result in a write-down of goodwill and a reduction in net
income. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately €118.7 million of goodwill on our consolidated balance sheet that
could be subject to impairment. Any new businesses acquired in the future could result in recognition of additional goodwill,
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which could be significant. We could also be required to recognize additional impairments in the future and such an
impairment charge could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations in the period of
recognition.
We are subject to risks related to our international operations.
Our international operations include manufacturing facilities in, among other locations, Brazil, China, India,
Mexico, Russia and Thailand, and we sell our products in each of these areas. Pursuant to the acquisition of the Magna
Interiors Business, we now have additional manufacturing facilities in, among others, Austria, Czech Republic, Hungary,
South Korea and Slovakia. For the year ended December 31, 2018 approximately 25.6% of our revenues were derived from
operations in growth markets outside of Europe, Canada and the United States. International operations are subject to various
risks that could have a material adverse effect on those operations and our business as a whole, including but not limited to:


exposure to local economic and social conditions, including logistical and communication challenges;



exposure to local political conditions, including political disputes, coups, the risk of seizure of assets by a
foreign government, increased risk of fraud and political corruption, terrorism, acts of war or similar events;



exposure to local public health issues and the resultant impact on economic and political conditions;



exposure to potentially undeveloped legal systems which make it difficult to enforce contractual rights and to
potentially adverse changes in laws and regulatory practices;



exposure to local tax requirements and obligations;



foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations and currency controls;



greater risk of uncontrollable accounts and longer collection cycles;



the risk of government sponsored competition;



controls on the repatriation of cash, including the imposition or increase of withholding and other taxes on
remittances and other payments by foreign subsidiaries; and



export and import restrictions.

We are exposed to risks in relation to compliance with anti-corruption laws and regulations and economic sanction
programs.
Our international operations require us to comply with the laws and regulations of various jurisdictions. In
particular, our international operations are subject to anti-corruption laws and regulations, such as the US Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act of 1977 and the United Kingdom Bribery Act of 2010, and economic sanction programs, including those
administered by the UN, EU and Office of Foreign Asset Control in the United States. These laws prohibit improper business
conduct and restrict us from dealing with certain sanctioned countries.
As a result of our international operations we are exposed to the risk of violating anti-corruption laws and sanctions
regulations applicable in those countries where we operate. Some of the countries in which we operate lack as developed a
legal system as other locations and are perceived to have high levels of corruption. Our continued geographical
diversification, including in emerging economies, development of joint venture relationships worldwide and our employment
of local agents in the countries in which we operate increases the risk of violations of anti-corruption laws, sanctions or
similar laws. Violations of anti-corruption laws and sanctions regulations are punishable by civil penalties, including fines,
denial of export privileges, injunctions, asset seizures, debarment from government contracts (and termination of existing
contracts) and revocations or restrictions of licenses, as well as criminal fines and imprisonment. In addition, any major
violations could have a significant impact on our reputation and consequently on our ability to win future business.
We have policies and procedures designed to assist our compliance with applicable laws and regulations including
training of our employees to comply with such laws and regulations. Our Code of Conduct, approved in June 2016 and which
is translated in all languages in which our Group operates, aims at educating our employees in such policies and principles. In
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2019 we plan to launch an updated version of our Code of Conduct. With the goal of continuously strengthening our
Corporate Governance model, we have created the role of Chief Ethics & Compliance Officer (CECO) in April 2017, in
order to assist, promote and develop a culture of global compliance within the core of our organization and define a
regulatory compliance system as a guarantee for the effective support of integrity within the organization. While we have a
strong culture of compliance and we believe we have adequate systems of control, in 2018 we implemented globally the
SAP-GRC (Risk Management Module) in order to ensure that the compliance risks are identified, analyzed and appraised.
We seek to continuously improve our system of internal controls, to remedy any weaknesses that are identified through
appropriate corrective action depending on the circumstances, including additional training, improvement of internal controls
and oversight, and deployment of additional resources and to take appropriate action in case of any breach of our rules and
procedures which might include disciplinary measures, suspensions of employees and ultimately termination of such
employees. There can be no assurance, however, that our policies and procedures will be followed at all times or will
effectively detect and prevent violations of the applicable laws by one or more of our employees, consultants, agents or
partners and, as a result, we could be subject to penalties and material adverse consequences on our business, financial
condition or results of operations if they failed to prevent any such violations.
Foreign exchange rate fluctuations could cause a decline in our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows,
and our hedging and other derivative arrangements may not effectively or sufficiently offset the negative impact of foreign
exchange rate fluctuations.
Although our reporting currency is the euro, a portion of our sales and operating costs are realized in other
currencies, such as the US dollar, the Brazilian real, the Chinese renminbi, the Indian rupee, the Mexican peso, the Czech
crown, the Russian ruble, the Turkish lira or the Hungarian forint. Such non-euro currencies are recorded at the exchange
rates prevailing on the dates of the operations. Gains or losses on transactions denominated in foreign currencies are taken to
the consolidated income statement as and when they occur.
We are subject to risk if the foreign currency in which our costs are paid appreciates against the currency in which
we generate revenues because the appreciation effectively increases our cost in that country. The financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of some of our operating entities are reported in foreign currencies and then translated into euro
at the applicable foreign exchange rate for inclusion in our consolidated financial statements. As a result, appreciation of the
euro against these foreign currencies generally will have a negative impact on our reported sales and profits while
depreciation of the euro against these foreign currencies will generally have a positive effect on reported revenues and profits.
Significant long-term fluctuations in relative currency values, in particular a significant change in the relative values
of the non-euro currencies in which we operate could have an adverse effect on our profitability and financial condition and
any sustained change in such relative currency values could adversely impact our competitiveness in certain geographic
regions.
Economic instability in the countries in which we operate where the euro is not the local currency and the related
decline in the value of the relevant local currency in these countries could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Although we, at Grupo Antolin, have not entered into any foreign-currency hedge rate agreements or forward
contracts, we seek a variety of mechanisms to hedge against major movements in currencies, such as using local suppliers
and negotiating with customers and suppliers. We may also use a combination of natural hedging techniques and financial
derivatives to protect against certain foreign currency exchange rate risks. Such hedging activities may be ineffective or may
not offset more than a portion of the adverse financial impact resulting from foreign currency variations. Gains or losses
associated with hedging activities may also negatively impact operating results.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, an additional 5% rise in the euro against currencies such as the Czech
crown, the Brazilian real, the US dollar, the Mexican peso, the UK pound, the Chinese renminbi, the South African rand and
the Russian ruble, would have reduced our revenues by approximately €187.5 million or approximately 3.5%, and our
EBITDA would have decreased by approximately €17.2 million or approximately 3.3%.
We have invested substantial resources in markets where we expect growth and we may be unable to timely alter our
strategies should such expectations not be realized.
Our future growth is dependent on our making the right investments at the right time to support product
development and manufacturing capacity in areas where we can support our customer base. We have identified certain
markets including North America, Mercosur and APAC as key markets where we are likely to experience substantial growth,
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and accordingly have made and expect to continue to make substantial investments, both directly and through participation in
various partnerships and joint ventures to support anticipated growth in those regions. If we are unable to deepen existing and
develop additional customer demand in these regions, we may not only fail to realize expected rates of return on our existing
investments, but we may incur losses on such investments and be unable to timely redeploy the invested capital to take
advantage of other markets, potentially resulting in lost market share to our competitors. Our results will also suffer if these
regions do not grow as quickly as we anticipate.
Loss of key executives and failure to attract qualified management could limit our growth and negatively impact our
operations.
We have a management team with a substantial amount of expertise in the automotive industry. Loss of key
members of management could result in the loss of valuable customer relationships and/or less or unsuccessful
implementation of strategies.
Availability of labor in some of the areas in which we operate could negatively impact our operations.
When establishing and operating facilities in some emerging economies, we may encounter difficulties with the
availability of labor. In some instances we may compete with our customers for qualified employees in a limited labor pool
of adequately trained workers. Performing work in these areas and under these circumstances can slow our progress,
potentially causing us to incur contractual liabilities to our customers. These circumstances may also cause us to incur
additional, unanticipated costs that we might not be able to pass on to our customers.
Our profitability could be negatively impacted if we are not able to maintain appropriate utilization of our workforce.
The extent to which we utilize our workforce affects our profitability. If we under utilize our workforce, our project
profits and overall profitability suffer in the short-term. If we over utilize our workforce, we may negatively impact safety,
employee satisfaction and project execution, which could result in a decline of future project awards. The utilization of our
workforce is impacted by numerous factors including:


our estimate of the headcount requirements for various manufacturing units based upon our forecast of the
demand for our products;



our ability to maintain our talent base and manage attrition;



our ability to schedule our portfolio of projects to efficiently utilize our employees and minimize production
downtime;



our need to invest time and resources into functions such as training, business development, employee
recruiting, and sales that are not chargeable to customer projects; and



the degree of structural flexibility of labor laws in countries where our employees are located.

The workforce in the automotive industry is highly unionized and if we fail to extend or renegotiate our collective
bargaining agreements with our labor unions as they expire from time to time, or if our employees, or our customers’
employees, engage in work stoppages and other labor problems, this could result in a material adverse effect.
We have a large number of collective bargaining agreements. In addition, we have specific exposure to labor strikes
in our international operations. For example, in 2015, we had strikes in Turkey and Brazil and in 2016 we had strikes in
Germany and France, in 2017 we had strikes in France and in 2018 we faced a Metal Industry strike in Germany. None of
this had significant effects on our business, financial condition and results of operations. However, if major work disruptions
involving our employees were to occur, our business could be adversely affected by a variety of factors, including a loss of
revenues, increased costs and reduced profitability. We cannot assure you that we will not experience a material labor
disruption at one or more of our facilities in the future whether in the course of renegotiation of our labor arrangements or
otherwise. We cannot guarantee that we will be able to successfully extend or renegotiate our collective bargaining
agreements as they expire from time to time. If we fail to extend or renegotiate any of our collective bargaining agreements
or are only able to renegotiate them on terms that are less favorable to us, we may need to incur additional costs, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Further, many of the
manufacturing facilities of our customers and suppliers are unionized and are subject to the risk of labor disruptions from
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time to time. A significant labor disruption could lead to a lengthy shutdown of our customers’ or our suppliers’ production
lines, which could have a material adverse effect on our operations and profitability.
A shift away from technologies in which we invest could have a material adverse effect on our profitability and financial
condition.
Our business requires a high level of technical expertise for the development and manufacture of our products. We
invest in technology and innovation which we believe will be critical to our long-term growth and we need to continually
adapt our expertise in response to technological innovations, industry standards, product instructions and customer
requirements. Our ability to anticipate changes in technology and to successfully develop and introduce new and enhanced
products or manufacturing processes on a timely basis will be a significant factor in our ability to remain competitive. New
technologies or changes in industry and customer requirements, such as the increasing trends towards hybrid and electric
vehicles, may render one or more of our current offerings obsolete, excessively costly or otherwise unmarketable. If there is a
shift away from the use of technologies in which we are investing, our costs may not be fully recovered. We may be placed at
a competitive disadvantage if other technologies emerge as industry leading technologies, which could have a material
adverse effect on our prospects for growth, profitability and financial condition.
Legal or regulatory claims or investigations against us could have a material adverse effect on our financial position.
From time to time, we may become involved in legal or regulatory proceedings, claims or investigations, including
by governmental bodies, customers, suppliers, former employees, class action plaintiffs and others which are incidental to the
conduct of our business. For example, in 2015, automotive suppliers in the Magna Interiors Business were subject to an
investigation with the German Federal Cartel Office in Germany. The investigation was concluded in February 2016 without
any actions against the suppliers in the Magna Interiors Business. On an ongoing basis, we attempt to assess the likelihood of
any adverse judgments or outcomes to these proceedings or claims, although it is difficult to predict final outcomes with any
degree of certainty. See “Business—Proceedings”. We are also subject to tax audits from time to time. Among other tax
audits, French tax authorities are currently conducting tax audits mainly on corporate income tax, VAT and other taxes in
relation to fiscal years 2011 through 2015, US tax authorities are conducting a tax audit of corporate income tax in relation to
fiscal years 2015 through 2017, Mexican tax authorities are conducting a tax audit of corporate income tax in relation to the
2014 fiscal year, German tax authorities are conducting general tax audits for years 2008 through 2011, Indian tax authorities
are conducting general tax audits for the financial years 2014 through 2017 and Romanian tax authorities are conducting a
VAT audit for the financial year 2018.
Except as disclosed in this annual report, we do not believe that any of the proceedings or claims to which we are
currently a party will result in costs, charges or liabilities that will have a material adverse effect on our financial position.
However, we cannot assure you that the costs, charges and liabilities associated with these matters will not be material, or
that those costs, charges and liabilities will not exceed any amounts reserved for them in our consolidated financial
statements. In future periods, we could be subject to cash costs or non-cash charges to earnings if any of these matters are
resolved unfavorably to us.
We face risks related to the intellectual and industrial property we use.
We believe that we either own or may validly use all the intellectual and industrial property rights required for our
business operations and that we have taken all reasonable measures to protect our rights or obtain warranties from the owners
of third party rights. However, we cannot rule out the risk that our intellectual and industrial property rights may be disputed
by a third party on the grounds of pre-existing rights or for any other reason. Furthermore, for countries outside Europe and
North America, we cannot be sure of holding or obtaining intellectual and industrial property rights offering the same level of
protection as those in Europe and North America.
Product liability claims, warranty and recall costs could cause us to incur losses and damage our reputation.
We face an inherent business risk of exposure to product liability claims in the event of the failure of our products to
perform to specifications, or if our products are alleged to result in property damage, bodily injury or death. We are generally
required under our customer contracts to indemnify our customers for product liability claims in respect of our products.
Accordingly, we may be materially and adversely impacted by product liability claims.
If any of our products are, or are alleged to be, defective, we may be required to participate in a recall involving
those products. In addition, our customers demand that we bear the cost of the repair and replacement of defective products
which are either covered under their warranty or are the subject of a recall by them. Warranty provisions are established
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based on our best estimate of the amounts necessary to settle existing or probable claims on product defect issues. Recall
costs are costs incurred when government regulators or our customers decide to recall a product due to a known or suspected
performance issue and we are required to participate either voluntarily or involuntarily. Currently, under most customer
agreements, we only account for existing or probable warranty claims. We have no warranty and recall data which allows us
to establish accurate estimates of, or provisions for, future warranty or recall costs relating to new products, assembly
programs or technologies being brought into production. In addition, our insurance covering product recalls is limited in
amount and coverage and in some jurisdictions non-existent. The obligation to repair or replace such products could have a
material adverse effect on our profitability and financial condition.
A decrease in actual and perceived quality of our products could damage our image and reputation and also the
image and reputation of one or more of our brands. Defective products could result in loss of sales, loss of customers and loss
of market acceptance. In turn, any major defect in one of our products could also have a material adverse effect on our
reputation and market perception, which in turn could have an adverse effect on our sales and results of operations.
Our operations expose us to the risk of material health and safety liabilities.
The nature of our operations subjects us to various statutory compliance and litigation risks under health, safety and
employment laws. We cannot guarantee that there will be no accidents or incidents suffered by our employees, our
contractors or other third parties on our sites. If any of these incidents occur, we could be subject to prosecutions and
litigation, which may lead to fines, penalties and other damages being imposed on us and cause damage to our reputation.
Such events could have a material adverse effect on our business operations, financial position and operational results.
We are subject to environmental requirements and risks as a result of which we may incur significant costs, liabilities and
obligations.
We are subject to a variety of environmental and pollution control laws, regulations and permits that govern, among
other things, soil, surface water and groundwater contamination; the generation, storage, handling, use, disposal and
transportation of hazardous materials; the emission and discharge of materials, including greenhouse gases, into the
environment; and health and safety. If we fail to comply with these laws, regulations or permits, we could be fined or
otherwise sanctioned by regulators or become subject to litigation. Environmental and pollution control laws, regulations and
permits, and the enforcement thereof, change frequently, have tended to become more stringent over time and may
necessitate substantial capital expenditures or operating costs.
We are also subject to environmental laws requiring investigation and clean-up of environmental contamination.
Estimating environmental clean-up liabilities is complex and heavily dependent on the nature and extent of historical
information and physical data relating to the contaminated sites, the complexity of the contamination, the uncertainty of
which remedy to apply and the outcome of discussions with regulatory authorities relating to the contamination. In addition,
these environmental laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent and
expensive over time. Therefore, in the future, we may not be in complete compliance with all such laws and regulations and
we may incur material costs or liabilities as a result of such laws and regulations. In addition to potentially significant
investigation and cleanup costs, contamination can give rise to third party claims for fines or penalties, natural resource
damages, personal injury or property damage.
For example, Trimtec Ltda., our subsidiary in Brazil, is subject to, together with 49 other companies, an
environmental claim initiated in 2009 and derived from the environmental damages created by Companhia Brasileira de
Bauxita (“CBB”), who was hired to provide services of incineration and industrial waste disposal for Trimtec Ltda. and other
companies in 2001. CBB did not perform such services and failed to dispose of the waste adequately, which allegedly ended
up causing environmental damage. An expert in the assessment and valuation of environmental damages was appointed in
connection with the proceedings and has issued an expert’s report which was only submitted to the public prosecutor. The
public prosecutor is is currently considering the expert’s report and the proceedings are still ongoing. See “Business—
Proceedings”.
We cannot assure you that our costs, liabilities and obligations relating to environmental matters will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We may not be adequately insured.
We currently have insurance arrangements in place for products and public liability, property damage, business
interruption (including for sudden and unexpected environmental damage). However, these insurance policies may not cover
19

any losses or damages resulting from the materialization of any of the risks we are subject to. Further, significant increases in
insurance premiums could reduce our cash flow. It is also possible in the future that insurance providers may no longer wish
to insure businesses in our industry against certain environmental occurrences.
Significant changes in laws and governmental regulations could have an adverse effect on our profitability.
The legal, regulatory and industry standard environment in our principal markets is complex and dynamic, and
future changes to the laws, regulations and market practice as regards, for example, carbon dioxide emissions and safety tests
and protocols, could have an adverse effect on the products we produce and our profitability. Additionally, we could be
adversely affected by changes in tax or other laws and jurisprudence which impose additional costs on automobile
manufacturers or consumers, or more stringent fuel economy and emissions requirements on manufacturers and our OEM
customers could negatively impact their levels and production and, therefore, materially affect their demand for our products
our sales. For example, changes to carbon dioxide emissions testing protocols, as a result of the ongoing investigations by
environmental authorities worldwide in relation to the potential manipulation of carbon dioxide emissions control systems
which had been installed by certain OEMs for the purposes of manipulating laboratory carbon dioxide emissions testing,
could have an adverse effect on the sales of the products we produce and our profitability.
We may face risks relating to climate change that could have an adverse impact on our business.
Greenhouse gas emissions have increasingly become the subject of substantial international, national, regional, state
and local attention. Greenhouse gas emission regulations have been promulgated in certain of the jurisdictions in which we
operate, and additional greenhouse gas requirements are in various stages of development. For example, the United States
Congress has considered legislation that would establish a nationwide limit on greenhouse gases. In addition, the EPA has
issued regulations limiting greenhouse gas emissions from mobile and stationary sources pursuant to the federal Clean Air
Act. Becoming effective, such measures could require us to modify existing or obtain new permits, implement additional
pollution control technology, curtail operations or increase our operating costs. New measures could require us to modify
existing or obtain new permits, implement additional pollution control technology, curtail operations or increase our
operating costs. In addition, our OEM customers may seek price reductions from us to account for their increased costs
resulting from greenhouse gas regulations. Further, growing pressure to reduce greenhouse gas emissions from mobile
sources could reduce automobile sales, thereby reducing demand for our products and ultimately our revenues. Thus, any
additional regulation of greenhouse gas emissions, including through a cap-and-trade system, technology mandate, emissions
tax, reporting requirement or other program, could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition,
reputation, product demand and liquidity.
Changes in accounting standards may materially impact reporting of our financial condition and results of operations.
Accounting principles as per the IFRS-EU and related accounting pronouncements, implementation guidelines, and
interpretations for many aspects of our business are complex and involved subjective judgments. Changes in these rules or
their interpretation may significantly change or add significant volatility to our reported income or loss without a comparable
underlying change in cash flows from operations. As a result, changes in accounting standards may materially impact our
reported financial condition and results of operations.
The International Accounting Standards Board released IFRS 16, “Leases” (“IFRS 16”) replacing IAS 17, “Leases”.
This standard requires lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for most leases. The new standard will be effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. We have begun to assess the potential impact on our consolidated financial
statements of IFRS 16. Based on our initial assessments, the application of IFRS 16 would result in a recognition of
intangible assets and payables on leases, which may have an impact on our reported financial condition and results of
operations.
Interruptions in operations at our facilities could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.
We operate 155 manufacturing plants and JIT assembly and sequencing facilities, as well as 25 TCOs in 25
countries worldwide as of December 31, 2018.
Our results of operations are dependent on the continued operation of our production facilities and the ability to
supply products to our customers. Our production processes are complex as they need to be adapted to variations in the
properties of certain materials and use combustibles and other dangerous materials. Significant interruptions in operations at
our production plants or the plants of suppliers we use, such as due to theft, explosions, fires or any other accidents or acts of
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God including natural disasters, floods, hurricanes and earthquakes may significantly reduce the productivity and profitability
of a particular production facility, or our business as a whole, during and after such interruptions. Although we hold several
types of insurance policies (including insurance against fire and business interruptions), our insurance coverage may be
inadequate. Furthermore, our insurance coverage may not continue to be available on commercially reasonable terms and our
insurance carriers may not have sufficient funds to cover all losses, damages, liabilities or potential claims. Interruptions in
operations at our facilities could disrupt our supply of products to our customers which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We have been exposed to such incidents in the past. For example, on April 5, 2016, we suffered a fire at the foaming
warehouse of Antolin Shanghai Auto- Parts Co. Ltd., which was separated for security reasons from the main plant. Final
settlement resulted in a payment of Renminbi 22.6 million. On January 22, 2017, a fire at a Recticel factory from where we
source certain of the materials we sell to Renault Nissan resulted in property damage and loss of sales. Final settlement
resulted in a payment of € 2.1 million. While we anticipate that these amounts will be covered by insurance, there can be no
assurance that our insurance will always cover the costs of such incidents.
Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war or political changes in geographical areas where we operate may affect
our business and results of operations.
Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence or war may negatively affect our business and results of operations.
There can be no assurance that there will not be terrorist attacks or violent acts that may directly impact us, our customers or
partners. In addition, political changes in certain geographical areas where we operate may affect our business and results of
operations. Any of these occurrences could cause a significant disruption in our business and could adversely affect our
business operations, financial position and operational results.
We may be subject to restrictions on transfer of funds.
Under the current foreign exchange regulations in certain countries in which we operate, there are restrictions on the
transfer of funds into and outside of such countries, which may include restrictions on the disposition of funds deposited with
banks and restrictions on transferring funds abroad, as well as require official approval to buy foreign currency. Additionally,
we have trapped cash in certain jurisdictions in which we operate in relation to our joint ventures and local law. These
restrictions could impact the payment of dividends to us by certain of our subsidiaries. If we were unable to repatriate funds
from any such countries, we would not be able to use the cash flow from our businesses to finance our operating
requirements elsewhere and satisfy our debt obligations.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

On March 26, 2019 the Company agreed the sale of a 50% holding in Tianjin Antolin Auto-Parts Co., Ltd.
(“Tianjin”) to Changshu Automotive Trim Co., Ltd., the previous minority shareholder. The proceeds from the disposal will
be reinvested in current projects. The transaction is expected to close in 2019 and as a result the Company’s stake in Tianjin
will be reduced to 10%.
On 4 April, 2019, the Company gave updated indications of potential full year 2019 performance across 6 key
indicators:


Component revenue growth ≈ flat



Non-IFRS 15 EBITDA margin c. 8%



Capex c. 5.5-6% of revenue



Working Capital stable as a percentage of LTM revenue



Leverage is expected to end the year at c. 2.5x



Dividend of € 14.0 million (≈ pay out ratio of 30% of Net Income)



We may from time to time and depending on our liquidity position, market conditions and other factors,
repurchase our debt, including the 2024 Notes and the 2026 Notes

Additionally, on 4 April, 2019, the Company gave indications of revenue and EBITDA for the first two months of
2019. Indicating that revenue had been weaker than expected given industry-wide slowdowns. However EBITDA margin had
shown some recovery on the back of Company’s restructuring efforts. This information is based solely on preliminary
internal information used by management and has not been audited or reviewed by our independent auditors. Therefore, this
information should not be regarded as an indication, forecast or representation by us or any other person regarding our
financial performance.
€m

YTD Feb. 2019

YTD Feb. 2018

% Change

803,7

819,8

-2,0%

EBITDA

48,6

47,5

2,2%

Margin

6,0%

5,8%

Sales
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
You should read the following discussion together with our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this annual report. The financial data in this discussion of our results of operations and financial condition is as of and for
the financial years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 and has been derived from the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries prepared in accordance with IFRS-EU. The financial information set forth in
this annual report as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 (adjusted for the Divestment) has been derived by
deducting from our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, the income
statement and the statement of cash flows attributable to the Divested Business set forth in Note 25 of our audited
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Certain monetary amounts, percentages and other figures included in this annual report have been subject to
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the
figures that precede them, and figures expressed as percentages in the text may not total 100% or, as applicable, when
aggregated may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the percentages that precede them. You should read the following
discussion together with the sections entitled “Selected Financial and Other Information”,“Risk Factors” and “Presentation
of Financial and Other Data”.
Our Company
We are a leading Tier 1 player in the design, development, manufacturing and supply of automotive interior
components, offering multi-technology solutions for overhead systems (or headliners) and soft trim, doors and hard trim,
cockpits and center consoles and lighting systems for sale to OEMs. We have a geographically diversified platform of 155
manufacturing plants and just in time, or JIT, assembly and sequencing facilities, as well as 25 technical-commercial offices,
or TCOs, in 25 countries worldwide as of December 31, 2018. We supplied our products globally to the top 18 OEMs by
production volume in 2018. We provided components for more than 500different vehicle models and we believe we supplied
products for approximately one out of every three vehicles manufactured worldwide. Our product, geographical and customer
diversification allows us to take advantage of global growth opportunities, in particular our presence in Eastern Europe,
North America, Mercosur and APAC, which in the past has mitigated the impact of regional production fluctuations on our
business during economic downturns. We are headquartered in Burgos, Spain, and in 2018 our average number of employees
was approximately 31,585.
Our revenue and EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to €5,424.6 million and €355.9 million,
respectively. We are wholly-owned by the Antolín family, who is fully committed to our business.
As of December 31, 2018, we organize our activities around four business segments:


Overhead systems and soft trim (“Headliners”): We believe we are a leader in the manufacturing of
headliner modular solutions, incorporating acoustic, safety, panoramic and lighting functionalities. We cover
the entire product spectrum for overhead systems, from the headliner substrate to more complex modular
systems. We use key technologies for headliner substrates and benefit from full vertical integration, from the
core polyurethane foam production to the final assembly of the overhead systems. Furthermore, the
incorporation of sunvisors into the overhead system is an important aspect of this business segment. We
produce sunvisors in all technologies available in the market, adding a whole range of functionalities to the end
product. As part of the integration of the Magna Interiors Business, our soft trim activities, including load
floors, package trays, side linings, accessible floor bins and floor coverings, were moved to this business
segment. In addition we have a line of acoustic solutions such as deadeners and underbody shields and we
produce our own tuft-velour carpets for premium vehicles. Our revenue and EBITDA attributable to our
Headliners segment amounted to €2,060.5 million and €103.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018,
respectively, which represented 38.0% and 29.0% of our total consolidated revenue and EBITDA for that same
period, respectively. In 2018, we believe we were a leader in overhead systems, with 27% of the global market
share, and in sunvisors, with 35% and 23% market shares of sunvisors in Europe and Mercosur, respectively.
Our global market share for overhead systems has increased from 23% (market size of 83.9 million vehicles) in
2013 to 27% in 2018 (market size of 94.5 million vehicles). As at December, 31, 2018, the Headliners business
segment included 81 facilities.



Doors and hard trim (“Doors”): We have expertise in the manufacturing and supply of a wide range of door
systems such as door panels (including front, rear and sliding door panels), pillars (including upper and lower
pillar trim and quarter trim panels), window regulators, rear cargo and lift gate trim. We produce a wide range
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of specialized plastic parts, some of them with weight reduction and environmentally friendly properties. We
produce an extensive range of door mechanisms, from window regulators to complex modules. We also
produce seat latches for specific vehicle platforms. Our revenue and EBITDA attributable to our Doors
segment amounted to €1,886.5 million and €203.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, respectively,
which represented 34.8% and 57.2% of our total consolidated revenue and EBITDA for that same period,
respectively. In 2018, we believe we were a leading producer in Europe with a market share of 19% in door
panels and 19% in window regulators. We believe we were also a significant producer of door panels and
window regulators in the Mercosur region with a 9% market share in door panels and an 19% market share in
window regulators. As at December, 31, 2018, the Doors business segment included 48 facilities.


Cockpits and consoles (“Cockpits”): We are a global producer and supplier of cockpit modules, including
instrument panels, center consoles and glove boxes, which we design, engineer and manufacture. Our
capabilities include design and engineering, styling, tooling, manufacturing, assembly and sequencing and
electrical/electronic system integration. The cockpit module plays a key role in defining the driver’s experience
and it integrates the instrument panel and several control functions such as wiring harness, instrument cluster,
air vents, decorative inlays, glove boxes and passenger airbag systems, among others. The instrument panel is a
key element of the cockpit module and is comprised of a sophisticated system of trims, foams, composites and
metals. The center consoles are designed and manufactured to operate vehicle functions and store items. The
primary technologies and processes involved in the manufacturing of these systems include low pressure and
injection molding, compression molding, vacuum forming, slush skins, spray urethane, decorative stitching as
well as manual and automated assembly and sequencing. Our revenue and EBITDA attributable to our
Cockpits segment amounted to €1,125.5 million and €89.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018,
respectively, which represented 20.7% and 25.1% of our total consolidated revenue and EBITDA for that same
period, respectively. As at December, 31, 2018, the Cockpits business segment included 14 facilities.



Lighting: We believe we were a leading manufacturer of interior automotive lighting components in Europe,
with a 37% market share of overhead front consoles and dome lamps in 2018. Our lighting product portfolio
comprises interior solutions based on LED including overhead consoles, side reading lamps, multi-purpose
lamps, ambient lighting, electronics/smart lighting and exterior solutions such as daytime running lamps, center
high mounted stop lamps and direction, position and license plate indicators. We are one of the few suppliers
which benefit from full vertical integration in the production of lighting components, from the manufacture of
plastic parts and lenses, to the electronics and the light function. The potential integration of lighting elements
with other interior automotive components increasingly provides synergies with our other business lines since
lighting is incorporated in instrument panels, door paneling and overhead systems, allowing us to offer our
customers an integrated and innovative range of customized interior solutions, which we believe gives us an
additional competitive advantage over other players in our industry. Creating light scenarios and sophisticated
atmospheres is one of our main areas of expertise. Our revenue and EBITDA attributable to our Lighting
segment amounted to €349.1 million and €62.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, respectively,
which represented 6.4% and 17.4% of our total consolidated revenue and EBITDA for that same period,
respectively. As at December, 31, 2018, the Lighting business segment included 12 facilities.

The percentage of revenues and EBITDA derived per business segment for the year ended December 31, 2018 are as
follows:
Revenues

EBITDA
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(1)

“Other” is not a primary business segment and its operations support our primary business segments. It is included herein for the purposes of
reconciliation and we do not consider it material. “Other” includes a wide range of results generated mainly by Grupo Antolín-Ingeniería, S.A.U.,
TCOs and consolidated pricing adjustments as well as overhead and structural costs of the Group pursuant to the Allocation.

We believe that our financial and operational success and stability have been, and continue to be, driven by our
strategic, customer-focused geographical growth and diversified revenue streams, as well as our manufacturing, process,
design and technological expertise. We believe that these factors have allowed us to achieve our position as a leading global
supplier in the automotive industry, with high strategic importance to many of the largest OEMs.
Segment Reporting
Our primary basis of segment reporting is by business division, which reflects the management structure of our
business and our system of internal financial reporting. We report net turnover, other operating expenses/income, net,
EBITDA, depreciation and amortization and EBIT on a segmental basis.
The revenues reported for each segment are those which are directly attributable to the production plants included in
that segment for management purposes and therefore also include secondary revenues recognized by said plants in respect of
sales for the provision of services to other segments. The income of each segment does not include interest or dividend
income or the gains on sales of investments or of non-current assets. The expenses of each segment are calculated as being
the expenses arising out of the operating activities of the segment that may be directly attributed to the plants included in that
segment for management purposes, and for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 also include the overheads of the
corporate unit that have been passed on to it and invoiced to each segment. From January 1, 2017, as part of a global analysis
of our tax structure, we have changed the system by which we allocate overheads of the corporate unit, so that such overhead
and structural costs and other structural costs are no longer allocated to the business segments and are instead allocated
within “other”. The expenses of each segment do not include interest expense, impairments or losses on sales of investments
or of non-current assets. Assets and liabilities in the segments are those that are directly connected with the operations of the
plants in each segment, although virtually all the financial debt of the Group has been centralized in the corporate unit. For
further information please refer to Note 2-d of our audited consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2018.
Before the acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business, we organized our activities around four business segments:
(i) overhead systems, (ii) doors and interior plastics, (iii) seating and (iv) lighting. As part of the integration of the Magna
Interiors Business, on August 31, 2015, we added a new cockpits and interior segment (which included all of Magna Interior
Business’ products, including primarily cockpits, soft trim and hard trim) to our reporting structure. In 2016, we carried out a
series of additional business realignments within our different segments aimed at improving the integration of our businesses
and materializing synergies from the acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business. The results of operations for the financial
year ended December 31, 2015 and any segmental information associated thereof, only includes the Magna Interiors Business
from August 31, 2015 until December 31, 2015.
On February 6, 2017, the Company and certain of the Company’s affiliates entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Lear Corporation, a leading global supplier of automotive seating and electrical systems, and certain of its
affiliates, for the sale of our affiliates in the Seating segment. The Seating business was sold on April 28, 2017.
Accordingly, we no longer have the Seating segment as part of our business.
Our current segmentation is as follows.
(i)

Headliners: This business segment now includes our historical soft trim products (which used to be
included under our Doors segment), as well as the overheads and soft trim businesses integrated as a result
of the acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business. As a result, Antolin Süddeutschland GmbH (Rastatt),
Antolin Massen GmbH, Antolin Hungary Kft., Antolin Interiors USA, Inc. (Spartanburg) and Antolin
Ebergassing GmbH were moved in 2016 to this business segment.

(ii)

Doors: This business segment now includes our historical hard trim products (which used to be included
under the doors and interior plastics segment), as well as the doors and hard trim businesses integrated as a
result of the acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business. As a result, thirteen new entities originating from
the Magna Interiors Business and initially included in the Cockpits segment created in August 2015 were
moved in 2016 to this business segment.
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(iii)

Cockpits: The Cockpits business segment that was created in August 2015 following the acquisition of the
Magna Interiors Business was subsequently restructured, and several companies were moved in 2016 to the
Overheads, Doors and Lighting business segments as described above. As a result, our Cockpits segment
was then focused on seven companies (Antolin Interiors USA, Inc. (Atreum-Howell), Changchun Antolin
Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd., Changshu Antolin Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd, Antolin Liban s.r.o.,
Antolin Interiors USA, Inc. (Nashville), Antolin Interiors UK Limited (Redditch) and Antolin
Straubing GmbH), thereby removing all hard trim and soft trim activities and leaving only in this segment
the manufacturing of cockpits.

(iv)

Lighting: This business segment has remained relatively consistent, with the exception of Suzhou Antolin
Automotive Interiors Co. Ltd. This entity, acquired as part of the Magna Interiors Business and originally
included in the Cockpits segment created in 2015, was moved to the Lighting segment in 2016.

The table below includes a comparison of net turnover, other operating expenses/income, net, EBITDA,
depreciation and amortization and EBIT for each business segment for the financial years ended December 31, 2016,
December 31, 2017, and December 31, 2018.

2016

Year ended December 31,
2016 (adjusted for
2017
the Divestment
(restated
and Allocation)
2017
IFRS 15)
(in millions of €, except percentages)

2018

Headliners
Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

2,084.2
(1,881.6)
202.6
(46.6)
156.0

2,144.7
(1,913.2)
231.5
(46.2)
185.4

2,043.6
(1,853.0)
190.6
(45.2)
145.5

2,128.4
(1,937.8)
190.6
(45.2)
145.5

2,060.5
(1,957.3)
103.2
(50.7)
52.5

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

9.7%

10.8%

9.3%

9.0%

5.0%

Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

1,461.5
(1,269.4)
192.1
(49.3)
142.8

1,467.9
(1,242.5)
225.4
(49.3)
176.1

1,632.4
(1,431.3)
201.1
(52.2)
148.9

1,828.3
(1,627.1)
201.1
(52.2)
148.9

1,886.5
(1,682.9)
203.6
(59.3)
144.3

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

13.1%

15.4%

12.3%

11.0%

10.8%

Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

272.4
(224.2)
48.2
(14.0)
34.1

272.4
(219.2)
53.2
(14.1)
39.1

318.3
(259.9)
58.5
(16.6)
41.8

324.5
(266.0)
58.5
(16.6)
41.8

349.1
(287.1)
62.0
(18.7)
43.3

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

17.7%

19.5%

18.4%

18.0%

17.8%

Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

1,095.7
(1,052.1)
43.6
(27.7)
15.9

1,095.7
(1,020.1)
75.6
(27.7)
47.9

1,039.8
(962.9)
76.9
(28.4)
48.5

1,107.8
(1,030.9)
76.9
(28.4)
48.5

1,125.5
(1,036.2)
89.3
(36.1)
53.2

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

4.0%

6.9%

7.4%

6.9%

7.9%

Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................

331.9
(276.7)
55.2
(11.1)
44.1

n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

EBITDA margin..............................................................................

16.6%

n.a.

—%

—%

—%

1.7
(22.6)
(20.9)
(33.3)
(54.2)

1.8
(125.8)
(124.0)
(33.3)
(157.3)

2.5
(63.9)
(61.4)
(32.3)
(93.7)

2.5
(63.9)
(61.4)
(32.3)
(93.7)

3.0
(105.2)
(102.1)
(30.2)
(132.3)

Doors

Lighting

Cockpits

Seating(1)

Other(2)
Net turnover ......................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................
EBITDA............................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................
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(1)

The seating business has been sold pursuant to the Divestment.

(2)

Other is not a primary business segment and its operations support our primary business segments. It is included herein for the purposes of
reconciliation and we do not consider it material. Other includes a wide range of results generated mainly by Grupo Antolín-Ingeniería, S.A.U.,
TCOs and consolidated pricing adjustments as well as overhead and structural costs of the Group pursuant to the Allocation.

Key Factors Affecting our Results of Operations
We believe that the following factors impact our results of operations:
Acquisitions and disposals
Acquisition of Magna Interiors Business
On August 31, 2015, we completed the acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business, which represented a
strategically important acquisition for our Group. We believe that the acquisition has strengthened our leadership position by
expanding the breadth of our global automotive interior product portfolio, and strengthening our relationships with our
existing OEMs.
We further believe the acquisition has (i) provided us with a complementary product portfolio that allowed us to
become the world’s third largest automotive interiors supplier group with a leading market share position across product lines
such as headliners, door panels, cockpit systems, instrument panels and floor consoles, (ii) increased our product
diversification, which we believe will reduce operational risk and allowed us to service new and existing customers with the
full range of automotive interior products, (iii) created opportunities to increase our customer diversification by serving a
higher proportion of premium and luxury OEMs such as BMW, Daimler and Tata Motors—Jaguar Land Rover (along with
our current customers like Ford, Volkswagen Group, Renault-Nissan, Fiat-Chrysler and PSA Group) and (iv) allowed us to
cross-sell new and existing products to our existing customer base in order to enhance our growth profile.
Divestment of our Seating segment
On February 6, 2017, the Company and certain of the Company’s affiliates entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Lear Corporation, a leading global supplier of automotive seating and electrical systems, and certain of its
affiliates, for the sale of our affiliates in the Seating segment, including Grupo Antolín-Ara, S.A.U., Grupo
Antolín-Ardasa, S.A.U., Grupo Antolín-Álava, S.A.U., Grupo Antolín-Vigo, S.A.U., Grupo Antolín-PGA, S.A.U., Grupo
Antolín-Martorell, S.A.U., Grupo Antolín-Magnesio, S.A.U., Grupo Antolín-Valença-Componentes Sociedade Unipessoal,
Lda., Midtown Invest, S.L., Grupo Antolín-Loire S.A.S., Grupo Antolin Ingenierie Sièges, S.A.S., Grupo Antolin
Jarny, S.A.S., 70% of Antolín-CIE Czech Republic, s.r.o., and certain assets of Antolin Tanger, S.A.R.L.
The purchase price was €285.6 million on an enterprise value offer and on a debt-free and cash-free basis, subject to
customary closing adjustments for the value of net working capital and net debt at completion. The transaction closed on
April 28, 2017.
As of December 31, 2016, the Divested Business had annual sales of €371.1 million (€331.9 million on a
consolidated basis) and included twelve manufacturing plants and JIT assembly and sequencing facilities (seven of which
located in Spain, one in Portugal, one in the Czech Republic, two in France and one in Morocco), as well as R&D operations
in two additional locations (France and Spain) and employed more than 1,600 employees.
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The following table sets forth our consolidated income statement of profit or loss data on an actual basis for the year
ended December 31, 2016 and as adjusted for the Divestment.
Year ended December 31,
2016
(adjusted for the
Divestment)
(unaudited)

2016
(audited)
(in millions of €)

Consolidated Income Statement of Profit or Loss Data:
Revenue................................................................................................................................
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress ......................................
Capital grants and other grants taken to income ...............................................................
Other operating income.......................................................................................................
Total operating income .....................................................................................................
Supplies ................................................................................................................................
Staff costs .............................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization expenses ...........................................................................
Change in trade provisions .................................................................................................
Other operating expenses ....................................................................................................
Less-Own work capitalized ................................................................................................
Profit for the year from continuing operations ............................................................
Finance income ....................................................................................................................
Finance costs ........................................................................................................................
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial instruments ...........................................................
Impairments and losses on disposal of non-current financial assets ................................
Exchange differences ..........................................................................................................
Net finance income/(cost) .................................................................................................
Net impairment loss on non-current assets ........................................................................
Gain/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets ..................................................................
Gains/(losses) on the loss of significant influence over consolidated investments.........
Profit of companies accounted for using the equity method ............................................
Impairments and losses due to loss of significant influence over equity accounted
investees ..........................................................................................................................
Profit before taxes .............................................................................................................
Corporate income tax ..........................................................................................................
Profit after tax for the year from discontinued operations ................................................
Consolidated profit for the year ......................................................................................
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests ..................................................................
Profit attributable to the Parent .....................................................................................

5,247.3
(7.8)
1.5
146.2
5,387.2
(3,344.4)
(869.5)
(182.0)
(7.7)
(739.0)
94.1
338.7
1.1
(63.6)
0.6
(0.3)
10.1
(52.1)
(10.4)
(1.5)
9.7
4.0

4,982.5
(9.9)
1.2
149.0
5,122.8
(3,225.8)
(822.3)
(170.5)
(7.3)
(697.3)
91.6
291.2
4.1
(66.3)
0.6
(0.3)
10.1
(51.8)
(10.4)
(1.5)
9.7
4.0

(7.0)
281.5
(86.8)

(7.0)
234.2
(79.7)
40.2
194.7
(17.0)
177.6

—

194.7
(17.0)
177.6

Other divestments
We have made strategic divestments in the financial years ended December 31, 2015, 2016 and 2017, including the
sale of Antolin Burg Design GmbH, an Austrian automotive Tier 1 and Tier 2 supplier engaged in the design and
manufacture of special plastic decorative parts, for €18.5 million. This entity was acquired by the Company in 2015 as part of
the acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business. Its sale was a result of the Company streamlining activities to focus on core
strengths and global platforms. Another divestment was the sale of the Company’s interest in Ningbo Antolin Huaxiang Auto
Parts Co., Ltd. and Yangzhou Antolin Huaxiang Auto Parts Co., Ltd. for €28.9 million, for the purposes of simplifying our
local partnerships in China and to consolidate in our accounts a greater portion of our activities in that country.
Capital expenditure
Our capital expenditure is incurred primarily in connection with the acquisition or construction of new plants,
including the purchase of tooling and other equipment for new or existing plants, as well as R&D expenses. Our business
involves significant capital expenditure both on material fixed assets such as property, plant and equipment and on intangible
assets mainly linked to R&D. Capital expenditure is essential to maintain our long-term relationships with our clients, which
are based on our capacity to offer technologically advanced interior automotive solutions at competitive prices. Capital
expenditure on intangible assets is related to innovation in design and materials, so that our products contribute to the
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perceived value in the interior of the vehicle. Once a project is ongoing, maintenance capital expenditure is limited and
somewhat predictable. When new programs or vehicle models are required, usually at the end of a vehicle cycle, “renewal”
or “replacement” capital expenditure is required in order to adapt existing infrastructure to accommodate new assembly and
process design, usually at levels significantly below the expenditure required to create the capacity in the first place. For the
year ended December 31, 2018, we had capital expenditures in property, plant and equipment of €185.4 million and capital
expenditures in intangible assets of €135.1 million.
Capitalized development expenses amounted to 61.0% of our intangible assets as of December 31, 2018. Among the
main additions to development expenses in the year ended December 31, 2018 were projects including, Audi “AU516 IP”
(Q6 e-Tron), BMW “G05/G07 Luggage”, BMW “F40/44 Panel” (1 Series), Seat “SE 326 IP” (Ateca), BMW “G29”,
Chrysler “FCA Panel”, BMW “J29”. The costs incurred in each development project are capitalized when the following
conditions are met: (i) the development cost of the asset can be assessed reliably, (ii) the costs are specifically itemized for
each project and correspond to an identifiable asset, (iii) we can prove that the project is technically viable; and (iv) the
project is likely to generate profits in the future.
Once the projects are completed and go into production, capitalized development expenses begin to be amortized.
Capitalized development expenses are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the projects.
Global automotive market
We operate within the global automotive equipment sector and our business growth is entirely driven by trends in
the global automobile market. The cycles of the global automotive industry, which are correlated with general global
macroeconomic conditions, impact our OEM customers’ production requirements and consequently impact the volume of
purchases of our products by our OEM customers. With increased economic activity in our growth markets and recovery in
our more traditional markets, we have experienced and expect to experience increased vehicle production levels, with a
consequent increase in the demand for our products and a positive impact on our revenues. Slower economic growth would
have the opposite effect.
Diversification
Our strong geographic, customer and product diversification has the effect of reducing revenue volatility during
economic downturns, as well as limiting our exposure to regional business cycles. Our well-diversified customer base, which
includes the top 18 OEMs by production volume as of December 31, 2018, has limited our exposure to a downturn in the
demand for any one OEM’s product portfolio. Regional differences in duration, timing and intensity of economic cycles,
combined with the diversity of our geographic footprint, have mitigated the effects of the economic cycle on our business,
limiting the impact of our exposure to the cycle in any one region or geography. Our stable revenues have allowed us to take
advantage of global growth opportunities, even during economic downturns.
The revenues received from our five largest customers, Volkswagen Group, Fiat-Chrysler, Ford, General Motors
and Tata Motors—Jaguar Land Rover, represented 59.9% of total revenues in the year ended December 31, 2018, which is
slightly lower than their relative share of total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017 (61.1%, which included BMW
instead of General Motors for that period). In terms of geographic diversification, the US, Germany and Mexico were the
three highest revenue generating geographies and represented 50.2% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018
and 49.5% of our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Price of materials
A significant part of our cost base consists of purchases of materials which are variable in nature. The primary
materials used in our production facilities are textile fabrics, plastic injection grain, petroleum-based resins and certain
metals, principally copper. In the periods under review, the costs of materials and other supplies has represented on average
approximately 66.3% of our revenue. Materials and other supplies, packaging and containers, replacement parts, sundry
materials, add-on parts and stocks for resale are valued at the lower of cost applying the weighted average price method, and
net realizable value. While prices of materials affect our revenue and costs, historically, our profit margins have not been
significantly affected by changes in prices of materials. We work with a diversified group of suppliers across the world. We
try to obtain materials in the region in which our products are manufactured in order to minimize transportation costs. We
have not experienced any significant shortages of materials and normally do not carry inventories of such materials in excess
of those reasonably required to meet our production schedules. We estimate that approximately 35% of the value of the
materials we source come from suppliers chosen by OEMs, which allows us to benefit from their enhanced negotiation power
and to be automatically compensated by the applicable OEM for any increase of material costs. In addition, we estimate that
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approximately 6% of the value of materials we source come from suppliers who have price transfer agreements directly with
our customers where costs of materials outside of certain ranges are passed onto the OEM, thus helping us to minimize the
impact of material price fluctuations. In situations where we renegotiate terms with OEMs in order to pass on cost increases
of materials, we must bear the increased costs until the negotiations are finalized, which often takes between three and six
months.
Operating costs
Staff costs have represented approximately 17.9% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018. A
significant part of our staff costs are semi-variable in nature and can be adjusted to meet business needs. The predictability of
our cost-base has assisted our strategic planning and has allowed us to maintain consistent profit margins.
We do not have any defined benefit pension, workforce post-retirement health care benefits or employer paid
post-retirement basic life insurance benefits obligations. However, some of our subsidiaries forming part of our Lighting and
Cockpits segments have assumed commitments to pay contributions to the retirement pensions of some of their current and
former employees. These commitments affect, primarily, companies located in Germany, Austria and the United Kingdom. A
significant portion of these commitments has been outsourced and are covered by insurance policies or pension plans with
insurance companies. We pay fixed contributions into a fund and are obliged to make additional contributions if the fund
does not have sufficient assets to pay all the employees the benefits to which it has committed.
We record the present value of these defined benefit commitments as liabilities in the consolidated statements of
financial position under “Non-current provisions”, net of the fair value of the assets that meet the requirements to be treated
as “assets earmarked for the plan”.
The provision for pension commitments relates to the British, French and German companies of our Lighting
segment. The net provision as at December 31, 2018 stood at €8.4 million, comprised of €24.3 million relating to the present
value of the defined benefit obligations and €14.2 million relating to the fair value of the pension assets.
Vehicle cycles
In our industry, once a project has been nominated to a preferred supplier, it is rare for an OEM to switch to another
supplier, given the significant operational, technical and logistical costs of switching suppliers, particularly during the life
cycle of a specific vehicle model. Vehicle models typically have long, multi-year product life cycles. Given these factors,
while the actual revenues which we derive from a project ultimately depend on our OEM customers’ production volumes
achieved for the respective car models, we have good visibility on mid-term revenues within a relatively small range of
sensitivity.
Product pricing
During the life cycle of a contract, we are expected to achieve production efficiencies. Typically, in line with our
industry practice, we pass on a portion of these production efficiencies to our customers by way of price reductions during
the term of the contract. When negotiated price reductions are expected to be retroactive, we accrue for such amounts as a
reduction of revenues as products are shipped. To the extent we are not able to achieve the efficiencies necessary to offset the
price reductions, such price reductions negatively impact our margins. Some pricing agreements with our customers are
conditional upon achieving certain joint cost-saving targets.
Seasonality
Our business is seasonal. Due to the following factors, our working capital requirements typically increase during
the first and third quarters of the year and reduce towards the end of the year. OEMs typically slow down vehicle production
during certain portions of the year. For instance, our customers in the United States typically slow down vehicle production
during the beginning of the second half of July and August and our European customers slow down vehicle production in
August, and both geographies slow down production during the holiday season in December during which they also often
conduct internal maintenance and adjustments to inventory. Further, there are a fewer number of working days at the end of
the year as opposed to the beginning of a year and this results in a reduction in vehicle production towards the end of such
year. Also, we typically agree final due amounts with our suppliers at year-end, which are usually paid at the beginning of the
following year, resulting in higher payables at year-end and significant cash outflows during January and February. Further, a
significant portion of our tooling receivables balances are invoiced from our clients typically before year-end, resulting in a
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reduction in receivables and cash inflows at the end of the year. Our results of operations, cash flows and liquidity may
therefore be impacted by these seasonal practices.
Transaction and foreign exchange translation
Although our reporting currency is the euro, a portion of our sales and operating costs are realized in other
currencies, such as among others the US dollar, British sterling, the Brazilian real, the Chinese renminbi, the Indian rupee,
the Mexican peso, the Czech crown, the Russian ruble and the Turkish lira. Although we have not entered into any
foreign-currency hedge rate agreements or forward contracts, we seek a variety of mechanisms to hedge against major
movements in currencies, such as using local suppliers and negotiating with customers and suppliers. We may also use a
combination of natural hedging techniques and financial derivatives to protect against certain foreign currency exchange rate
risks. However, the translation of foreign currencies back to the euro may have a significant impact on our revenues and
financial results. Foreign exchange has an unfavorable impact on revenues when the euro is relatively strong as compared
with foreign currencies and a favorable impact on revenues when the euro is relatively weak as compared with foreign
currencies. The functional currency of our foreign operations is the local currency.
The statements of financial position and income statements of the foreign companies included in the scope of
consolidation, denominated in currencies other than the euro, were translated to euro using the “closing rate method”. All the
assets, rights and obligations of these companies were translated to euro at the applicable year-end exchange rates. Their
share capital and reserves were translated at their historical exchange rates. To counteract seasonal effects, the income
statement items of these companies were translated to euro at the average exchange rates for the year, based on the volume of
transactions performed in each period. The exchange differences arising from the application of these methods are taken to
equity under “Remeasurements-Exchange differences” in the consolidated statements of financial position, net of the portion
of these differences corresponding to non-controlling interests, which is taken to equity under “Non-controlling interests” in
the consolidated statements of financial position. Such translation differences are recognized as income or as expense in the
year in which the investment is made or divested. Usually, we do not enter into foreign-currency swap agreements or forward
contracts.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, an additional 5% rise in the euro against currencies such as the Czech
crown, the Brazilian real, the US dollar, the Mexican peso, the UK pound, the Chinese renminbi, the South African rand and
the Russian ruble, would have reduced our revenues by approximately €187.5 million or approximately 3.5%, and our
EBITDA would have decreased by approximately €17.2 million or approximately 3.3%.
Principal Income Statement Account Items
The following is a brief description of the principal revenue and expenses that are included in the line items of our
consolidated income statement accounts.
Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received and represents the amounts received or
receivable for the goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, value added tax and other
recoverable sales-related taxes. Where it is doubtful as to whether the revenues will be collected, recognition is deferred until
they are effectively collected. Revenue includes revenue on sales of products and ordinary revenue from the provision of
services.
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress
We value our inventories as follows:
Materials and other supplies, packaging and containers, replacement parts, sundry materials, add-on parts and stocks
for resale, are valued at the lower of cost applying the weighted average price method and net realizable value.
Finished goods, semi-finished goods and works-in-progress are stated at the lower of real average production cost
(materials used, labor and direct and indirect manufacturing expenses) and net realizable value.
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Tools for new projects, which are developed and manufactured by us to be sold later on to our customers, are stated
at the lower of either the costs incurred to manufacture them, as and when they are incurred, and their estimated net realizable
value.
Net realizable value corresponds to the estimated selling price less the estimated costs of completing the products
and the costs to be incurred in the marketing, selling and distribution.
Obsolete, defective or slow-moving inventories are reduced to their realizable value. In addition, if the net realizable
value of the inventories is lower than the acquisition or production cost, the appropriate write-downs are recognized as an
expense in the consolidated income statement for the year.
Capital grants and other grants taken to income
Official grants related to property, plant and equipment are recognized in our consolidated statements of financial
position as deferred income when we have met the relevant qualifying conditions and there are, therefore, no reasonable
doubts about the grants being collected. These capital grants are taken to the consolidated income statement under “Capital
grants and other grants taken to income” on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the assets.
Grants to cover or finance our expenses are recognized once all the conditions attaching to them have been fulfilled
and will be taken to income when the financed expenses are incurred.
Other operating income
Other operating income is comprised principally of revenues on the sale of project tools, income from miscellaneous
services, operating grants, income from leases of investment property, revenues from the assignment of industrial property
and other revenue.
Supplies
The amount of supplies that are used in the production process are reported in the consolidated income statement.
The most significant item accounted as supply is the purchase of materials. Changes during the period in inventories of
materials, goods for resale and other supplies are adjusted in the supplies account.
Staff costs
Our staff costs include wages, salaries and similar expenses, termination benefits, employer’s social security
contributions and other welfare expenses. Staff costs are primarily driven by the size of our operations, our geographical
reach and customer requirements.
Depreciation and amortization expenses
Depreciation and amortization expenses relate mainly to the annual depreciation charges on property, plant,
equipment and capitalized development expenses. We transfer property, plant and equipment under construction to property,
plant and equipment used in operations when the assets in question become operational, from which time depreciation is
charged. Property, plant and equipment used in operations are depreciated on a straight-line basis, based on the acquisition or
production cost of the assets or their restated value, less their residual value. The land on which buildings and other
constructions are located is deemed to have an indefinite lifespan and is therefore not subject to depreciation. Annual
depreciation charges on property, plant and equipment are charged to “Depreciation and amortization expenses” in the
consolidated income statement over the average estimated useful life of the assets. Capitalized development expenses are
generally amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the projects as from the date the related projects
are completed.
Other operating expenses
Our other operating expenses relate to the rental cost of leased buildings, maintenance and upkeep, other external
services, taxes and levies, impairment of accounts receivable and application of non-current provisions.
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Net finance income/(cost)
Net finance income/(cost) primarily consists of finance income, finance costs, net fair value gain/(loss) on financial
instruments, exchange differences and impairment and gains/(losses) on disposal of financial instruments.
Profit before taxes
Profit before taxes primarily includes net impairment loss on non-current assets, profits or losses from disposal of
assets, gain/(losses) on disposal of non-current assets, profits from business combinations and profit of companies accounted
for using the equity method.
Corporate income tax
The Company and all of its consolidated Spanish subsidiaries domiciled in Spanish “common territory” in which it
has holdings of 75% or more file consolidated corporation tax returns.
The income tax expense is calculated as the tax payable with respect to the taxable profit for the year, after
considering any changes in the assets and liabilities recognized arising from temporary differences and from tax credit and
tax loss carry forwards.
We consider that a timing difference exists when there is a difference between the carrying amount of an asset or
liability and its tax base. The tax base for assets and liabilities is treated as the amount attributed to it for tax purposes. A
taxable timing difference is understood to be a difference that will generate a future obligation for us to pay taxes to the
related tax authorities. A deductible timing difference is one that will generate a right for us to a refund or to make a lower
payment to the related tax authorities in the future.
Tax credits and deductions and tax loss carry forwards are amounts that, after performance of the activity or
obtainment of the profit or loss giving entitlement to them, are not used for tax purposes in the related tax return until the
conditions for doing so established in tax regulations are met, provided that we consider it probable that they will be used in
future periods.
Current tax assets and liabilities are the taxes that are expected to be recoverable from or payable to the related tax
authorities within twelve months from the date they are recognized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the taxes that are
expected to be recoverable from or payable to the related tax authorities in future years.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. In this regard, a deferred tax liability is
recognized for the taxable timing differences resulting from investments in subsidiary companies and associate companies,
and from holdings in joint ventures, except when we can control the reversal of the timing differences and they are not
expected to be reversed in the foreseeable future.
The consolidated companies only recognize deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences and
from tax credit and tax loss carry forwards to the extent that it is probable that they will have sufficient future taxable profits
against which these assets can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
(other than in a business combination) that at the time of recognition affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit. The
deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized are reassessed each year in order to ascertain whether they still exist, and the
appropriate adjustments are made on the basis of the findings of the analyses performed.
Consolidated profit for the year attributable to non-controlling interests
Our consolidated results include entities in which we have a non-controlling interest. See note 13 to our consolidated
financial statements for the financial years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, included elsewhere in this annual
report for a description of the entities in which we had a non-controlling interest during the period.
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Principal Segmental Account Items
Net turnover
Net turnover refers to the incomes related to the sale of components and the services provided to OEMs in the
normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other recoverable sales-related taxes.
Other operating (expenses)/ income, net
Other operating (expenses)/income, net refers to and includes all expenses necessary to produce the goods sold and
the services provided to our customers, excluding financial expenses, impairments on assets and results coming from asset
disposals.
EBITDA
For segmental purposes, EBITDA is operating profit before depreciation and amortization expenses.
Depreciation and amortization
Refers to the amount recognized in our income statement under this concept reflecting the loss of value of the
tangible and intangible assets on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.
Operating Profit/(loss) (EBIT)
It is the difference between the net turnover and other operating (expenses)/income, net.
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Results of Operations of our Business

Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to year ended December 31, 2017
Group results of operations
The table below sets out our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2017.
Year ended December 31,
2017
(restated
%
2017
IFRS 15)
2018 change
(audited, in millions of €)

Consolidated Income Statement of Profit or Loss Data:
Revenue .................................................................................................................................. 5,036.7 5,391.4 5,424.6
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress ........................................
8.4
8.4
0.5
Capital grants and other grants taken to income ..................................................................
0.9
0.9
0.7
Other operating income .........................................................................................................
174.5
109.5
98.0
Total operating income ....................................................................................................... 5,220.5 5,510.3 5,523.8
Supplies .................................................................................................................................. (3,275.6) (3,565.3) (3,597.8)
Staff costs ...............................................................................................................................
(884.7)
(884.7)
(968.8)
Depreciation and amortization expenses ..............................................................................
(174.7)
(174.7)
(195.0)
Change in trade provisions ....................................................................................................
1.0
1.0
0.3
Other operating expenses ......................................................................................................
(718.3)
(718.3)
(734.1)
Less-Own work capitalized ...................................................................................................
122.8
122.8
132.5
Profit for the year from continuing operations ...............................................................
291.0
291.0
160.9
Finance income ......................................................................................................................
2.9
2.9
1.6
Finance costs ..........................................................................................................................
(66.8)
(66.8)
(59.7)
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial instruments ..............................................................
(2.0)
(2.0)
—
Exchange differences .............................................................................................................
(23.9)
(23.9)
(6.1)
Net finance income/(cost) ....................................................................................................
(89.8)
(89.8)
(64.2)
Net impairment loss on non-current assets ..........................................................................
(56.5)
(56.5)
(17.5)
Gain/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets .....................................................................
(0.9)
(0.9)
(0.4)
Gains/(losses) on the loss of significant influence over consolidated investments ...........
(0.2)
(0.2)
—
Profit of companies consolidated using the equity method.................................................
3.3
3.3
2.6
Profit before taxes ................................................................................................................
146.9
146.9
81.4
Corporate income tax.............................................................................................................
(37.4)
(37.4)
(27.7)
Profit after tax for the year from discontinued operations ..................................................
148.8
148.8
—
Consolidated profit for the twelve month period............................................................
258.3
258.3
53.8
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests .....................................................................
(16.2)
(16.2)
(6.5)
Profit attributable to the Parent ........................................................................................
242.1
242.1
47.2

0.6
(93.7)
(23.7)
(10.5)
0.2
0.9
9.5
11.6
(63.7)
2.2
7.9
(44.7)
(44.3)
(10.6)
n.a.
(74.3)
(28.5)
(69.0)
(61.2)
n.a.
(21.5)
(44.6)
(26.0)
n.a.
(79.2)
(59.6)
(80.5)

Revenue
Revenue increased by €33.2 million, or 0.6%, to €5,424.6 million in 2018 from €5,391.4 million in 2017. The
increase in revenue was primarily attributable to the strong performance of our products in the North America and APAC
regions (with 7.6% and 20.9% increases respectively, equivalent to € 136.7 million and € 107.0 6 million) primarily
attributable to the Doors and Cockpits & Consoles Business Units. Europe was the only geographic market where Revenues
declined (by 7.3%, or € 216.7m), principally due to German sales impacted by WLTP and the downsizing of the Rastatt
facility linked to Daimler projects, as well as continued UK sales weakness The negative effect of exchange rates with the US
Dollar and Mexican peso jointly represented approximately € 101.9 million of lower Revenue.
In terms of Business Units, growth was driven by all segments except for the Headliners Business Unit. Our Doors
segment saw an increase of 3.2% or €58.2 million, our Lighting segment experienced an increase of 7.6% or €24.6 million
and our Cockpits segment grew sales by 1.6% or € 17.7 million. These increases were partially offset by the negative sales
evolution in our Headliners segment (a decrease of 3.2% or € 67.9 million) primarily attributable to the planned closure of
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Rastatt and lower sales in Germany and the UK. Overall, the negative effect of exchange rates has represented approximately
€ 137.5 million of lower Revenue.
Other operating income
Other operating income decreased by €11.5 million, or 10.5% to €98.0 million in 2018 from €109.5 million in 2017.
This increase was primarily due to a decrese in other revenues for various services billed to clients.
Supplies
Supplies increased by €32.6 million, or 0.9%, to €3,597.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€3,565.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in supplies was primarily attributable to increased
revenues and the introduction of projects with higher costs of materials and components, primarily projects in our Cockpits
segment. As a result, cost of supplies as percentage of revenue has increased slightly from 66.1% in the year ended December
31, 2017 to 66.3% in the year ended December 31, 2018.
Staff costs
Staff costs increased by €84.1 million, or 9.5%, to €968.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€884.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in staff costs was primarily attributable to new companies,
new project launches and increased activity at TCOs.
EBITDA
EBITDA decreased by €109.8 million, or 23.6%, to €355.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€465.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in EBITDA was attributable to sales declines in Europe as
well as new facilities and launch costs across Europe and USA that impacted Staff costs and Supplies, and the negative effect
of exchange rates (representing approximately €12.9 million of lower EBITDA).
EBITDA margin was 6.6% in the year ended December 31, 2018, compared to 8.6% in the year ended December
31, 2017. Not considering IFRS 15, EBITDA margin for the year ended December 31, 2018 would have been 7.10%,
compared to 9.25% in the year ended December 31, 2017.
EBITDA decreased by €109.8 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2018. Of this decline, € 61.7
million (56.2%) occurred in the three months ended March 31, 2018 as new facilities and products were launched.
Specifically, regarding the twelve months ended December 31, 2018 the main impacts were:
1.

2.

3.

The launch of 6 new facilities (Alabama, Bratislava, Chengdu, Shelby, Spartanburg Assembly and Tianjin)
has had an approximately € 4.3 million higher EBITDA in the three months ending December 31, 2018
compared to € 13.0 million negative effect on EBITDA in the first quarter of 2018, € 1.2 million negative
effect in the second quarter of 2018 and € 3.0 million higher EBITDA in the third quarter of 2018.
In the first quarter of 2018 the Group launched 32 new projects, a 68.4% increase compared to the projects
launched in the three months ended March 31, 2017, in the second quarter of 2018 the Group launched 41
new projects for revenues 133% higher than those linked to projects launched in the three months ended
June 30, 2017, in the third quarter of 2018 the Group has launched 44 new projects for revenues 43%
higher than those linked to projects launched in the three months ended September 30, 2017. Finally, in the
fourth quarter of 2018 the Group launched 40 new projects a 17.6% increase compared to the projects
launched in the three months ended December 31, 2017. These new launches have had a more significant
impact on 5 of our European facilities (Bamberg, Ebergassing, Hungary, Straubing and Turnov) as well as
in Saltillo (Mexico). Combined, new launches had a € 7.5 million higher EBITDA in the three months
ending December 31, 2018 compared to € 14.2 lower EBITDA in the first quarter of 2018, € 0.3 million
negative effect in the second quarter of 2018 and € 0.8 million lower EBITDA in the three months ending
September 30, 2018.
General underperformance in our Kentucky headliners facility continued throughout 2018 as VW “Atlas”,
Ford “Expedition” and BMW “X3” ramped up production. This combined with launch costs in our
Michigan headliners facility linked to Dodge “Ram” and Hyundai “Santa Fe” have represented
approximately € 4.6 million higher EBITDA in the three months ending December 31, 2018 compared to
€ 10.6 million of lower EBITDA in the firest quarter of 2018, € 8.4 million negative effect in the second
quarter and € 9.6 million lower EBITDA in the third quarter of the year.
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4.

The € 182.2 million decline in UK sales in the twelve months ending December 31, 2018, linked mainly to
lower JLR sales volumes, has represented approximately € 8.1 million in decreased EBITDA in the first
quarter of 2018, € 5.8 million negative EBITDA effect in the second quarter, € 2.5 million lower EBITDA
in the third quarter and € 8.1 million lower EBITDA in the final quarter of 2018.

Depreciation and amortization expenses
Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by €20.3 million, or 11.6%, to €195.0 million in the year ended
December 31, 2018 from €174.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in depreciation and amortization
expense was primarily due to tangible and intangible assets linked to new programs.
Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses increased by €15.8 million, or 2.2%, to €734.1 million in the year ended December 31,
2018 from €718.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in other operating expenses was mainly
attributable to the launch of 6 new facilities as well as product launch costs due to the significant number of new projects
launched in the twelve months ended December 31, 2018.
Profit for the year from continuing operations
Profit for the year from continuing operations decreased by €130.0 million, or 44.7%, to €160.9 million in the year
ended December 31, 2018 from €291.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in profit for the year from
continuing operations was primarily attributable to increased personnel costs and depreciation and amortization expenses
linked to launch costs.
Net finance income/(cost)
Net finance cost decreased by €25.5 million, or 28.5%, to €64.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€89.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in net finance cost was primarily attributable to The
decrease in net finance cost was primarily attributable to lower finance costs after the issuance of the 2026 Notes, the
Amendment of the SFA and the signing of the EIB Facility offsetting exchange differences.
Net impairment loss on non-current assets decreased by €39.0 million to €17.5 million in the year ended December
31, 2018 from €56.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The net impairment loss on non-current assets consisted
of impairment losses of €6.6 million on goodwill primarily attributable to Bamberg, Chakan, Irauto and Antolin Interiors UK,
and €10.9 million on other assets primarily consisting of assets related to certain projects located in several companies such
as Ebergasing, Bohemia, Aragusa and Iramec.
Corporate income tax
Corporate income tax decreased by €9.7 million, or 26.0%, to €27.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2018
from €37.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in corporate income tax was primarily attributable to
the decrease in profit before tax.
Consolidated profit for the year
Consolidated profit for the year decreased by €204.5 million, or 79.2%, to €53.8 million in the year ended
December 31, 2018 from €258.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease was primarily attributable to the
divestiture of the Seating Business Unit in April 2017 which generated a profit before tax of € 140.9 million and decreased
profit after tax in the twelve months ending December 31, 2018.
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Segment Results of Operations
Headliners

2017

Description:
Net turnover ................................................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ...................................................................
EBITDA .....................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization ..................................................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ...............................................................................

Year ended
December 31,
2017 (restated
IFRS 15)
(in million as of €)

2,043.6
(1,853.0)
190.6
(45.2)
145.5

2,128.4
(1,937.8)
190.6
(45.2)
145.5

2018

% change

2,060.5
(1,957.3)
103.2
(50.7)
52.5

(3.2)
1.0
(45.8)
12.3
(63.9)

Net turnover. Net turnover decreased by €67.9 million, or 3.2%, to €2,060.5 million in the year ended
December 31, 2018 from €2,128.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in net turnover was primarily
attributable to the projected closure of the Rastatt facility (serving Daimler) and underperformance in our European facilities
located in Germany (Volkswagen) and the UK (JLR), as well as in Michigan (FCA). This decrease was partially offset by
increased sales in our facilities located in Austria (BMW and Audi), Czech Republic (VW Group) and Slovakia (German
OEMs). We estimate that the overall effect of the currency fluctuations is approximately €55.4 million in decreased sales in
the year ended December 31, 2018.
Other operating (expenses)/income, net. Net operating expenses increased by €19.5 million, or 1.0%, to €1,957.3
million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from €1,937.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in
net operating expenses was primarily attributable to a increased launch costs.
EBITDA. EBITDA decreased by €87.4 million, or 45.8%, to €103.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2018
from €190.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in EBITDA was primarily attributable to decreased
revenues, increased costs in trunk trim projects in Hungary (Daimler and JLR), Alabama (Daimler) and Spartanburg (BMW),
underperformance in Kentucky (serving Daimler and BMW) and Slovakia and the planned closure of the Rastatt facility to be
completed in 2020. EBITDA margin decreased to 5.0% for the year ended December 31, 2018 from 9.0% for the year ended
December 31, 2017.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by €5.6 million, or 12.3%, to
€50.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from €45.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in
depreciation and amortization was primarily attributable to new project launches.
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT). Operating profit decreased by €93.0 million, or 63.9%, to €52.5 million in the year
ended December 31, 2018 from €145.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in operating profit was
primarily attributable to the decrease in EBITDA.
Doors

2017

Description:
Net turnover .....................................................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ........................................................................
EBITDA ..........................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .......................................................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ....................................................................................

Year ended
December 31,
2017 (restated
IFRS 15)
(in millions of €)

1,632.4
(1,431.3)
201.1
(52.2)
148.9

1,828.3
(1,627.1)
201.1
(52.2)
148.9

2018

1,886.5
(1,682.9)
203.6
(59.3)
144.3

%
change

3.2
3.4
1.2
13.6
(3.1)

Net turnover. Net turnover increased by €58.2 million, or 3.2%, to €1,886.5 million in the year ended December 31,
2018 from €1,828.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in net turnover was primarily attributable to
the favorable evolution of the market in NAFTA, specifically the launch of the Dodge “Ram” in Shelby and continued
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success of the Dodge “Journey” in Toluca and to the positive launch of the Chengdu facility (linked to Volvo projects) in
China, which compensated the sales declines in our UK facilities linked to JLR models and in France (Renault Group). The
overall currency effect has been estimated at approximately € 56.4 million in decreased sales
Other operating (expenses)/income, net. Net operating expenses increased by €55.7 million, or 3.4%, to
€1,682.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from €1,627.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The
increase in net operating expenses was primarily attributable to the increase in revenues and the launch of the new Shelby,
Spartanburg Assembly (BMW “X5/X6”, Volvo “S60”) and Chengdu facilities.
EBITDA. EBITDA increased by €2.5 million, or 1.2%, to € 203.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€201.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. EBITDA margin decreased, to 10.8% in 2018 from 11.0% in 2017. The
decrease in EBITDA margin was primarily attributable to the launch of the new Spartanburg Assembly and continued
underperformance at Spartanburg Doors (principally BMW).
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by €7.1 million, or 13.6%, to €59.3 million
in the year ended December 31, 2018 from €52.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in depreciation
and amortization was primarily attributable to new project launches.
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT). Operating profit decreased by €4.6 million, or 3.1%, to €144.3 million in the year
ended December 31, 2018 from €148.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in operating profit was
primarily attributable to the increase in Depreciation and Amortization.
Cockpits

2017

Description:
Net turnover ...............................................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ...................................................................
EBITDA.....................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization ..................................................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ...............................................................................

Year ended December 31,
2017 (restated
IFRS 15)
2018
(in millions of €)

1,039.8
(962.9)
76.9
(28.4)
48.5

1,107.8
(1,030.9)
76.9
(28.4)
48.5

% change

1,125.5
(1,036.2)
89.3
(36.1)
53.2

1.6
0.5
16.1
27.0
9.7

Net turnover. Net turnover increased by €17.7 million, to €1,125.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2018
from €1,107.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in net turnover was primarily attributable to
successful launches in Changshu (JLR, Volvo and Geely models) and Tianjin (Geely) in China and Howell (Ford and GM) in
the USA that compensated decreased sales in Redditch (principally JLR models) and Nashville (Cadillac “CTS” and GMC
“Acadia”). The estimate of the overall effect of currency fluctuations is approximately €23.6 million in decreased sales.
Other operating (expenses)/income, net. Net operating expenses increased by €5.4 million, to €1,036.2 million in the
year ended December 31, 2018 from €1,030.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in net operating
expenses was primarily attributable to an increase in revenue.
EBITDA. EBITDA increased by €12.4 million, to €89.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from a
€76.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in EBITDA was primarily attributable to successful
launches in Howell that compensated the Tianjin launch costs. The EBITDA margin has increased to 7.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2018 from 6.9% for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by €7.7 million, to €36.1 million in the
year ended December 31, 2018 from €28.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in depreciation and
amortization was primarily attributable to new project launches.
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT). Operating profit increased by €4.7 million, to €53.2 million in the year ended
December 31, 2018 from €48.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in operating profit was primarily
attributable to higher EBITDA.
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Lighting
Year ended December 31,
2017 (restated
2017
IFRS 15)
2018
(in millions of €)

Description:
Net turnover ....................................................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ........................................................................
EBITDA ..........................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .......................................................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ....................................................................................

318.3
(259.9)
58.5
(16.6)
41.8

324.5
(266.0)
58.5
(16.6)
41.8

% change

349.1
(287.1)
62.0
(18.7)
43.3

7.6
7.9
6.0
12.3
3.5

Net turnover. Net turnover increased by €24.6 million, or 7.6%, to €349.1 million in the year ended December 31,
2018 from €324.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in net turnover was primarily attributable to the
increased sales in our facilities located in Bamberg (Geman OEMs) and Guangzhou (Honda and FCA).
Other operating (expenses)/income, net. Net operating expenses increased by €21.1 million, or 7.9%, to
€287.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from €266.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase
in net operating expenses was primarily attributable to higher purchased content and launch costs at our European facilities.
EBITDA. EBITDA increased by €3.5 million, or 6.0%, to €62.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from
€58.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in EBITDA was primarily attributable to successful
launches in Bamberg. EBITDA margin decreased to 17.8% in 2018 from 18.0% in 2017.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by €2.1 million, or 12.3%, to
€18.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2018 from €16.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in
depreciation and amortization was primarily attributable to the increase of amortization of capitalized development
investments.
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT). Operating profit increased by €1.5 million, or 3.5%, to €43.3 million in the year
ended December 31, 2018 from €41.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in operating profit was
primarily attributable to the increase in EBITDA.

Year ended December 31, 2017 compared to year ended December 31, 2016
Group results of operations
The table below sets out our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to the year
ended December 31, 2016.
Year ended December 31,
2016
(adjusted for the
Divestment)
2017
% change
(unaudited)
(audited)
(in millions of €)

Consolidated Income Statement of Profit or Loss Data:
Revenue .........................................................................................................................................
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress................................................
Capital grants and other grants taken to income .........................................................................
Other operating income ................................................................................................................
Total operating income ..............................................................................................................
Supplies..........................................................................................................................................
Staff costs ......................................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization expenses .....................................................................................
Change in trade provisions ...........................................................................................................
Other operating expenses..............................................................................................................
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4,982.5
(9.9)
1.2
149.0
5,122.8
(3,225.8)
(822.3)
(170.5)
(7.3)
(697.3)

5,036.7
8.4
0.9
174.5
5,220.5
(3,275.6)
(884.7)
(174.7)
1.0
(718.3)

1.1
n.a.
(25.0)
17.1
1.9
1.5
7.6
2.5
n.a.
3.0

Less-Own work capitalized ..........................................................................................................
Profit for the year from continuing operations ......................................................................
Finance income .............................................................................................................................
Finance costs .................................................................................................................................
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial instruments .....................................................................
Impairments and losses on disposal of non-current financial assets .........................................
Exchange differences ....................................................................................................................
Net finance income/(cost) ...........................................................................................................
Net impairment loss on non-current assets ..................................................................................
Gain/(loss) on disposals of non-current assets ............................................................................
Gains/(losses) on the loss of significant influence over consolidated investments ..................
Profit of companies consolidated using the equity method ........................................................
Impairment and gains/(losses) on the loss of significant influence over investees accounted
for using the equity method .....................................................................................................
Profit before taxes .......................................................................................................................
Corporate income tax ....................................................................................................................
Profit after tax for the year from discontinued operations .........................................................
Consolidated profit for the twelve month period ...................................................................
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests ............................................................................
Profit attributable to the Parent ...............................................................................................

91.6
291.2
4.1
(66.3)
0.6
(0.3)
10.1
(51.8)
(10.4)
(1.5)
9.7
4.0

122.8
291.0
2.9
(66.8)
(2.0)
—
(23.9)
(89.8)
(56.5)
(0.9)
(0.2)
3.3

(7.0)
234.2
(79.7)
40.2
194.7
(17.0)
177.6

—
146.9
(37.4)
148.8
258.3
(16.2)
242.1

34.1
(0.1)
(29.3)
0.8
n.a.
n.a.
n.a.
73.4
n.a.
(40.0)
n.a.
(17.5)
n.a.
(37.3)
(53.1)
n.a.
32.7
(4.7)
36.3

Revenue
Revenue increased by €54.2 million, or 1.1%, to €5,036.7 million in 2017 from €4,982.5 million in 2016. The
increase in revenue was primarily attributable to the strong performance of our products in the APAC, North America and
Mercosur regions (with 19.5%, 1.5% and 29.3% increases respectively, equivalent to €79.6 million, €25.6 million (primarily
attributable to an €81.8 million contribution to revenue from our new plant in Tlaxcala, Mexico and partly due to a 4%
increase due to exchange rate fluctuations), and €18.4 million increases), slightly offset by declining revenues in Europe
(down 2.6% or €70.9 million) and the appreciation of the Euro (representing €103.7 million in decreased sales).
In terms of business segments, growth was driven by our Doors segment (an increase of 11.2% or €164.5 million)
and our Lighting segment (an increase of 16.9% or €45.9 million). This increase was partially offset by the negative sales
evolution in our Headliners segment (a decrease of 4.7% or €101.1 million) and in our Cockpits segment (a decrease of 5.1%
or €55.9 million), both primarily attributable to a weaker sales position in the second half of the financial year ending in
December 31, 2017. Regarding change in Group perimeter, activities in Grupo Antolin-Illinois, Inc., Antolin Massen, GmbH
- Roitzsch, and Antolin Interiors USA, Inc. – Benzonia, were discontinued by December 2016 – revenue from these
discontinued operations amounted to €161.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Other operating income
Other operating income increased by €25.5 million, or 17.1% to €174.5 million in 2017 from €149.0 million in
2016. This increase was primarily due to increased revenues on the sale of project tools, which increased by €36.0 million, or
124.1%, to €65.0 million in 2017 from €29.0 million in 2016. This increase was primarily due to an increase in our
investments. We record the revenue arising from the sale of these tools upon technical approval of the tools and transfer of
title to the customer or upon the commencement of the mass production of the products with these tools.
Supplies
Supplies increased by €49.8 million, or 1.5%, to €3,275.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 from
€3,225.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in supplies was primarily attributable to increased
revenues and the introduction of projects with higher costs of materials and components, primarily projects in our Cockpits
segment. As a result, cost of supplies as percentage of revenue has increased slightly from 64.7% in the year ended December
31, 2016 to 65.0% in the year ended December 31, 2017.
Staff costs
Staff costs increased by €62.4 million, or 7.6%, to €884.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 from €822.3
million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in staff costs was primarily attributable to new companies, new
project launches and increased activity at TCOs.
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EBITDA
EBITDA increased by €4.0 million, or 0.9%, to €465.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 from €461.7
million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in EBITDA was attributable to increased revenue that offset the
negative effect of exchange rates (representing approximately €10.1 million of lower EBITDA).
EBITDA margin was 9.2% in the year ended December 31, 2017, compared to 9.3% in the year ended December
31, 2016.
Depreciation and amortization expenses
Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by €4.2 million, or 2.5%, to €174.7 million in the year ended
December 31, 2017 from €170.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in depreciation and amortization
expense was primarily due to tangible and intangible assets linked to new programs.
Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses increased by €21.0 million, or 3.0%, to €718.3 million in the year ended December 31,
2017 from €697.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in other operating expenses was mainly
attributable to new project launches and launch costs, principally in facilities in Shelby and Alabama (USA) and Tianjin
(China).
Profit for the year from continuing operations
Profit for the year from continuing operations decreased by €0.2 million, or 0.1%, to €291.0 million in the year
ended December 31, 2017 from €291.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in profit for the year from
continuing operations was primarily attributable to increased personnel costs linked to launch costs.
Net finance income/(cost)
Net finance cost increased by €38.0 million, or 73.4%, to €89.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 from
€51.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in net finance cost was primarily attributable to negative
exchange differences as a result of the changes in the value of certain currencies such as USD, MXP, Brazilian Real and
RMB.
Net impairment loss on non-current assets increased by €46.1 million to €56.5 million in the year ended December
31, 2017 from €10.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in net impairment loss on non-current assets
consisted of impairment losses of €35.5 million on goodwill primarily attributable to Ebergassing, Bury, Silesia and Tranava,
and €21.0 million on other assets primarily consisting of assets related to certain projects located in several companies such
as Interiors USA (Spartanburg), Valplas, Aragusa, Navarra, Cambrai, Bratislava and Besançon.
Corporate income tax
Corporate income tax decreased by €42.3 million, or 53.1%, to €37.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017
from €79.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in corporate income tax was primarily attributable to
the decrease in profit before tax.
Consolidated profit for the year
Consolidated profit for the year increased by €63.6 million, or 32.7%, to €258.3 million in the year ended
December 31, 2017 from €194.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase was primarily attributable to the
divestment of our Seating segment.
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Segment Results of Operations
Headliners
Year ended
December 31,
2016
(adjusted for the
Divestment and
Allocation)
2017
(in million as of €)

Description:
Net turnover .........................................................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ............................................................................
EBITDA ..............................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization ...........................................................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ........................................................................................

2,144.7
(1,913.2)
231.5
(46.2)
185.4

2,043.6
(1,853.0)
190.6
(45.2)
145.5

% change

(4.7)
(3.1)
(17.7)
(2.2)
(21.5)

Net turnover. Net turnover decreased by €101.1 million, or 4.7%, to €2,043.6 million in the year ended
December 31, 2017 from €2,144.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in net turnover was primarily
attributable to underperformance in our European facilities located in Austria (serving principally the BMW Mini), Germany
(Volkswagen), as well as in Michigan (FCA), Wayne (Ford), Missouri (Ford and General Motors) and the projected closure
of the Roitzsch facility. This decrease was partially offset by increased sales in our facilities located in Kentucky (Ford). We
estimate that the overall effect of the currency fluctuations is approximately €22.9 million in decreased sales in the year
ended December 31, 2017.
Other operating (expenses)/income, net. Net operating expenses decreased by €60.2 million, or 3.1%, to €1,853.0
million in the year ended December 31, 2017 from €1,913.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in
net operating expenses was primarily attributable to a decrease in sales.
EBITDA. EBITDA decreased by €40.9 million, or 17.7%, to €190.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017
from €231.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in EBITDA was primarily attributable to decreased
revenues and increased launch costs in our facilities located in Spartanburg (USA) (Volkswagen “Atlas”) and a decrease in
sales in our facilities located in Germany (Volkswagen “Passat”) and Austria (BMW “Mini”). EBITDA margin decreased to
9.3% for the year ended December 31, 2017 from 10.8% for the year ended December 31, 2016.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization decreased by €1.0 million, or 2.2%, to €45.2 million
in the year ended December 31, 2017 from €46.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in depreciation
and amortization was primarily attributable to foreign exchange impact.
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT). Operating profit decreased by €39.9 million, or 21.5%, to €145.5 million in the year
ended December 31, 2017 from €185.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in operating profit was
primarily attributable to the decrease in EBITDA.
Doors
Year ended
December 31,
2016
(adjusted for the
Divestment and
Allocation)
2017
(in millions of €)

Description:
Net turnover .......................................................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..........................................................................
EBITDA ............................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .........................................................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ......................................................................................
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1,467.9
(1,242.5)
225.4
(49.3)
176.1

1,632.4
(1,431.3)
201.1
(52.2)
148.9

% change

11.2
15.2
(10.8)
5.9
(15.4)

Net turnover. Net turnover increased by €164.5 million, or 11.2%, to €1,632.4 million in the year ended
December 31, 2017 from €1,467.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in net turnover was primarily
attributable to the favorable evolution of the market in North America and Europe, linked to the numerous projects which
entered into production phase, such as the “VW Tiguan” in Tlaxcala and “Dodge JC49” in Toluca. To a lesser extent, the
increase reflected the positive performance of the European market linked to PSA, BMW and Alfa Romeo programs. The
estimate of the overall effect of currency fluctuations is approximately €43.6 million in decreased sales.
Other operating (expenses)/income, net. Net operating expenses increased by €188.8 million, or 15.2%, to
€1,431.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 from €1,242.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. This
increase was primarily attributable to a slower than expected ramp up of the Jeep Cherokee project for FCA in Illinois as well
as production ramp ups in Shelby (USA), Massen (Germany) and Trnava (Slovakia).
EBITDA. EBITDA decreased by €24.3 million, or 10.8%, to 201.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2017
from €225.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. EBITDA margin decreased, to 12.3% in 2017 from 15.4% in
2016. The decrease in EBITDA margin was primarily attributable to project ramp ups in Shelby (Dodge “Ram”), Germany
(BMW “5 Series GT”) and Mexico (FCA) as well as the phasing out of the Illinois facility (FCA).
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by €2.9 million, or 5.9%, to €52.2 million
in the year ended December 31, 2017 from €49.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in depreciation
and amortization was primarily attributable to new project launches.
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT). Operating profit decreased by €27.2 million, or 15.4%, to €148.9 million in the year
ended December 31, 2017 from €176.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in operating profit was
primarily attributable to the decrease in EBITDA.
Cockpits
Year ended December 31,
2016
(adjusted for
the
Divestment
and
Allocation)
2017
(in millions of €)

Description:
Net turnover ...........................................................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net ..............................................................................
EBITDA ................................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization .............................................................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) ..........................................................................................

1,095.7
(1,020.1)
75.6
(27.7)
47.9

1,039.8
(962.9)
76.9
(28.4)
48.5

% change

(5.1)
(5.6)
1.7
2.5
1.3

Net turnover. Net turnover decreased by €55.9 million, to €1,039.8 million in the year ended December 31, 2017
from €1,095.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in net turnover was primarily attributable to the
decrease in sales in our Redditch facilities linked to certain JLR models. The estimate of the overall effect of currency
fluctuations is approximately €33.7 million in decreased sales.
Other operating (expenses)/income, net. Net operating expenses decreased by €57.2 million, to €962.9 million in the
year ended December 31, 2017 from €1,020.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in net operating
expenses was primarily attributable to a decrease in revenue, as well as lower fixed costs and the impact of optimization
programs.
EBITDA. EBITDA increased by €1.3 million, to €76.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 from a
€75.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in EBITDA was primarily attributable to lower net
operating expenses. The EBITDA margin has increased to 7.4% for the year ended December 31, 2017 from 6.9% for the
year ended December 31, 2016.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by €0.7 million, to €28.4 million in the
year ended December 31, 2017 from €27.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in depreciation and
amortization was primarily attributable to new project launches.
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Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT). Operating profit increased by €0.6 million, to €48.5 million in the year ended
December 31, 2017 from €47.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in operating profit was primarily
attributable to higher EBITDA.
Lighting
Year ended December 31,
2016
(adjusted for
the Divestment
and Allocation)
2017
(in millions of €)

Description:
Net turnover ..............................................................................................................................
Other operating (expenses)/income, net .................................................................................
EBITDA ...................................................................................................................................
Depreciation and amortization ................................................................................................
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT) .............................................................................................

272.4
(219.2)
53.2
(14.0)
39.1

318.3
(259.9)
58.5
(16.6)
41.8

% change

16.9
18.6
10.0
18.6
6.9

Net turnover. Net turnover increased by €45.9 million, or 16.9%, to €318.3 million in the year ended December 31,
2017 from €272.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in net turnover was primarily attributable to the
increased sales in our facilities located in Beçanson (Renault-Nissan and PSA) and Guangzhou (Honda and FCA).
Other operating (expenses)/income, net. Net operating expenses increased by €40.7 million, or 18.6%, to
259.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 from €219.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase
in net operating expenses was primarily attributable to capacity and organizational shortages in Germany due to significant
recent growth with VW and BMW projects.
EBITDA. EBITDA increased by €5.3 million, or 10.0%, to €58.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2017
from €53.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in EBITDA was primarily attributable to increased
revenues with local OEMs at our Guangzhou and Beçanson facilities. EBITDA margin decreased to 18.4% in 2017 from
19.5% in 2016. The decrease in EBITDA margin was primarily attributable to the increase in operating expenses at our
Bamberg facility.
Depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased by €2.6 million, or 18.6%, to
€16.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017 from €14.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in
depreciation and amortization was primarily attributable to the increase of amortization of capitalized development
investments.
Operating profit/(loss) (EBIT). Operating profit increased by €2.7 million, or 6.9%, to €41.8 million in the year
ended December 31, 2017 from €39.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. The increase in operating profit was
primarily attributable to the increase in EBITDA.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Historical cash flows
The following tables set forth our historical cash flow items for the periods indicated:
Year ended December 31,
2016
(adjusted
for the
2016
Divestment)
2017
2018
(audited) (unaudited) (audited) (audited)
(in millions of €)

Consolidated Cash Flow Information
Cash flows from ordinary operating activities:
Consolidated profit for the year before taxes ..........................................................................
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization expenses ......................................................................................
Allocation to/(reversal of) current provisions ..............................................................................
Allocation to/(reversal of) non-current provisions ......................................................................
Capital grants and other grants taken to income ..........................................................................
Finance income and expense .........................................................................................................
Net impairment loss on non-current assets ...................................................................................
Gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets ...............................................................................
Change in fair value of financial instruments ..............................................................................
Impairments and losses on disposal of non-current financial assets ..........................................
Gains/(Losses) on the loss of significant influence over consolidated investments ..................
Profit of companies accounted for using the equity method .......................................................
Impairments and losses due to loss of significant influence over companies accounted for
using the equity method ............................................................................................................
Operating profit before movements in working capital ........................................................
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables.......................................................................
(Increase)/decrease in inventories .................................................................................................
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables ...........................................................................
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities .............................................................................
Payments of provisions ..................................................................................................................
Unrealized exchange differences and other items........................................................................
Cash generated from operations................................................................................................
Corporate income tax paid.............................................................................................................
Net cash generated by/(used in) operating activities ..............................................................
Cash flows from investing activities:
Dividends received .......................................................................................................................
Proceeds from disposal of investments in:
Intangible assets .............................................................................................................................
Associated companies ....................................................................................................................
Group Companies, net of cash in consolidated companies .........................................................
Property, plant and equipment ......................................................................................................
Financial assets ...............................................................................................................................
Payments for investments in:
Associates .......................................................................................................................................
Group companies net of the cash of business combinations .......................................................
Property, plant and equipment ......................................................................................................
Intangible assets .............................................................................................................................
Investment property .......................................................................................................................
Non-current financial assets ..........................................................................................................
Current financial assets ..................................................................................................................
Non-current assets held for sale ....................................................................................................
Net cash generated by/(used in) investing activities ...............................................................
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from/(payments for) equity instruments:
Acquisition of non-controlling interest’s shares ..........................................................................
Returns to non-controlling interests ..............................................................................................
Proceeds from/(payments for) financial liabilities:
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281.5

234.2

146.9

81.4

181.9
31.2
47.7
(1.5)
52.4
10.4
1.5
(0.5)
0.3
(9.7)
(4.0)

170.5
31.2
47.7
(1.2)
52.1
10.4
1.6
(0.6)
0.3
(9.7)
(4.0)

174.7
7.7
15.0
(0.9)
87.8
56.5
0.9
2.0
—
0.2
(3.3)

195.0
16.8
14.5
(0.7)
64.2
17.5
0.4
—
—
—
(2.6)

7.0
598.2
(106.4)
(167.9)
223.8
24.1
(21.7)
(22.5)
527.5
(104.6)
423.0

7.0
539.5
(107.7)
(161.3)
218.8
29.1
(20.1)
(22.5)
475.8
(96.1)
379.7

—
487.5
(27.5)
(123.8)
10.6
8.4
(23.1)
13.4
345.5
(112.4)
233.1

—
386.5
114.8
(5.7)
(71.6)
(12.2)
(25.4)
(2.1)
384.2
(21.8)
362.4

2.0

2.0

1.0

0.8

2.9
28.9
22.7
4.1
0.8

2.5
28.9
22.7
3.5
0.8

3.2
—
—
10.0
3.6

15.6
—
—
2.1
2.5

(0.7)
(61.4)
(194.2)
(91.0)
—
—
(0.3)
—
(286.2)

(0.7)
(61.4)
(183.0)
(81.4)
—
—
(0.3)
—
(266.4)

—
(8.8)
(208.1)
(125.3)
—
—
(0.7)
—
(325.2)

(6.2)
(8.7)
(185.4)
(135.0)
—
(0.8)
(0.8)
—
(315.9)

—
(8.5)

—
(10.5)

—
(7.7)

(1.5)
(5.7)

Issue of bonds and syndicated loan, nominal ...............................................................................
Early redemption of bonds ............................................................................................................
Repayment of syndicated loan ......................................................................................................
Repayment of loan “RDI & CONVERGENCE” Project ............................................................
Proceeds from/(repayment of) other bank borrowings, net .........................................................
Proceeds from/(repayment of) other financial liabilities, net ......................................................
Other cash flows from financing activities:
Finance income and expense paid, net .........................................................................................
Dividends paid and payments on other equity instruments .........................................................
Net cash generated by/(used in) financing activities...............................................................
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations ...........
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations .......
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year ...............................................................
Cash or cash equivalents at end of the year .............................................................................

—
—
(8.9)
(10.0)
(16.5)
(71.8)

—
—
(8.9)
(10.0)
(20.1)
(73.4)

400.0
(400.0)
(8.7)
(60.0)
(3.6)
(1.0)

400.0
(400.0)
(17.1)
—
38.3
(1.2)

(60.5)
(16.0)
(192.1)
(55.4)
—
361.9
306.5

(60.2)
(16.0)
(199.1)
(85.8)
30.4
361.9
306.5

(60.6)
(16.0)
(157.6)
(249.7)
277.1
306.5
333.9

(52.5)
(30.0)
(69.6)
(23.1)
—
333.9
310.8

Net cash generated by/(used in) operating activities
Our net cash generated by operating activities was €362.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily
attributable to a consolidated profit for the year before taxes of €81.4 million, depreciation and amortization expenses which
totaled €195.0 million, finance and income expenses of €64.2 million, payments of corporate income tax of €21.8 million and
a decrease in working capital of €25.2 million.
Our net cash generated by operating activities was €233.1 million in the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily
attributable to a consolidated profit for the year before taxes of €146.9 million, depreciation and amortization expenses which
totaled €174.7 million, finance and income expenses of €87.8 million, payments of corporate income tax of €112.4 million
and an increase in working capital of €132.3 million.
Our net cash generated by operating activities was €423.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2016, consisting
in part of a consolidated profit for the year before taxes of €281.5 million, depreciation and amortization expenses which
totaled €182.0 million, finance and income expenses of €52.4 million, payments of corporate income tax of €104.6 million
and an increase in working capital of €26.4 million.
Net cash generated by/(used in) investing activities
Our net cash used in investing activities was €315.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily
attributable to €185.4 million invested in property, plant and equipment, corresponding to (i) our new plants in Shelby and
Alabama (both United States), Tianjing A.A. Interiors (China) and (ii) investments in the expansion of existing facilities,
such as Silesia (Poland), Changshu (China), Kentucky (USA), and Spartanburg (USA). Furthermore, we had €135.0 million
invested in intangible assets in 2018, mainly due to certain new projects including Audi “AU516 IP” (Q6 e-Tron), BMW
“G05/G07 Luggage”, BMW “F40/44 Panel” (1 Series), Seat “SE 326 IP” (Ateca), BMW “G29”, Chrysler “FCA Panel”,
BMW “J29”. Payments for investments in Associates totaled €6.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2018 as a
result of the acquisitions of Walter Pack in an amount of €3.9 million and Slovakian Door Company in an amount of €2.3
million (increasing the participation in this company from 25% to 50%, although still remain as non controlling interest
shareholder). Payments for investments in Group companies totaled €8.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2018
principally as a result of the acquisition of Haselbeck for €6.6 million.
Our net cash used in investing activities was €325.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily
attributable to €208.1 million invested in property, plant and equipment, corresponding to (i) our new plant in Shelby,
(United States) and (ii) investments in the expansion of existing facilities, such as Tianjing A.A. Interiors (China), Silao,
S.A. de C.V. (Mexico), Kentucky (United States), Straubing (Germany), Int. Autom. I. Changshu (China), Int. A.I. Saltillo
(Mexico), Michigan (United States), Bamberg (Germany), Antolin Liban s.r.o. (Czech Republic), and in the Antolin
Interiors USA, Inc. facilities in Nashville (United States). Furthermore, we had €125.3 million invested in intangible assets in
2017, mainly due to certain new projects including “Chrysler FCA DT Panel”, “Audi AU516 IP”, “MAN NHMR IP”,
“BMW G1X Panel”, “Mercedes G class Instrument Panel”, “Audi Q8 Plastic part”, “Ford B515 Cockpit” “G29 J29
Instrument Panel”, and “BMW F40/44 Panel”. Payments for investments in Group companies totaled €8.8 million during the
year ended December 31, 2017 as a result of repayment of intercompany debt between the Group and the entities sold
pursuant to the Divestment.
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Our net cash used in investing activities was €286.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily
attributable to payments for investments in Group companies that totaled €61.4 million and payments for investments in
property, plant and equipment of €194.2 million (corresponding to our new plant in Tlaxcala (Mexico), as well as
investments in the expansion of existing facilities operated by Antolin-CIE Czech Republic, s.r.o. and Antolin Liban s.r.o.
(Liban), both in the Czech Republic; Antolin Interiors USA, Inc. (Spartanburg) and Antolin Interiors USA, Inc.
(Atreum-Howell); Grupo Antolin—Silao, S.A. de C.V. (Mexico); Grupo Antolin Besançon, S.A.S. (France) and Antolin
Ebergassing GmbH (Austria)). Proceeds from disposals of investments in associated companies during the year ended
December 31, 2016 totaled €28.9 million, mainly as a result of the sale of Company’s interest in Ningbo Antolin Huaxiang
Auto Parts Co., Ltd. and Yangzhou Antolin Huaxiang Auto Parts Co., Ltd. Proceeds from disposals of investments in Group
companies during the year ended December 31, 2016 totaled €22.7 million, mainly as a result of the sale of Company’s
interest in Antolin Burg Design GmbH.
Net cash generated by/(used in) financing activities
Our net cash used in financing activities was €69.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily
attributable to the € 400.0 million redemption of the 2022 Notes, offset by the combination of proceeds from the € 250
million issuance of 2026 Notes, the €100 million EIB Facility, the € 50 million increase in the Senior Facilities and € 38.3
million related to drawdowns of short credit facilities principally linked to Chinese Joint Ventures. Other net cash used in
financing activities includes € 52.5 million of interest payments and costs related to the 2022 Notes’ redemption, as well as
€ 17.1 million of scheduled repayments, principally of the Senior Facilities through the twelve month period. The € 30.0
million dividend payments reflects payments to our shareholders. In addition we had € 5.7 million dividend payments to
partners at our Turkish, Hungarian and US Joint Ventures, which are majority controlled by the Company and € 1.5 million
in acquisition of controlling interest in CIDUT (a Spanish tooling supplier acquired in June 2019).
Our net cash used in financing activities was €157.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily
attributable to the €400.0 million repayment of the 2021 Notes, offset by the proceeds from the 2024 Notes, the €60.0 million
repayment of the ADE Facility (“RDI & Convergence” loan) as a result of the divestiture of Seating and €60.6 million of
financial expenses.
Our net cash used in financing activities was €192.1 million the year ended December 31, 2016, primarily
attributable to repayments of other financial liabilities of €71.8 million primarily related to payables to the Magna
Automotive Group, €60.5 million of finance expenses and €35.4 million of scheduled loan and debt repayments.
Liquidity
Our principal source of liquidity is our operating cash flow, which is analyzed above. Our ability to generate cash
from our operations depends on our future operating performance, which is in turn dependent, to some extent, on general
economic, financial, competitive, market, regulatory and other factors, many of which are beyond our control, as well as
other factors.
As of December 31, 2018, the cash and bank balances and other liquid assets amounted to €310.8 million.
Additionally we had available revolving credit facilities totaling €252.2 million, of which €200.0 million correspond to the
revolving credit facility made available under the Senior Facilities Agreement and €52.2 million to other credit lines.
Although we believe that our expected cash flows from operations, together with available borrowings and cash on
hand, will be adequate to meet our anticipated liquidity and debt service needs, we cannot assure you that our business will
generate sufficient cash flows from operations or that future debt and equity financing will be available to us in an amount
sufficient to enable us to pay our debts when due or to fund our other liquidity needs.
We believe that the potential risks to our liquidity include:


a reduction in operating cash flows due to a lowering of operating profit from our operations, which could be
caused by a downturn in our performance or in the industry as a whole;



the failure or delay of our customers to make payments due to us;



a failure to maintain low working capital requirements; and
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the need to fund expansion and other development capital expenditures.

Our “free cash flow” for the year ended December 31, 2018, which we calculate by deducting from our EBITDA of
such period our capital expenditures, corporate income tax paid and changes in working capital, amounted to €90.7 million.
See “—Working Capital” and “—Capital Expenditures”.
If our future cash flows from operations and other capital resources (including borrowings under our current or any
future credit facility) are insufficient to pay our obligations as they mature or to fund our liquidity needs, we may be forced
to:


reduce or delay our business activities and capital expenditures;



sell our assets;



obtain additional debt or equity financing; or



restructure or refinance all or a portion of our debt on or before maturity.

We cannot assure you that we would be able to accomplish any of these alternatives on a timely basis or on
satisfactory terms, if at all. In addition, the terms of our existing indebtedness and any future debt may limit our ability to
pursue any of these alternatives.
In addition, we have paid dividends to our shareholders of €16 million in 2016, €16.0 million in 2017 and €30.0
million in 2018.
We are leveraged and have debt service obligations. As of December 31, 2018, we had loans and borrowings in an
aggregate amount of €1,214.0 million outstanding. These include (i) €650.0 million of 2024 Notes and 2026 Notes, (ii) €410.8
million of loans under the Senior Facility Agreement, (iii) € 100.0 million under the EIB Facility, (iv) € 9.6 million of other
bank loans, (v) €2.3 million of three different lease agreements, (vi) €49.7 million in drawn credit lines, (vi) €3.1 million in
accrued interest, (vii) less the financial re-measurements of €11.6 million.
Soft loans (which are either interest bearing or non-interest bearing) consist of (i) twelve soft loans for an aggregate
of €7.3 million granted by CDTI (Centro para el Desarrollo Tecnologico Industrial) and (ii) an aggregate of €15.6 million of
state subsidies granted by Spanish and Portuguese Ministries. See “Description of Indebtedness— Existing Debt Facilities”.
Working Capital
The following table sets forth changes to our working capital during the periods indicated:
As of December 31,
2016
(adjusted
for the
2016
Divestment)
2017
(audited) (unaudited)
(audited)
(in millions of €)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables..................................................................
(Increase)/decrease in inventories ............................................................................................
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets ..............................................................................
Increase/(decrease) in trade, sundry and other payables ........................................................
Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities ........................................................................
Total (increase)/decrease in working capital ......................................................................

(106.4)
(167.9)
—
223.8
24.1
(26.4)

(107.7)
(161.3)
—
218.8
29.1
(21.1)

(27.5)
(123.8)
—
10.6
8.4
(132.3)

2018
(audited)

114.8
(5.7)
—
(71.6)
(12.2)
25.2

Our working capital requirements largely arise from our trade receivables, which are primarily composed of
amounts owed to us by our customers, inventories primarily composed of materials (mainly textile fabric, plastic injection
grain, petroleum-based resins and certain metals, principally copper) and other current assets which comprise receivables
accounts with the public treasury by the advanced payments of taxes or refunds of taxes. Our trade payables primarily relate
to trade payables to our suppliers for materials, services and fixed assets, other amounts to the public treasury for taxes and
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payments to our employees by way of salaries. We have historically funded our working capital requirements through funds
generated from our operations, from borrowings under bank facilities and through funds from other finance sources.
Net working capital decreased by €25.2 million in 2018. This decrease was due to reduced tooling working capital
of €94.1 million, which was partially offset by a €17.1 million increase in operating working capital. In addition, there was an
increase of other receivables of €51.8 million mainly related to decreased VAT payables and other liabilities. Additionally, as
of December 31, 2018, we had non-recourse factoring in an amount of €72.4 million that reduced the outstanding Account
Receivables as rights were transferred to banks.
Net working capital increased by €132.3 million in 2017. This increase was due to tooling working capital of €80.9
million linked to new project launches, which was partially offset by a €25.1 million reduction in operating working capital.
In addition, there was an increase of other receivables of €76.5 million mainly related to corporate tax and VAT receivables.
Net working capital increased by €26.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2016 as a result of increased
activity. Trade and other receivables increased by €106.4 million and inventories increased by €167.9 million. This was
partially offset by a €223.8 increase in trade, sundry and other payables.
Our working capital requirements are mainly related to our inventories as the degree of vertical integration in our
company is high.
We anticipate that our working capital requirements in the foreseeable future will generally be stable as a percentage
of revenue. However, these requirements can fluctuate as a result of a variety of factors, including any significant increase in
receivables due to longer time periods to collect payment from our customers or a substantial increase in the cost of our
materials.
Capital Expenditures
The following table sets forth our cash used in investing activities for the periods indicated:

2016

Property, plant and equipment .............................................................................................
Intangible assets....................................................................................................................
Capital expenditures ..........................................................................................................
Associated companies ..........................................................................................................
Group companies ..................................................................................................................
Non-current financial assets.................................................................................................
Current financial assets ........................................................................................................
Non-current assets held for sale ..........................................................................................
Payments for investments ......................................................................................................

(194.2)
(91.0)
(285.2)
(0.7)
(61.4)
—
(0.3)
—
(347.6)

As of December 31,
2016
(adjusted
for the
Divestment)
2017
(in millions of €)

(183.0)
(81.4)
(264.4)
(0.7)
(61.4)
—
(0.3)
—
(326.7)

(208.1)
(125.3)
(333.4)
—
(8.8)
—
(0.6)
—
(342.9)

2018

(185.4)
(135.0)
(320.4)
(6.2)
(8.7)
(0.8)
(0.8)
—
(336.9)

Payments for investments during the financial years ended December 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018 totaled
€347.6 million, €342.9 million and €336.9 million, respectively. Our capital expenditure consists principally in expenditure
on development expenses, property, plant and equipment.
The main investments in property, plant and equipment in the year ended December 31, 2018 correspond to (i) our
new plants in Shelby and Alabama (both United States) and Tianjing A.A. Interiors (China) , as well as (ii) investments in the
expansion of existing facilities, such as Silesia (Poland), Changshu (China), Kentuky (USA), and Spartanburg (USA).
Investments in intangible assets in the year ended December 31, 2018 related mainly to development expenses on
certain new projects including Audi “AU516 IP” (Q6 e-Tron), BMW “G05/G07 Luggage”, BMW “F40/44 Panel” (1 Series),
Seat “SE 326 IP” (Ateca), BMW “G29”, Chrysler “FCA Panel”, BMW “J29”.
The main investments in property, plant and equipment in the year ended December 31, 2017 correspond to (i) our
new plant in Shelby, (United States) and (ii) investments in the expansion of existing facilities, such as Tianjing A.A.
Interiors (China), Silao, S.A. de C.V. (Mexico), Kentucky (United States), Straubing (Germany), Int. Autom. I. Changshu
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(China), Int. A.I. Saltillo (Mexico), Michigan (United States), Bamberg (Germany), Antolin Liban s.r.o. (Czech Republic),
and in the Antolin Interiors USA, Inc. facilities in Nashville (United States).
Investments in intangible assets in the year ended December 31, 2017 related mainly to development expenses on
certain new projects including “Chrysler FCA DT Panel”, “Audi AU516 IP”, “MAN NHMR IP”, “BMW G1X Panel”,
“Mercedes G class Instrument Panel”, “Audi Q8 Plastic part”, “Ford B515 Cockpit” “G29 J29 Instrument Panel”, and “BMW
F40/44 Panel”.
The main investments in property, plant and equipment in the year ended December 31, 2016 correspond to (i) our
new plant in Tlaxcala, Mexico and (ii) investments in the expansion of existing facilities, such as Grupo
Antolin-Besançon, S.A.S. (France), Antolin Ebergassing GmbH (Austria), Antolin-CIE Czech Republic, s.r.o. (Czech
Republic), Antolin Liban s.r.o. (Czech Republic), Grupo Antolin—Silao, S.A. de C.V. (Mexico) and in the Antolin Interiors
USA, Inc. facilities in Spartanburg and Atreum-Howell (United States).
Investments in intangible assets in the year ended December 31, 2016 related mainly to development expenses on
certain new projects including “PSA K9 Seat”, “Opel E2xx Instrument Panel”, “BMW G32 Door Panel”, “PSA HAB02
Seat”, “VW 416 Door Panel and Headliner”, “Opel Insignia Instrument Panel”, “Mercedes G-class Instrument Panel”,
“BMW G29-J29 Instrument Panel”, “BMW G14 Coupé Door Panel” and “Chevrolet C1UC Instrument Panel”.
In 2019, the Company expects to decrease capital expenditures compared to the twelve months ended Decemner 31,
2018. The main investments are expected in a new facility in Cuautitlan (Mexico) linked to Doors projects for Ford’s electric
model expected to open in mid 2020, as well as investments in Silao and Kentucky (Overheads), Silesia, Toluca, Liban
(Doors), Changshu and Straubing (Cockpits) and Bamberg (Lighting).
Contractual Obligations
We have included below contractual commitments providing for payments primarily pursuant to our outstanding
financial debt. Based on these assumptions, our consolidated contractual obligations as of December 31, 2018 would be as
follows:
Total

Contractual Obligations
Interest bearing loans and borrowings(1) ..........................................................
Financial leases ..................................................................................................
Other Financial liabilities(2) ..............................................................................
Total Financial Debt ............................................................................................
Operating leases.................................................................................................
Other current liabilities .....................................................................................
Total Operating leases .........................................................................................

1,211.7
2.3
36.9
1,250.9
411.0
411.0

Less than
1 year
1-5 years
(in millions of €)

70.5
1.4
10.6
82.5
57.2
57.2

427.7
0.9
21.6
450.2
178.5
178.5

More than
5 years

713.5
4.7
718.2
175.2
175.2

(1)

As of December 31, 2018, we had interest bearing loans in an aggregate amount of €1,214.0 million outstanding (including re-measurements).
These include (i) the €400.0 million of 2024 Notes, (ii) €250 million of the 2026 Notes, (iii) €410.8 million of loans under the Senior Facility
Agreement, (iv) €100.0 million of EIB loan, (v) €9.6 million of other bank loans, (vi) €49.7 million in drawn credit lines, (vii) €3.1 million in
accrued interest and, (ix) reduced by financial re-measurements of €11.6 million.

(2)

As of December 31, 2018, we had other financial liabilities in an aggregate amount of €36.9 million (including remeasurements). These include
(i) €23.0 million in soft loans granted by Spanish and Portuguese public entities (which include €18.8 million of non-interest bearing soft loans),
(ii) €6.8 million corresponding to the payable balance of the long term loan held by the JV Iramec granted Kuster and International Door
Company, (iii) €5.9 million received in respect of an advance payment on the sale of the associate CREA-Antolin Co, (iv) €1.2 million related to
the acquisition of CIDUT, (v) €0.8 million assumed for the business combination involving the interior components division acquired from
Magna in 2015 and (vi) €0.5 million related to other liabilities, and (vii) less the financial re-measurements of €1.3 million.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements
As of 31 December 2018 the Company had agreements with 5 Spanish banks to carry out non-recourese factoring
for a combined amount of up to € 80.0 million. Outstanding receivables assigned without recourse to financial entities as of
31 December, 2018 amounted to € 72.4 million. In relation with these factoring agreements, as of 31 December 2018 the
Company had € 6.4 million pending payment to financial institutions corresponding to collections made on account of them
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in the last days of December 2018 related to invoices assigned to said entities. See Note 17 of our consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 for additional information.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our financial statements and the accompanying notes contain information that is pertinent to this discussion and
analysis of our financial position and results of operations. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS
requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenue and
expenses, and the related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates are evaluated based on available
information and experience. Actual results could differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. For a
detailed description of our critical accounting policies, see note 3 to our consolidated financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2018included elsewhere in this annual report.
The directors of the Company have assessed the potential impacts of applying these new standards in the future and
consider that it may be significant for presenting and analyzing certain items on our consolidated financial statements,
although they will not affect the profit and loss attributable to the Company or the net equity attributable to its shareholders.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
In July 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. We have started
applying IFRS 9 on January 1, 2018. See Note 2-b of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2018 for the expected quantified effect of IFRS 9 on our consolidated financial statements in 2018.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognized and also requires the provision of financial statements with certain additional disclosures. The objective is to
establish the principles that an entity shall apply to report useful information to users of financial statements about the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from a contract with a customer. IFRS 15 replaces existing
revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty
Programs. IFRS 15 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. We
have started applying IFRS 15 on January 1, 2018. See Note 2-b of our consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2018 for the expected quantified effect of IFRS 15 on our consolidated financial statements in 2018.
IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognizes a right-of-use
asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligations to make lease
payments. There are optional exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low value items. Lessor accounting remains
similar to the current standard, where lessors continue to classify leases as finance or operating leases. IFRS 16 replaces
existing leases guidance including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15
Operating Leases/Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for entities that
apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial application of IFRS 16. We have
started applying IFRS 16 initially on January 1, 2019.
We are evaluating the effect of IFRS 16 in our annual consolidated accounts. We expect that the new requirements
of IFRS 16 may have a significant impact on the reported results of the Group. In particular, on the basis of preliminary
analysis, IFRS 16 Leases could have approximately an €390.0 million impact in our intangible assets and lease liabilities.
From the financial point of view, the impact related to the increase of the Financial expenses would be around €5 million in
2019.
Market Risks
Our activities are exposed to a number of financial risks: market risk (fair value risk and price risk), credit risk,
liquidity risk, exchange risk and interest-rate risk on cash flows. Our global risk management program is focused on the
uncertainty of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on our financial performance. We use
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financial derivatives to hedge against certain risks. Risk management is controlled by our financial department in accordance
with policies approved by our board of directors. Our financial department identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in
close cooperation with our operating units. Our board of directors determines policies for the global management of risk, and
for specific risk areas such as currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, risk derived from the use of derivative and
non-derivative financial instruments and the investment of cash surpluses.
We are exposed to the risk of changes in market value of the investments held as “available for sale” which are
classified under “non-current financial assets” in the consolidated statements of financial position.
The risk deriving from a possible increase in the prices of materials, including the purchase of components used in
the production processes, is mitigated by the fact that we operate with our main suppliers under long-term agreements which
afford stability in prices. On the other hand, we negotiate with our customers to pass on increases in the prices of certain
materials. The terms of agreements with customers have resulted in lower prices, which could reduce our margins. We
nevertheless develop improvement programs and tools to offset these decreases with increases in productivity. We also
negotiate with our suppliers to help them absorb these price reductions.
Credit risk
Our customer portfolio is diversified across the major vehicle manufacturing groups, as a result of which there is no
particular concentration of credit risk. In the past, motor vehicle manufacturers were deemed not to have a major credit risk.
We therefore consider that, in spite of the difficulties facing the motor vehicle sector, the credit ratings of its debtors are
sound and its receivables will be collectable as normal. We have policies for other customers to ensure that they in turn sell to
customers who have suitable credit histories.
The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents, financial derivatives and deposits with banks and financial institutions
is deemed to be immaterial, as these operations are only entered into with financial institutions with high credit ratings. We
have policies for limiting the amount of the risk with any financial institution.
Liquidity risk
We manage liquidity risk prudently, based on maintaining sufficient cash and negotiable securities, the availability
of funding by means of sufficient committed credit facilities and the capacity to liquidate positions in the market.
Furthermore, the centralized cash pooling system we have set up allows us to manage financial resources with greater
efficiency. Given the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, our financial department aims to keep financing flexible
through its use of the Senior Facilities.
Interest rate risks for cash flows and fair value risk
Given that we do not carry major amounts of interest-earning assets, our operating revenues and cash flows are
fairly independent of the variations in market interest rates.
Our interest rate risk stems from our non-current borrowings. Our variable rate borrowings expose us to interest-rate
risks for cash flows. Our fixed rate borrowings expose us to fair value interest rate risks at the end of the 2017 reporting
period, taking into account financial derivatives contracted, approximately two thirds of borrowings were at fixed interest
rates.
We have carried out a sensitivity analysis for the amounts of the variable interest rate debt on December 31, 2018,
taking into account the contractual terms of the funding in force at said date, and concluded that a 0.5% change in interest
rates would lead to an increase of approximately €2.0 million in interest expense.
We consider that there are no significant differences between the carrying amount and the fair value of financial
assets and liabilities.
Foreign currency risks
Our international expansion and our ever-growing volume of business outside the Eurozone expose it to exchange
rate risks in currencies such as the Czech crown, the British pound, the Brazilian real, the US dollar or the Mexican peso,
which could have an impact on our results. To reduce our exposure to this risk, we avail ourselves of a variety of
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mechanisms, such as using local suppliers and negotiating with customers and suppliers to hedge against major movements in
currencies. We have not entered into any foreign-currency hedge rate agreements or forward contracts.
We have carried out a sensitivity analysis of the key figures in our 2018 income statement, and have concluded that
an additional 5% rise in the euro against currencies such as the Czech crown, the Brazilian real, the US dollar, the Mexican
peso, the UK pound, the Chinese renminbi, the South African rand and the Russian ruble, would have reduced our revenues
by approximately €187.5 million or approximately 3.5%, and our EBITDA would have decreased by approximately
€17.2 million or approximately 3.3%.
Commodity risk
The primary materials used in our production facilities are textile fabrics, plastic injection grain, petroleum based
resins and certain metals, like copper. We are mostly neutral to changes in the price of materials as a result of our pass
through arrangements with OEMs, which function as a hedge of our material costs.
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BUSINESS
Our Company
We are a leading Tier 1 player in the design, development, manufacturing and supply of automotive interior
components, offering multi-technology solutions for overhead systems (or headliners) and soft trim, doors and hard trim,
cockpits and center consoles and lighting systems for sale to OEMs. We have a geographically diversified platform of 155
manufacturing plants and just in time, or JIT, assembly and sequencing facilities, as well as 25 technical-commercial offices,
or TCOs, in 25 countries worldwide as of December 31, 2018. We supplied our products globally to the top 18 OEMs by
production volume in 2018. We provided components for more than 500 different vehicle models and we believe we supplied
products for approximately one out of every three vehicles manufactured worldwide. Our product, geographical and customer
diversification allows us to take advantage of global growth opportunities, in particular our presence in Eastern Europe,
North America, Mercosur and APAC, which in the past has mitigated the impact of regional production fluctuations on our
business during economic downturns. We are headquartered in Burgos, Spain, and in 2018 our average number of employees
was approximately 31,585.
Our revenue and EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to €5,424.6 million and €355.9 million,
respectively. We are wholly-owned by the Antolín family, who is fully committed to our business.
As of December 31, 2018, we organize our activities around four business segments:


Overhead systems and soft trim (“Headliners”): We believe we are a leader in the manufacturing of
headliner modular solutions, incorporating acoustic, safety, panoramic and lighting functionalities. We cover
the entire product spectrum for overhead systems, from the headliner substrate to more complex modular
systems. We use key technologies for headliner substrates and benefit from full vertical integration, from the
core polyurethane foam production to the final assembly of the overhead systems. Furthermore, the
incorporation of sunvisors into the overhead system is an important aspect of this business segment. We
produce sunvisors in all technologies available in the market, adding a whole range of functionalities to the end
product. As part of the integration of the Magna Interiors Business, our soft trim activities, including load
floors, package trays, side linings, accessible floor bins and floor coverings, were moved to this business
segment. In addition we have a line of acoustic solutions such as deadeners and underbody shields and we
produce our own tuft-velour carpets for premium vehicles. Our revenue and EBITDA attributable to our
Headliners segment amounted to €2,0605 million and €103.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018,
respectively, which represented 38.0% and 29.0% of our total consolidated revenue and EBITDA for that same
period, respectively. In 2018, we believe we were a leader in overhead systems, with 27% of the global market
share, and in sunvisors, with 35% and 23% market shares of sunvisors in Europe and Mercosur, respectively.
Our global market share for overhead systems has increased from 23% (market size of 83.9 million vehicles) in
2013 to 27% in 2018 (market size of 94.5 million vehicles). As at December 31, 2018, the Headliners business
segment included 81 facilities.



Doors and hard trim (“Doors”): We have expertise in the manufacturing and supply of a wide range of door
systems such as door panels (including front, rear and sliding door panels), pillars (including upper and lower
pillar trim and quarter trim panels), window regulators, rear cargo and lift gate trim. We produce a wide range
of specialized plastic parts, some of them with weight reduction and environmentally friendly properties. We
produce an extensive range of door mechanisms, from window regulators to complex modules. We also
produce seat latches for specific vehicle platforms. Our revenue and EBITDA attributable to our Doors
segment amounted to €1,886.5 million and €203.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, respectively,
which represented 34.8% and 57.2% of our total consolidated revenue and EBITDA for that same period,
respectively. In 2018, we believe we were a leading producer in Europe with a market share of 19% in door
panels and 19% in window regulators. We believe we were also a significant producer of door panels and
window regulators in the Mercosur region with a 9% market share in door panels and an 19% market share in
window regulators. As at December 31, 2018, the Doors business segment included 48 facilities.



Cockpits and consoles (“Cockpits”): We are a global producer and supplier of cockpit modules, including
instrument panels, center consoles and glove boxes, which we design, engineer and manufacture. Our
capabilities include design and engineering, styling, tooling, manufacturing, assembly and sequencing and
electrical/electronic system integration. The cockpit module plays a key role in defining the driver’s experience
and it integrates the instrument panel and several control functions such as wiring harness, instrument cluster,
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air vents, decorative inlays, glove boxes and passenger airbag systems, among others. The instrument panel is a
key element of the cockpit module and is comprised of a sophisticated system of trims, foams, composites and
metals. The center consoles are designed and manufactured to operate vehicle functions and store items. The
primary technologies and processes involved in the manufacturing of these systems include low pressure and
injection molding, compression molding, vacuum forming, slush skins, spray urethane, decorative stitching as
well as manual and automated assembly and sequencing. Our revenue and EBITDA attributable to our
Cockpits segment amounted to €1,125.5 million and €89.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018,
respectively, which represented 20.7% and 25.1% of our total consolidated revenue and EBITDA for that same
period, respectively. As at December 31, 2018, the Cockpits business segment included 14 facilities.


Lighting: We believe we were a leading manufacturer of interior automotive lighting components in Europe,
with a 37% market share market share of overhead front consoles and dome lamps in 2018. Our lighting
product portfolio comprises interior solutions based on LED including overhead consoles, side reading lamps,
multi-purpose lamps, ambient lighting, electronics/smart lighting and exterior solutions such as daytime
running lamps, center high mounted stop lamps and direction, position and license plate indicators. We are one
of the few suppliers which benefit from full vertical integration in the production of lighting components, from
the manufacture of plastic parts and lenses, to the electronics and the light function. The potential integration of
lighting elements with other interior automotive components increasingly provides synergies with our other
business lines since lighting is incorporated in instrument panels, door paneling and overhead systems,
allowing us to offer our customers an integrated and innovative range of customized interior solutions, which
we believe gives us an additional competitive advantage over other players in our industry. Creating light
scenarios and sophisticated atmospheres is one of our main areas of expertise. Our revenue and EBITDA
attributable to our Lighting segment amounted to €349.1 million and €62.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018, respectively, which represented 6.4% and 17.4% of our total consolidated revenue and
EBITDA for that same period, respectively. As at December 31, 2018, our Lighting business segment included
12 facilities.

The percentage of revenues and EBITDA derived per business segment for the year ended December 31, 2018 are as
follows:
Revenues

(1)

EBITDA

“Other” is not a primary business segment and its operations support our primary business segments. It is included herein for the purposes of
reconciliation and we do not consider it material. “Other” includes a wide range of results generated mainly by Grupo Antolín-Ingeniería, S.A.U.,
TCOs and consolidated pricing adjustments as well as overhead and structural costs of the Group pursuant to the Allocation.

We believe that our financial and operational success and stability have been, and continue to be, driven by our
strategic, customer-focused geographical growth and diversified revenue streams, as well as our manufacturing, process,
design and technological expertise. We believe that these factors have allowed us to achieve our position as a leading global
supplier in the automotive industry, with high strategic importance to many of the largest OEMs.
Our Industry
The automotive industry designs, develops, manufactures, markets, sells and services motor vehicles which are
usually classified into light vehicles (passenger cars and light commercial vehicles) and heavy commercial vehicles. The
automotive production value chain is split between OEMs, such as Volkswagen Group, Renault-Nissan and Ford and
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automotive suppliers, such as Bosch, Continental, Magna and us. Automotive suppliers are then generally further categorized
into three different tiers. Tier 1 suppliers like us sell their products directly to OEMs. Typically these products are larger
modules or systems which integrate components, sometimes sourced from Tier 2 automotive suppliers. Tier 2 suppliers
provide individual components or component groups which in turn typically integrate individual parts produced by a further
layer of Tier 3 suppliers.
Automotive suppliers are typically further divided into sub-segments based on their components’ function within the
car. As an automotive supplier of interior components, our revenue is linked to the development of automotive production
numbers and changes in the content per vehicle for the components and systems we produce. The interior market in the
broader sense is comprised by all the products and systems that form the cabin interior of the car and surround the driver and
passengers. As such, interior components have a direct effect on driver and passenger comfort and safety and therefore allow
OEMs to differentiate between car models.
As the automotive industry continues to evolve, global trends have developed across the industry that are being
driven by a combination of maturing consumer preferences, financial, legal and regulatory requirements and the increasing
importance of emerging economies relative to more traditional mature economies. The global automotive production industry
is expected to grow by a CAGR of 2.3% between 2018 and 2021. After APAC, Europe is the second largest market as of
December 31, 2018.
Global trends which will drive future industry growth and the long-term growth potential of the interior component
market include:
Higher consumer expectations of interior comfort: Increased comfort features in the car selection process is of
growing importance for final customers, partially due to the increase in the average age of the population and greater time
spent in the vehicle. The trend towards higher consumer expectations of interior comfort increases demand for qualities such
as improved fit, finish and craftsmanship in interiors across all vehicle types. We believe OEMs are dedicating a larger
portion of total cost per vehicle to interior components as they “upscale” vehicle interiors across their entire portfolio of
platforms. Suppliers with advanced design, materials and manufacturing capabilities to deliver a broad suite of interior
component products across a wide range of price points should benefit from this continued focus on interior comfort and
craftsmanship by both consumers and OEMs. While increased consumer expectations of interior comfort play an important
role in certain emerging markets in which we operate, like China and Thailand, other emerging markets, like India, are still
lagging behind on this trend.
Increasing market share of low-cost and premium automotive segments: In the long-term, the automotive market is
expected to shift focus away from mid-market towards low-tech and low-cost vehicles on the one hand and function oriented,
innovative vehicles for premium customers on the other hand. In recent years, the market share of low-cost passenger cars
(i.e. cars costing less than €7,000) has been increasing, predominantly in China, India and Brazil, and sales of small
passenger cars are expected to grow further. These cars are mainly manufactured and sold in high-growth countries in APAC,
as well as in Brazil and Eastern Europe. Growth in the premium segment is also expected to be driven by emerging markets,
including China, India and Africa. Vehicles in the premium segment tend to be more technologically advanced in each
sub-segment of automotive components, including the interior components segment.
Sustainability and safety: The OEMs that we supply, and automobile manufacturers generally, are increasingly
focused on weight and emissions reduction in order to meet increasing legal, regulatory and industry-standard requirements
in the markets in which they operate, as well as on the safety of passengers, other road users and pedestrians. The
development of the regulatory environment is complex and has required automotive suppliers, such as ourselves, to focus on
the design and development of technologies to address the various regulations and to differentiate us from our competitors.
Globalization of platforms: OEMs are increasingly designing vehicle models built on common but variable
platforms which can be produced in high volumes. The use of common platforms allows OEMs to increase economies of
scale across the value chain, differentiate their products from those of their competitors, expand the number of product
segments in which they compete, extend the life of existing automobile platforms and remain responsive to changing lifestyle
trends and customer tastes. This trend towards common platforms provides automotive suppliers such as us increased
opportunities to supply larger volumes of products and also to benefit from economies of scale. Furthermore, there is an
increased dependency on suppliers, such as us, that are capable of managing complex projects, which in turn assures the
harmonization of quality standards across geographies globally.
Consolidation of supplier base: In order to take advantage of the operational economies of scale across the value
chain, OEMs are encouraging consolidation of their supplier base with an increased focus on large, technically and
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financially strong global suppliers capable of producing consistent and high-quality products across geographies. The
OEMs we supply use a number of factors to determine their choice of suppliers including, among other things, quality,
service (including location, service interruptions and on-time delivery), in-house R&D and technological capabilities, overall
track record and quality of relationship with the OEM, production capacity, financial stability and price. In recent years, we
have noticed that development expertise, an extensive geographical footprint, consistent and high quality production
capability and diverse ancillary competencies tend to offset price-sensitivities among OEMs who appreciate the added-value
inherent in these other factors.
Outsourcing and technological partnership with OEMs: As OEMs increasingly focus their resources on
automobile assembly, they are either maintaining or increasing the levels of production outsourcing to suppliers such as
ourselves. As they grow outside of their home markets, they are more inclined to turn to external suppliers for content they
might have previously supplied in-house. Suppliers such as us can benefit from economies of scale derived from serving
various customers that our OEM customers find more difficult to achieve in our product segment when manufacturing
in-house abroad. In addition, specialization has led to advances achieved by suppliers such as ourselves in certain
technologies, which OEMs find difficult to match in-house in price and quality, thereby increasing outsourcing in these areas,
even in mature economies. Furthermore, while know-how is still being developed by suppliers and the design is still
controlled by OEMs, there is an increased importance in the collaboration with Tier 1 suppliers.
The regional shift of the automotive industry with continuing increase in demand for vehicles in emerging markets:
While vehicle production demands have fluctuated across the global economy in recent years, on a normalized level the
demand in emerging economies has generally continued to increase. Industry sources forecast that in the years leading to
2020, there will be a higher CAGR of sales in Brazil, Russia, India and China and in other emerging economies than that
experienced generally across Western Europe. In response to this, OEMs continue to develop their presence in these markets,
resulting in an increased need for OEMs to establish supplier networks beyond their home markets, including the migration
of component and vehicle design, development and engineering activities to certain of these markets. In certain of these
markets, such as China, there is already significant demand for new, premium brand vehicle models. Nevertheless, vehicle
demand in these emerging economies is predominantly for less advanced models with lower entry-level price points. This
increasing local demand in emerging markets has helped boost the local automotive industry in these countries and has
attracted investments in manufacturing from North American-, European- and APAC-based automobile manufacturers,
through stand-alone investments and joint ventures with local partners. The evolution of volume demand in these markets is
in tandem with an evolution of regulatory and industry standards modelled after those set earlier by more mature economies.
This trend offers automobile suppliers such as us an opportunity to expand our business with our customers in these emerging
markets.
Increasing number of electric and hybrid cars: Consumers are becoming increasingly environmentally conscious
and this is affecting their vehicle purchase choice. Electric and hybrid vehicles have seen increasing production, with hybrids
being more popular than purely electric vehicles. However, the rates of adoption of these vehicles has, so far, been relatively
slow, largely due to their relatively high price and, with respect to purely electric vehicles, short driving range and the lack of
battery re-charging infrastructure, even in developed countries. It is expected to take a number of years until battery
technology is sufficiently improved and becomes affordable for mainstream use in automobiles. Moreover, it will also take
time to develop charging stations to support these types of vehicles. Once these obstacles have been overcome, take up of
both hybrid and electric cars is likely to increase. During this stage, we are likely to see an increase in the number of
automotive suppliers who manufacture electric motors, advanced automotive batteries as well as semiconductors, connectors
and sensors which these vehicles will need. Regardless, we believe that our business is largely agnostic to the increasing
trends of electric and hybrid cars.
Growth of cooperative agreements: In order to achieve economies of scale and delay developments costs,
competing automobile component manufacturers are increasingly entering into cooperative alliances and arrangements
relating to shared purchasing of components, joint engine, powertrain and/or platform development and sharing and other
forms of cooperation. This cooperation among competing automobile component manufacturers is expected to continue. For
example, we have entered into joint ventures in emerging markets to accelerate our international expansion with partners
such as Krishna Maruti Limited (belonging to the Krishna Group) in India, NHK Spring (Thailand) Co., Ltd in Thailand,
SKT Yedek Parca ve Makina Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. in Turkey, Changshu Automotive Trim Co., Ltd. in China, and our
partner Summit DV in Plastimat Hungary Kft. in Hungary.
Our Key Strengths
We believe we have the following competitive strengths:
58

Strong positions in core markets
We believe that we are a leader in the design, development, manufacturing and supply of automotive interior
components with approximately one out of every three automobiles assembled in the world containing interior parts
manufactured by us. In 2018, we believe we were a leader in overhead systems with 27% of the global market share and we
believe we achieved a leading position across most regions in overhead systems, with a 35% market share in Europe, 60%
market share in the Mercosur area and a 50% market share in North America. Additionally, we are the largest global
producer of sunvisors in Europe and the second largest in Mercosur with a 35% and 23% market share respectively. We
believe we are the second largest player worldwide. We believe that our lighting product portfolio was a market leader in
Europe in 2018 with a 37% market share in overhead front consoles and dome lamps. We are also a significant supplier of
ambient lighting, mainly for premium OEMs equipping the highest-end versions of their models. In Europe we also have a
strong market position in doors and interior plastics. In addition to our strong presence in our established markets, we have a
leading position in certain emerging economies. For example, we believe we were the leader in the manufacturing of
overhead systems in India, with a market share of 64% in 2018.
Furthermore, we believe we are the third largest supplier of automotive interior components, with a leading market
share position across product lines including overhead systems, door panels and instrument panels.
Additionally, OEMs face substantial switching costs from operational, technical and logistical perspectives in
replacing the supplier of a particular component or system during the life cycle of a specific vehicle model. The supplier of a
component for a specific car model is often also appointed for the next generations of that model. This is mostly due to the
long lead-time and large investment required to set up the production and supply processes, and to the scale operational
efficiencies gained through experience with the lean manufacturing of certain products. We believe that such switching costs
and our technological capacities strongly protect our leading market position.
Highly diversified business model
Regional diversification
We have a geographically diversified platform of 155 manufacturing plants and JIT assembly and sequencing
facilities, as well as 25 TCOs in 25 countries worldwide as of December 31, 2018. In the last few years we have focused our
expansion outside our traditional markets in Western Europe, where we have been able to capture increasing demand for our
products, in part driven by an increase in market share. Our increased efforts in geographic diversification have resulted in a
decrease in the percentage of total revenues in Europe from 67.5% in 2010 to 50.4% in 2018, with Spain accounting for only
4.9% of our 2018 revenues as compared to 21.9% in 2010. However, Spain has historically been one of the main hubs of the
automotive industry worldwide and, in 2018, was the ninth largest production hub worldwide, and consequently we aim to
continue to have a relatively significant footprint in Spain, while increasing our presence in other markets.
We are a truly global player who has committed substantial investment to, and has a well-established presence in,
growth markets. We believe we are a market leader measured by units of production in many of these markets, which gives
us a competitive advantage over other players. Furthermore, our revenues from our APAC operations have increased from
€82.2 million in 2010 to €618.3 million in 2018, representing 11.4% of our revenues in 2018.
As part of our customer-focused approach to our expansion strategy, we have proactively coordinated our expansion
plans into growth markets with those OEMs with whom we supply. When an OEM customer expands into a new market or
location, we determine whether it is in our strategic interest to also open a facility in such location. As of December 31, 2018,
we had one production facility under construction or development in Cuautitlan (Mexico) linked to Doors projects for Ford’s
electric model expected to open in mid 2020. Our strong geographical diversification allows us to take advantage of global
growth opportunities and mitigates the impact of regional demand fluctuations on our business during economic downturns.
The charts below show the evolution of our regional diversification as a percentage of our revenues.
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Evolution of Regional Diversification

2010

2018

Customer diversification
Relative to our competitors, we have a well-diversified customer base which, through a successful development
strategy, has improved across models and now supplies products globally to the top 18 OEMs by production volume in 2018.
Our acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business also enhanced our relationships and presence with premium OEMs such as
BMW and Tata Motors—Jaguar Land Rover. Our OEM customers include Volkswagen Group, Ford, Tata Motors—Jaguar
Land Rover, Fiat-Chrysler, BMW and Renault Nissan, among others.
In the year ended December 31, 2018, six of our OEM customers each represented more than 8% of our total
revenues. We have pursued a strategy of customer diversification and continue to develop new global relationships with some
of the world’s largest OEMs. Additionally, we have a diverse set of customers for each of our products and no single OEM is
the largest customer in every one of our business segments. The charts below show the evolution of our customer
diversification as a percentage of our revenues.
Evolution of Customer Diversification
2010

2018

Product diversification
Our historic product portfolio has been comprised primarily of products in our headliners, doors and interior
plastics, lighting and, since 2015, the cockpit modules segments. The charts below show the evolution of our product
diversification as a percentage of revenues.
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Evolution of Product Diversification
2010

2018

Long-standing contractual customer relationships
We have strategic and long-standing relationships with our OEM customers, which are based on many years of
successful collaboration. Our scale and ability to develop differentiated solutions for our OEM customers on a global scale
are critical to our success and differentiate us from local and regional suppliers of automotive components.
Our global presence enables us to manufacture, assemble and sequence our products in our plants and JIT facilities,
which are located close to OEMs around the world. This allows for JIT delivery systems on a global scale and on a consistent
and high quality basis, making us a clear choice for global OEMs.
Our well-developed technological capabilities, global manufacturing footprint and proximity to OEMs, operational
scale and track record of financial performance enable us to supply products to support an OEM throughout the full product
life cycle. Additionally, we often act as a development partner during the initial stages of product development which allow
us to recommend and incorporate our products into potential designs well in advance of any formal orders from our OEM
customers. Our ability to support the development process of OEMs and work as an outsourcing partner to them all over the
world is a significant differentiator, in particular on new product solutions, and would take large investments and a long time
to replicate, thereby making us a preferred partner to the leading OEMs in the industry.
Our ability to maintain our competitive advantages and technological leadership has resulted in strong customer
relationships and translates into a consolidated customer base with our top five OEM customers representing 59.9% of
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2018. The relationships with key customers are long-standing and the sales from
our top five OEM customers have grown from €1,261.2 million in 2010 to €3,247.0 million in 2018.
Strong innovation track record
The automotive industry has a growing focus on innovation, due to continuously increasing customer expectations
and the need to meet environmental goals and regulatory requirements. Our commitment to developing innovative and high
quality products has defined our approach to our OEM customers. Many of our products are manufactured using
state-of-the-art technologies that provide superior safety, comfort and design while also focusing on weight reduction.
Over the last few years we have continuously invested in R&D, and in the year ended December 31, 2018, our total
R&D spending amounted to €123.2 million or 2.0% of our revenues. This level of R&D spending allows us to respond to the
growing demand and requirements of OEMs for products at the forefront of technical innovation. As of December 31, 2018,
we had a dedicated team of more than 1,700 employees in engineering functions throughout R&D, product quality and
graphic engineering, supporting our product innovation capabilities, as compared to 550 employees in these functions in
2010.
In light of recent and expected changes in the automotive world, we have also included further programs in our
innovation strategy to further our competitive advantage and enable us to retain and expand our positions in the market,
including: (i) new foaming techniques for light weighting of rigid plastic components and the generation of soft touch
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surfaces; (ii) innovative high quality aesthetic surfaces using natural materials and natural fabrics for decoration of interior
components of vehicle; (iii) structural components based on thermoplastic matrix composites and processing technologies to
allow their competitive introduction in automotive applications; (iv) technologies for the integration of lighting functions in
vehicle interior components and in their manufacturing processes; (v) implementation of electronic components for providing
intelligence to the vehicle interior surfaces; (vi) applications of advanced carbon nanomaterials to improve the performance
of polyurethane matrices used in the automotive sector; and (vii) innovative solutions for modularization of components and
development of electronic control techniques to improve the performance of new mechanisms.
As a result of our innovation activity, we currently own 517 active patents, grouped in 287 patent families. Between
January 1, 2014 and December 31, 2018, we have filed 214 patents (of which 168 are currently active), the active patents
filed in that term correspond to 98 patent families related to innovations worldwide, such as hard trim manufacturing
technologies, plastic window regulators and plastic multifunctional door parts, headliner manufacturing technologies,
finishing and decorating methods, embedded electronics and light effects, safe airbag integration, instrument panels and
advanced carbon nanomaterials in a wide variety of presentations and applications.
Attractive market fundamentals
According to LMC Automotive, global automotive production is forecast to grow by a CAGR of 2.3% in the period
between 2018 and 2021, based on the number of units produced globally. The interior components market in which we
operate is expected to outperform other sectors in the automotive industry due to the increasing interior component content
per vehicle. This trend is driven by growing comfort requirements of consumers and rising technological demands from
OEMs related to weight savings and noise and vibration insulation. These demands are driven by emissions reduction
requirements and related engine downsizing measures by automotive OEMs with smaller, more technologically complex
engines typically causing more noise and vibration.
We are in a strong position to continue to benefit from ongoing consolidation and supplier concentration in our
market due to our competitive cost base and resulting strong profitability, worldwide presence, leading technological
capabilities and solid financial position. As OEMs continue to introduce global platforms and modular toolkits as a basis for a
large number of car models, they are more interested in working with global suppliers with strong development capabilities
which can support them across their international operations.
Superior profitability and strong financial track record
Our strong financial performance is the result of our diversified client, product and geographic base as well as our
long-standing customer relationships, operational excellence, technological expertise, leading market positions and
internationalization strategy. We believe we are well-positioned to sustain our competitive advantages and maintain revenue
growth and profitability in the future, while benefitting from favorable trends in our industry. In addition, we have proven our
ability to manage our business through economic downturns. During the financial crisis of 2008 and 2009, we sold non-core
assets, streamlined production and cut our fixed costs via indirect labor reduction and total organizational restructuring.
We have been able to generate cash in downturns due to high profitability and centralized working capital
management policies. Our investment strategy has been oriented toward value added products and selected complementary
acquisition opportunities. We have at all times retained a prudent approach to preserving cash and maintaining a strong
liquidity profile.
Our financial profile has remained strong at all times and our objective is to maintain a cautious financial strategy.
Our prudent approach to financial management is strongly supported by our family shareholders.
Experienced management and committed core shareholder
Our management team has extensive experience in the automotive industry and the majority of our executive
committee has been with the Company for more than 20 years, demonstrating a high degree of continuity and commitment in
our leadership. Our high operational performance is deeply rooted in our organizational structure and culture. Our current
Chief Executive Officer, Jesús Pascual, has been with the Company for over 30 years.
The management of the Company has always remained focused on building strategic long-term relationships with
key customers, producing an innovative and broad range of products and leading our expansion internationally into key
growth markets, which include the US, the UK and Germany.
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Our management team has a demonstrated track record of achieving and maintaining resilient financial performance
through the economic cycle even during the 2008 and 2009 economic crisis. Our successful acquisition of the Magna
Interiors Business in 2015 was driven by our management’s identification of the substantial value creation potential of such
business.
Our family ownership plays a crucial role in supporting our vision and strategy. Ernesto Antolín, who was appointed
as the representative for our Chairman on January 31, 2015, having served as Vice-Chairman of Grupo Antolin since 1995,
along with María Helena Antolín, who was appointed as the representative for our Vice-Chairman and has over 25 years of
international experience with Grupo Antolin, and other members of the Antolín family, have been essential to driving our
profitable growth strategy.
With the leadership of our dedicated and experienced management, we have also proven our ability to effectively
integrate, manage and improve the state of acquired businesses, including the Magna Interiors Business.
Our Strategies
Our mission is to be a crucial strategic partner for our OEM customers around the world and across the entire
spectrum of our product portfolio. The strategies to achieve our mission are based on innovation, flexibility, customer
focused growth and further geographic, product and customer diversification, while maintaining the highest levels of
customer satisfaction. We intend to achieve this by pursuing the following strategies:
Continue to be an innovation leader through research and development
In order to remain competitive in the new automotive market, Grupo Antolin is working on the sophistication of its
value proposition, evolving not only its products but also its manufacturing processes and how to offer them to its customers.
Beyond its capacity as a specialized plastics processing company, Grupo Antolin has the opportunity to position itself as an
efficient integrator of complex solutions in the fields of electronics and lighting for interior components.
Our objective is to be a leading innovator in the automotive interior components industry. High consumer
expectations, environmental goals and regulatory changes are three of the main drivers in the automotive market. We are
involved in the design of highly innovative cars, as a result of our focus in four main areas:


environmental sustainability: usage of environmentally-friendly and recyclable/recycled materials and weight
reduction to minimize carbon dioxide emissions;



mobility of the future: focusing on the design of new vehicle interiors and incorporating new materials and
intelligent surfaces;



electronic functions: integrating sensors, displays, antennas and optoelectronic devices; and



concepts with high levels of integration: researching functions in advanced vehicle interior components and
mechanism desing and automization.

Become a global full-service supplier to OEMs
We intend to strengthen our position as a Tier 1 supplier for automobile interiors with an extensive production and
supply network that can flexibly service our customers on a global basis, providing major OEMs access to our global
platform and product portfolio. In addition, we hope to increasingly take on additional responsibilities and activities of
OEMs by managing Tier 2 and Tier 3 suppliers, thereby improving the manufacturing and product development efforts of our
customers. Our acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business in 2015, which had strong relationships with premium OEMs,
including BMW, Tata Motors—Jaguar Land Rover and Daimler, also allowed us to improve our position in the premium
segment of the automotive interior industry.
Our approach to project and production management is increasingly focused on integral execution by locating our
technical and manufacturing facilities close to the decision-making and manufacturing centers of our customers.
Additionally, we aim to ensure engineering benchmarking, continuous improvements in operational excellence and
standardization of processes in every country in which we operate. We intend to develop new industrial processes able to
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produce different products with the same investment. The capacity to produce a broader product portfolio will allow us to
provide a better service to OEMs.
Develop design, engineering and production capacities across low cost countries
Our objective is to significantly increase our operations in low-cost countries in Eastern Europe, North America as
well as in APAC regions. These markets present opportunities to capitalize on growing long-term demand relative to that of
more mature economies. We intend to increase our internationalization by both selectively expanding our production
capacities in new geographies and also expanding our product portfolio in such low-cost markets in which we already have
successful operations.
Expand footprint in the APAC region
We have increased, and plan to continue to increase our presence in APAC consistently with the development trend
of the automotive market in the region. APAC continues to be a significant contributor to margin expansion. Our revenue
derived from the APAC region has increased from €82.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2010 to €618.3 million in
the year ended December 31, 2018. In the year ended December 31, 2018, revenue in China increased by 31.0% from the
year ended December 31, 2017, while the light vehicle production decreased by 3.5%.
We believe that we are well positioned to take advantage of growth opportunities in APAC as a result of our existing
footprint of high quality production facilities in the region. We intend to capitalize on our current operations and reputation to
increase our presence in the region through selective and disciplined investments and partnerships. For example in China, we
have three TCOs and we operate 18 sites directly and 10 sites together with local partners through our different joint
ventures. We have two TCOs and seven operating sites in India, which serve customers including Tata Motors-Jaguar Land
Rover, Mahindra, Ford, Fiat-Chrysler, Volkswagen Group, Hyundai, Toyota and General Motors. Furthermore, we have a
joint venture with the Krishna Group which supplies Maruti Suzuki and Honda. In South Korea, we have one TCO and
directly operate one site, and we provide automotive parts to Renault Samsung in a joint venture with Dongwon Tech.
Successfully continuing to integrate new acquisitions and realizing synergistic opportunities
In markets where we already have a strong presence, our growth strategy includes selected bolt-on acquisitions that
complement and enhance our current operations. Part of our growth strategy involves identifying suitable acquisition
candidates in markets where we currently operate, as well as in markets in which we have not previously operated. For
example, in 2015 we acquired the Magna Interiors Business and have been continuously focusing on its integration. In
addition, we will also continue to consider future acquisitions from time to time as an opportunity to apply leading
technologies to our product portfolio, cross sell new and existing products to our existing customer base, expand our
customer base and enhance our growth profile. For example, in 2018 we acquired (i) Haselbeck, a high-quality plastic
injection mold maker based in Germany to strengthen our tooling innovation capacity for €6.6 million, and (ii) a 40% stake in
Walter Pack a Spanish-based company that specializes in the design and production of high-quality decorative technical
surfaces and parts that combine well with our existing Lighting capacities for € 3.9 million.
Our Products
Our product portfolio is primarily comprised of overhead systems (or headliners) and soft trim, doors and hard trim,
cockpits and center consoles, lighting systems and complete seats and frames. The diversification of our product portfolio has
helped us to strengthen our strategic relationships with OEMs, who are able to turn to us for innovative and market leading
product solutions across the value chain. In 2018, we have undertaken 429 projects in aggregate covering projects for all of
our product portfolio, out of which 112 were new projects. We have also provided our products to 80 new car models in 2018
and to 9 out of the 10 best-selling car models in 2018.
Headliners
An overhead system comprises the headliner as well as all the components associated with it. Headliners conceal
roof sheet metal, wiring and safety airbags and incorporate interior components, thus improving the perceived quality of the
vehicle by the eventual vehicle owner. Our headliner product is a composite material that is affixed to the inside of the metal
panel of a vehicle’s roof. The headliner is a fundamental aspect of a vehicle’s design and functionality and plays an important
role in the aesthetics, comfort, safety and acoustics of the vehicle. From the start of our business, our overhead systems have
identified us on a global scale as a pioneer in the R&D of such technologies. Overhead systems can be adapted to different
configurations, from the simplest headliners through to the most complex modular integration. Our components include:
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substrate, sunvisors, consoles, lighting, grab handles, air conditioning vents and solar protection systems. We develop
technological solutions to account for key factors such as head impact regulations and the integration of fabric and lighting
elements. The extensive offer meets the requirements of all segments available in the market.
The sunvisor product is an interior component located above the windshield, designed to protect the driver from the
sun. All sunvisors are designed with a hinge that is adjustable to help shade the eyes of drivers and passengers from the glare
of sunlight. Some luxury cars are equipped with doubled-shaded sunvisors, allowing the driver/passenger to turn one of the
shades toward the side window and the other forwards to the windshield to improve sunlight protection performance. The
sunvisor is an interior component with visual, functional and security customer requirements. Due to these last two
requirements we invest significantly in concept design and we try to simulate as much as possible to obtain a robust product.
The complete validation of a sunvisor is complex and time consuming because of these requirements. One of the most recent
pieces of equipment acquired by the Company is the ECE21, which differentiates us from our competitors and allows us to
carry out head impact testing, greatly appreciated by our customers.
We have integrated the management of the overhead system, including headliners and mechanical sun protection
systems in the new panoramic roofs and windshields.
Manufacturing process
We begin the production process of our headliners by analyzing our customer’s requirements as well as the features
and components that will be incorporated into the headliner. Our technical departments determine the ideal material
construction and technology to produce the headliner at the most competitive cost and our engineering team then builds the
detailed 3D specifications of the product. Once the part has been engineered, we begin the manufacturing process.
We manufacture our headliners using two production techniques: thermosetting technology and thermoplastic
technology. Thermosetting technology uses a multi-layered composite structure (combining a core of polyurethane foam and
layers of adhesive, glass fiber and an aesthetical cover) which is converted into a rigid product using a heating process, while
thermoplastic technology uses a board of a fibrous material which is heated in a specialized oven and then pressed into its
final shape using a cooling process.
The core material of the headliner is polyurethane foam. Manufacturing the foam is integrated in every production
facility allowing us to customize the properties of the foam in accordance with customer specifications to achieve certain
density, mechanical and acoustic requirements. The foam is created in large blocks which are then cut down in size to the
required dimension and thickness.
Once the foam is cut into the appropriate dimensions, it is coated with adhesive, a catalyst is sprayed over the foam,
then two layers of glass fiber are placed on and underneath the foam. Finally, a backing layer, either fleece or paper, is placed
on the bottom side and an aesthetical layer, a textile or carpet, is placed on the upper side in order to create the final
“sandwich” structure. The graphic below illustrates the final “sandwich” product.

The formed “sandwich” is then transferred into a heated tool to shape the headliner. After forming the headliner, it is
trimmed using a pressurized water stream or with special die-cut tooling.
In the thermoplastic stage, our thermoplastic technology processes boards of fibrous materials which are blends of
polyester or polyproylene fibers with glass fibers by heating the boards in an infra-red oven and then molding the boards in a
cold press while, at the same time, feeding the interior textile finish into the mold. Finally, the part is trimmed by water jet.
The thermoplastic lines are fully automatic, reducing labor costs and boosting the competitiveness of this technology.
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Following customer and market demands, we have developed different technologies to assemble various
components, such as sunroof frames, console frames, fixing or locator features on the back of the headliner. These
components can be incorporated during the forming or covering steps or in a specific additional tooling.
Sunvisors are made up of several components and many different materials and processes. The core of the sunvisor
is made of injected plastic covered by various materials. The most popular cover is PVC. Other components are assembled to
the sunvisor, including plastic fasteners, metallic springs to ensure a good rotational function, vanity mirrors, airbag labels
and ticket holders. The mirror is one of the most valued components in a sunvisor and there are many varieties: non lighted,
lighted with incandescent lamps or new LED generation. The LED mirrors are developed and produced in collaboration with
our Lighting segment. The different assembly processes are manual, semi-automatic or fully automatized depending of the
concept and the production country. Once we assemble all the components and obtain the finished product we have a
standardized and automatic quality control system in all our production lines worldwide to ensure final quality. The sunvisor
market is very competitive. To win new business and reduce the quality issues, it is necessary to work on in-house standard
components, design guides and standard processes.
As at December 31, 2018, the production process for our Headliners segment is spread out across over 81 facilities
worldwide.
Customers and competitors
We sell our overhead systems globally and our main clients are most of the top OEMs in the world, including Ford,
Volkswagen Group, Renault-Nissan and Tata Motors—Jaguar Land Rover amongst others. Our global footprint in design
and industrial capacity is a key factor for obtaining and maintaining our relationships with these OEMs. The chart below
shows our customer split for our Headliners segment for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Customer Split for Overheads Segment

The main competitors for our overhead systems are Howa Tramico, IAC, Motus, Industriale Sud and Toyota
Boshoku, amongst others. The main competitors for our sunvisors are Shanghai Daimay, Toyota Boshoku, Kasai Kogyo,
Shanghai Huate and Yong San, amongst others. The main competitors for our soft trim products are Borgers, Autoneum and
Ideal, amongst others.
Doors
Our Doors segment produces door systems (including front, rear and sliding door panels), pillars (including upper
and lower pillar trim and quarter trim panels), window regulators, rear cargo and liftgate trim and related components and
also assembles complete door modules including components such as door latches, harnesses, loud-speakers and sealing. We
also produce seat latches for specific vehicle platforms.
A door panel is the component covering the internal side of a vehicle’s door. The door panel hides the door’s metal
panel and the internal components of the door such as windows regulators, latches and certain wiring and also incorporates
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electric switches, pull handles and armrests. The door panel brings together numerous different mechanical features and also
plays a key feature in the interior design of the vehicle.
A window regulator is the component that moves the window in the door. The main function of the regulator is to
move the window through a mechanic actuator engaged by a handle or by an electric motor. We develop and produce
window regulators of any morphology as another component of the door system we offer, all of which satisfy the quality,
cost, weight and ease of assembly demands of each client’s assembly line and are subject to a rigorous validation processes to
offer the very highest standards of reliability. Additionally, we have extensive experience in designing, validating and
implementing motors in our window regulator systems. These motors have changed significantly in recent years, from being
considered a high-end product to becoming a mass-produced standard in most vehicles. Our motors incorporate an electronic
anti-pinch system which enables them to be activated automatically and safely, as well as forming part of the vehicle’s
electronic communications network. We developed and validated our first plastic window regulator and started production in
2016. It is a significant product improvement, as plastic window regulators are extremely light-weight. We were the first to
market a plastic window regulator in Europe and we have started to introduce quite successfully the modular versions of
plastic window regulators, consolidating Grupo Antolin as a key player in light-weight solutions.
We have pioneered the introduction of lightweight technologies for injected thermoplastic in the European market,
as well as in the use of environmentally-friendly processes and materials. Our techniques for injected plastic trim include
chemical foaming injection, which achieves weight reduction in comparison to conventional technology.
The finish of a pillar trim can be fabric/leather wrapped or textured resin color matched to be in harmony with the
headliner. We develop and test pillars to protect the driver during crash and for easy airbag deployment. Our focus on hard
trim activities is on using our innovative ideas to increase the added value of this product line, thereby offering a better
product at a competitive price. The most noteworthy features of our hard trim activities are the wide range of materials and
technologies we can offer OEMs in conventional plastic covers, laminated parts or textile back injection pillars, with this last
core competence focused on premium vehicles.
Manufacturing process
We begin the production process by analyzing our customer’s requirements as well as the features and components
that will be incorporated into the door panel. Our technical departments determine the ideal material construction and
technology to produce the door panel at the most competitive cost and our engineering team then builds the detailed 3D
specifications of the product. Once the part has been engineered, we begin the manufacturing process.
Due to the cutting edge elements of these door panels, the traditional assembly chain is extremely complex. We
provide OEMs with a final product which combines technical features with design while at the same time reducing the
industrial complexity of the assembly chain.
A door panel is composed of several parts and each of them uses a different technology and production process. The
first step of production is generally either injection molding or thermoplastic processing. Injection molding consists of plastic
material being melted in order to fill a mold which is then cooled to solidify the panel. Door panels constructed using
thermoplastic are produced with a thermoplastic shell, which is heated in an oven or a press machine and a mold.
Once the plastic component is finalized, a variety of covering technologies are utilized to cover the part with leather
or fabric. The technologies used for the covering process include vacuum technology, edge wrapping and laser cutting which
allows designs to be laser cut into the final product. Once all the individual parts are produced, they must be assembled
together. The assembly process can be done in one of our production plants or can be done, totally or just partially, in a JIT
facility close to the assembly plant of the customer to reduce logistic cost.
Window regulators are composed of several parts and each of them have a different technology and process of
production. We use injection molding and stamping to make most of the individual parts which are then assembled using a
variety of techniques including robotic and manual assembly lines.
As at December 31, 2018, the production process for our doors and interior plastics segment is spread out across 48
facilities worldwide. Additionally, in recent years we have set up window regulator production lines in other product
manufacturing sites in India, Turkey, Russia and China.
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Customers and competitors
We sell our doors and interior plastics products in Europe, North America, the Mercosur region and APAC,
particularly in China. Our main clients are many of the top OEMs in the world, including Fiat-Chrysler, Volkswagen Group
Renault-Nissan and Tata Motors—Jaguar Land Rover, amongst others. Our global footprint in design and industrial capacity
is a key factor for obtaining and maintaining our relationships with these OEMs. The chart below shows our customer split
for our Doors segment for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Customer Split for Doors Segment

The main competitors for our doors are Yanfeng, Faurecia, Kasai Kogyo, Toyota Boshoku, Seoyon, Motherson, IAC
and Simoldes, amongst others. We believe we offer lower engineering costs compared to our competitors. In relation to
window regulators, our main competitors are Brose, Hi-Lex, Johnan Seisakusho, Shiroki Corporation, Inteva and Kwangjin,
amongst others. We are increasing our competitiveness by utilizing our wider manufacturing footprint. In the medium term
we believe that our know-how in plastic window regulators and our longer experience in plastic injection will place us in a
leading position among our competitors.
Cockpits
We are a global producer and supplier of cockpits modules, which include instrument panels, center consoles and
glove boxes. The cockpit module plays a key role in defining the driver’s experience and it integrates the instrument panel
and several control functions such as HVAC, cross car beam, steering column, wiring harness, instrument cluster, air vents,
decorative inlays, glove boxes and passenger airbag systems, among others. Our system integration capabilities allow us to
design, engineer, manufacture and assemble these elements and supply complete cockpit systems for OEMs. The focus of
this business segment is on innovation, examples of which include lighter materials, integration of electrical connection and
increased functions.
The instrumental panel is the dashboard located directly in front of a vehicle’s driver, displaying instrumentation and
controls for the vehicle’s operation. It is a key element of the cockpit module and is comprised of a sophisticated system of
trims, foams, composites and metals. We provide a full range of instrument panel offerings to meet OEM design
specifications and price points in every vehicle segment, from entry level to premium and luxury vehicles. While designing
and manufacturing the instrument panels, our engineers primarily focus on quality, function and decoration, while optimizing
the cost/quality ratio. Our vertical integration capabilities also enable us to produce the majority of the components for
instrument panel systems, including air distribution ducts, decorative appliqués and other plastic trim.
The center consoles are the control-bearing surfaces in the center of the front of the vehicle interior, often beginning
in the instrument panel and continuing beneath it, running between the front of the driver and passenger seats. The center
consoles complement the instrument panels and have become an increasingly complex part of our Cockpits business
segment. Their design, in terms of ergonomic, comfort and quality play a significant role in the car interior. Our main focus
with respect to center consoles is enabling the operation of vehicle functions and maximizing storage space. We have
developed several innovative console features, such as movable consoles or storage areas combined with adjustable armrests.
We also employ many of the same features and technologies used in our instrumental panels, such as sewn leather, appliques
and air distribution, to ensure interior design continuity.
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Our glove boxes are a key element of the instrument panel focusing on functionality. Storage and structural support
for the complete system are some of the most noteworthy features of our glove boxes.
This business segment was created in September 2015 following the acquisition of the Magna Interiors Business
from Magna, a global automotive supplier of interior products and systems, and is still in the process of being fully integrated
into our business. We estimate the integration process was completed in the 2018 calendar year. Our main current capabilities
include styling, engineering, tooling, manufacturing, assembly and sequencing and electrical/electronic system integration. In
the final stages of the integration process, we expect to also be capable of creating synergies between other business segments
such as Lighting. Integration of light into traditional plastic components is a defined target of our OEMs. Assembling own
manufactured magnesium cross car beams into the cockpit is another example.
Manufacturing process
The primary technologies and processes employed in the manufacturing of interior components and systems include
low pressure and injection molding, compression molding, vacuum forming, slush skins, spray urethane, leather covering,
foaming as well as manual and automated assembly and sequencing.
We manufacture our instrument panels by injection molding of the main structural elements as carrier, warm air
duct, center stack, airbag chute and glove box housing. For providing the surface of an instrument panel, the processes of
vacuum covering and glueing, welding, foaming, hand and semi-automated covering of leather, milling, punching and laser
cutting/weakening are performed. Assembly of air vents, bezels, plastic components and decorative trim parts completes the
final product. To provide a complete cockpit, the following additional modules have to be assembled: cross car beam, wiring
harness, climate control unit, steering column, electrical and electronical modules. An electrical end of line test ensures full
functional performance of a cockpit before being delivered to the customer.
In order to manufacture our center consoles, we begin by injection molding of carrier and structural elements similar
to the instrument panel. Process steps of welding, vacuum covering, foaming, leather wrapping and assembly of bezels and
decorative trim parts are employed to complete the final product.
Our glove boxes are manufactured through a combination of injection molding, welding, foaming, covering and
final assembly.
As at December 31, 2018, the production process is spread out between 14 facilities across China, Czech Republic,
Germany, the UK, Mexico and the US.
Customers and competitors
We sell our Cockpits products primarily in Europe, North America and APAC, particularly in China. Our main
clients are among the top OEMs in the world, including Tata Motors—Jaguar Land Rover, General Motors, Volkswagen
Group and BMW, amongst others. Our global footprint in design and industrial capacity is a key factor for obtaining and
maintaining our relationships with these OEMs.
Customer split for Cockpits Segment
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The main competitors for our cockpits and instrument panels are Faurecia, Yanfeng, IAC, Draexlmaier and
Motherson, amongst others. Our competitive advantages lie in our global reach, innovation, design, our efficient cost
structure and our ability to stay ahead of our competitors.
Lighting
Creating light scenarios and sophisticated atmospheres is one of our main areas of expertise. We offer complete
interior solutions including interior solutions based on LED including overhead consoles, side reading lamps, multi-purpose
lamps, ambient lighting, electronics/smart lighting and exterior solutions such as daytime running lamps, center high
mounted stop lamps and direction, position and license plate indicators.
As one of the key players in the market, we pay special attention to innovation in this segment, maintaining strong
development capabilities, mainly in electronics and optical design. Increasingly, we are seeing increasing innovation in the
market for our products. We now see solid-state LED technology replacing the historic incandescent lighting technology as
well as specialized electronics becoming increasingly present in even the simpler products. As the state-of-the-art technology
evolves in each of these product ranges to include more functionality and elevated finish, we are evolving our production
processes to match.
Manufacturing process
As with our other business segments, we begin the production process by analyzing our customer’s requirements
with regard to interior automotive lighting. Our production capabilities are vertically integrated, mastering the complete
industrial process from R&D, conception and tooling to material processing, assembly, packaging and delivery.
The production processes for our lighting segment varies depending on the type of lighting required by our end
customers. The manufacturing processes include plastic injection, aluminum coating, ultrasonic and vibration welding,
electronics components processing, including PIN insertion for press-fit pin replacement of classical connector technology,
wire-to-PCB soldering in the form of hot bar soldering, 100% in-line LED measurements, laser marking, wire stripping,
tinning and termination equipment. We also have significant capacity in stamping technology which gives us a strong
competitive edge in producing parts that essentially combine the functionality of electrical circuits, connectors and parts
supports. Our toolmakers are renowned for their skills in creating complex tools that produce elegant and cost-effective mass
production parts.
Furthermore, we are now equipped in-house with surface mounted device assembly process equipment in three sites.
This enables us not only to be competitive with our offers, but also to stay abreast of the rapid evolution of customer
requirements, and complements supply from our traditional subcontractor base.
As at December 31, 2018, the production process is spread out between 12 facilities across China, Czech Republic,
Germany, France, the UK and Romania.
Customers and competitors
We sell our interior automotive lighting products primarily in Europe, North America, the Mercosur region and
APAC, particularly in China. Our main clients are among the top OEMs in the world, including Volkswagen Group,
Renault-Nissan, PSA Group and Daimler, amongst others. Our global footprint in design and industrial capacity is a key
factor for obtaining and maintaining our relationships with these OEMs. The chart below shows the customer split for our
Lighting segment for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Customer Split for Lighting Segment

The main competitors for our lighting products are Hella, Silder and Il-Heung, amongst others. Our competitive
advantages lie in several factors, namely our global reach, electronics capabilities, design, our efficient cost structure and our
ability to stay ahead of our competitors.
Seating
On February 6, 2017, as a part of the Divestment, we agreed to sell our Seating business to Lear Corporation. The
seating business was sold on April 28, 2017.
Suppliers
We purchase various components and materials for use in our manufacturing processes. All of these components and
materials are available from numerous sources and we currently source materials from 2,822 suppliers of which
approximately 17% make up to 80% of total purchase volumes. We source our key materials from at least two main suppliers
of international recognition which enables us to negotiate on more favorable terms and provides us with added price
protection. We estimate that approximately 35% of the value of the materials we source come from suppliers chosen by
OEMs, which allows us to benefit from their enhanced negotiation power and to be automatically compensated by the
applicable OEM for any increase of material costs, other than for increases in material costs in relation to electronic
components. In addition, we estimate that approximately 6% of the value of the materials we source come from suppliers
who have price transfer agreements directly with our customers where costs of materials outside of certain ranges are passed
onto the OEM, thus helping us to minimize the impact of material price fluctuations.
Our main direct material suppliers are Lear Corporation, Lyondellbasell, Faurecia, BASF, Shawmut Corporation,
ITW and Covestro.
We conduct permanent monitoring and collaboration with our supply chain, at an international level. Our
implementation of the warehouse management system guarantees accurate supply by suppliers. We work to promote medium
and long-term relationships to achieve mutual growth.
Customers and Geography
Relative to our competitors, we have a well-diversified customer base which, through a successful development
strategy, has expanded to include the top 18 OEMs by production volume in 2018. In the year ended December 31, 2018, our
top five OEM customers accounted for 59.9% of our revenue. The most significant increases since January 1, 2018 have
come from FCA, Volkswagen Group, and Geely, which accounted for 12.8%, 18.6% and 2.9% of our total revenue
respectively, as a result of the strong performance of the NAFTA and APAC markets.
We have developed long-standing business relationships with our automotive customers around the world. We work
together with our customers along the full value chain, including development, industrial engineering, tooling and
manufacturing. Quality assurance programs matching the highest standards underlie our service offering. In emerging
economies in particular, our customers are focusing their own resources on vehicle assembly and seek to outsource to
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suppliers that are capable of providing an integrated supply service. We believe that our customers perceive us as a supplier
that is capable on a global scale of providing (i) high-quality products at competitive prices with standardized high-level
quality; (ii) innovative solutions for complex projects and (iii) on-time delivery and quality customer service.
Mandates in the automotive OEM business involve long-term production arrangements based on the lifecycle of the
specific model or platform. As a result of our strategic and long-term relationships with our OEM customers, and given the
prohibitive operational, technical and logistical costs of switching suppliers, particularly during the life cycle of a specific
vehicle model, we have strong visibility on our mid-term revenues. Furthermore, we believe we can leverage our strong
customer relationships to obtain similar awards in the future.
In addition to being diversified, our customer base is weighted towards premium and financially stable OEMs,
meaning that, subject to the stage of the automotive industry cycle and prevailing macroeconomic conditions, our revenue
streams are relatively secure.
Our geographical diversification strategy is aligned with the ongoing expansion by OEMs into emerging economies
and the consolidation of their existing presence in established markets. As OEMs have sought to establish presence in growth
markets and to grow outside of their home markets, we have adapted our geographical diversification strategy to focus less
on our presence in Western Europe, which is well established, and more on these growing markets.
While we continue to pursue a measured strategy of geographical diversification, the basis of our technological
expertise continues to be Western Europe.
Research, Development, Innovation and Intellectual Property
We operate in a highly competitive and globalized industry and must constantly change and adapt to meet our
customer’s needs and expectations. We consider innovation and R&D to be key success factors in the differentiation of our
products and services from those of our competitors. As of December 31, 2018, we had a dedicated team of more than 1,700
employees in engineering functions throughout R&D, product quality and graphic engineering, supporting our product
innovation capabilities, as compared to 550 employees in these functions in 2010.
One of the global trends in the automotive industry is the increased focus on innovative and technologically
advanced products that seek to address the parallel concerns of improved safety for passengers and road users and the
reduction of weight and emissions. Our commitment to developing innovative, high quality products has defined our
approach to our customers. Investment in R&D is one of our main drivers. We pursue innovation in four main areas:
(i) materials and processes where we are focused on weight reduction to minimize carbon dioxide emissions and on the use of
recyclable and recycled materials; (ii) mobility of the future, focusing on the design of new vehicle interiors and
incorporating new materials and intelligent surfaces such as circuits, flexible cells and batteries; (iii) electronic functions,
integrating sensors, displays, antennas and optoelectronic devices; and (iv) concepts with high levels of integration,
researching functions in advanced vehicle interior components and mechanism desing and automization . Additionally, we
pay special attention to our capabilities as integrator of new vehicle functions such as lighting, electronics and connectivity.
Regarding intelligent surfaces, we focus on three main aspects (i) decorative applications that allow higher design versatility,
resistance to wear and tear, self-cleaning; (ii) lighting integration that allows for higher personalization and functionality; and
(iii) electronic integration focused on connectivity, information and sensors, among others.
Pursuant to the integration of the Magna Interiors Business, we conduct certain of our research and development
activities through a rigorous process referred to as the “innovation development process”. This innovation development
process involves a multi-stage process aimed at turning ideas into innovations that can ultimately be commercialized. The
initial stage of the process is designed to foster generation of ideas and includes, among other things: identification,
understanding and analysis of social, digital, demographic, regulatory, industry and other trends which may create demand
for, and thus drive development of new automotive technologies, competitive intelligence, technological observation,
freedom-to-operate analysis, review of academic research and automotive customer input. Concepts that progress past this
initial stage are further evaluated, including with respect to commercialization opportunities; as well as potential risks and
challenges to further development. Winning innovations progress through subsequent stages towards product or process
realization, validation and, eventually, product launch.
In the year ended December 31, 2018, we invested €123.2 million or 2.0% of our revenues in R&D. Our innovative
products and market leading processes are developed through our targeted R&D platforms across R&D centers throughout
Europe, APAC, North America and the Mercosur region.
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Underlying our innovative products and processes and in-house capabilities is the maintenance of rigorous quality
management and testing systems in all of our manufacturing plants and R&D facilities. Through regular internal audits we
are able to ensure that our products and processes are monitored to the highest industry standards. We believe that these
competencies and capabilities along the entire value chain give us a competitive advantage over many of the other suppliers.
As a company whose activity strongly relies on its knowledge, experience and the continuous improvement of its
products, technologies and procedures, focus on innovation, and the correct management of its industrial property are crucial.
According to this, patents are only one of the tools for our global strategy for protecting our technological competitiveness.
As a result of our innovation activity, we currently own 517 active patents, grouped in 287 patent families. Between January
1, 2014 and December 31, 2018, we have filed 214 patents (of which 168 are currently active), the active patents filed in that
term correspond to 98 patent families related to innovations worldwide, such as hard-trim manufacturing technologies, smart
surfaces and new finishing materials, integrated HMIs and embedded electronics, new interior lighting functionalities, plastic
window regulators and plastic multifunctional door parts, ecofriendly light headliner manufacturing technologies, safe airbag
integration, instrument panels in a wide variety of presentations and applications. Some of the most important intellectual
property we own relates to the patented press hardening processes we utilize in our operations, as well as certain trademarks,
including Novaform, SkyFX and Supright as well as our brand name, Grupo Antolin.
Joint Ventures
Joint ventures constitute a key aspect of our business strategy and we operate in many countries by means of
partnerships with local partners. Joint ventures have historically been a strategic way for us to enter new geographies. While
in some joint ventures we are not the majority shareholder, we nonetheless often exercise operational control over these
entities. Below we present a summary of our most significant joint ventures.
Brazil—Intertrim Ltda.
On December 1, 1995, we formed Intertrim Ltda. with Luiz Rodovil Rossi, a Brazilian lawyer with experience in the
Brazilian automotive business community, to produce overhead systems, namely headliners and sunvisors. As of
December 31, 2016, we held a majority of the capital stock of Intertrim Ltda. while Luiz Rodovil Rossi held the minority
capital stock. The company is located in Brazil and produces headliners in Caçapava, Brazil and sunvisors in Taubaté, Brazil.
The company also has two logistic sites for sequencing and JIT delivery. The company produces parts for Volkswagen
Group, PSA Group, Renault-Nissan, Toyota, Honda, Ford and Mitsubishi. As of December 31, 2018, the company employed
296 people.
China—Changchun Antolin Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd.
On October 16, 2015, as part of the Magna Interiors Business, we acquired a 60% interest in Changchun Intier
Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd. (including its interests in Beijing Intier Automotive Interiors Co. Ltd., representing 100% of
its share capital, and in Changchun Intier Automotive Interiors Co. Ltd. Beijing Branch, formed in 2015, representing 100%
of its share capital), a joint venture that produces mainly instrument panels and door panels. The remaining interest is held by
Changshu Automotive Trim Co., Ltd. The joint venture is located in Changchun, in the province of Jilin and its main
customers are the Volkswagen Group and BMW. As of December 31, 2018, Changchun Intier Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd.
Employed 500 people. In January 2016, Changchun Intier Automotive Interiors Co. Ltd. was renamed Changchun Antolin
Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd.; Beijing Intier Automotive Interiors Co. Ltd. was renamed Beijing Antolin Automotive
Interiors Co. Ltd.; and Changchun Intier Automotive Interiors Co. Ltd. Beijing Branch was renamed Changchun Antolin
Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd. Beijing Branch.
China—Changshu Antolin Automotive Interiors Co. Ltd.
On October 16, 2015, as part of the Magna Interiors Business, we acquired a 60% interest in Changshu Intier
Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd., a joint venture that produces instrument panels, consoles, door panels, pillars, among other
plastic automotive components. The remaining interest is held by Changshu Automotive Trim Co., Ltd. The joint venture is
located in Changshu, in the province of Jiangsu and its main customers are Tata Group, General Motors and local Chinese
Customers. As of December 31, 2018, Changshu Intier Automotive Interiors Co., Ltd. employed 819 people. In January
2016, Changshu Intier Automotive Interiors Co. Ltd. was renamed Changshu Antolin Automotive Interiors Co. Ltd.
China—Dongfeng Antolin, (Wuhan) Overhead Systems Co., Ltd.
On December 9, 2014 we entered a joint venture agreement with Dongfeng Visteon Automotive Trim
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System Co., Ltd. to manufacture automotive overhead systems for certain plants of Dongfeng Renault, Dongfeng PSA,
Dongfeng Nissan and Dongfeng Honda. The joint venture is Dongfeng Antolin (Wuhan) Overhead Systems Co., Ltd. and is
located in Hubei, China. As of December 31, 2018, the joint venture employed approximately 89 people. Through this joint
venture, we were able to expand our presence in the eastern region of China and increase our market share in China.
India—Krishna Grupo Antolín Private Limited
On February 22, 2004, we entered into an agreement with an Indian company named Krishna Maruti Limited
establishing a joint venture to produce automotive headliners and sunvisors within Northern India. Krishna Maruti Ltd. is a
part of the Krishna Group, a corporation supplying seating systems, interior systems as well as fuel and exhaust systems for
the main OEMs in India. The joint venture is called Krishna Grupo Antolín Private Ltd., and is located in Manesar-Gurgaon,
New Delhi, India. It produces components for the main car manufacturers in the country such as Maruti-Suzuki, Honda and
M&M. As of December 31, 2018, the Company employed 409 people. The Company has a license agreement with the joint
venture for the manufacturing of headliners and sunvisors, in consideration for this it receives a percentage of the sales
derived from this joint venture.
Netherlands—International Door Company B.V.
On May 4, 2000, the Company and Küster Holding GmbH signed a framework agreement for the management of
the manufacturing of window regulator mechanisms and related systems. Under this framework agreement, a Dutch vehicle
was incorporated (International Door Company, B.V.) which would cover all of the worldwide business of the Company and
Küster Holding GmbH for the manufacturing of window regulators and related systems (except in Spain, France, Germany
and Portugal, where both companies would continue operating separately). Currently, International Door Company B.V.
holds the following stake in these entities (i) 100% of Iramec Autopeças Ltda. (Brazil), (ii) 100% of Mexican Door Company
S. de R.L. de C.V. (Mexico) which has no activity since January of 2018, (iii) 50% of International Door System S. de R.L de
C.V. (Mexico), which has no activity since July 2012 and is currently in the process of liquidation, and (iv) 100% of
Slovakian Door Company (Slovakia). Iramec Autopeças Ltda. was incorporated on July 24, 1995 and is mainly focused in
the manufacturing of window regulator systems. Mexican Door Company S. de R.L. de C.V. (Mexico) was incorporated on
March 17, 2004 and was mainly focused in the manufacturing of window regulatory systems. Slovakian Door Company,
which was incorporated on March 2, 2000, manufactures window regulator mechanisms for Audi, Porsche and
Renault/Smart.
Thailand—NHK Antolin (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
On October 22, 2012, NHK Antolin (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (“NHKA”) was incorporated as a joint venture between
NHK Spring (Thailand) Co. Ltd. and the Company, under which each party would own a 50% interest (direct or indirect) in
NHKA. NHKA manufactures headliners for the local Thai market and other countries in the APAC region. It is located in
Bangpoo Industrial State, Province of Samutprakan, near Bangkok, and produces and delivers headliners for the main car
manufacturers in the country including FTM Ford, AAT, Nissan, Honda, General Motors, Isuzu and Mitsubishi. As of
December 31, 2018, NHKA employed 124 people. Furthermore, in August 2013, NHKA created NHK Antolín Hemarak, a
JIT facility in order to support the components assembly to complete the modules for NHKA, as well as for the in-sequence
delivery of the final product to the customer. It is located in the Rayong province, and delivers headliners to Ford, AAT and
General Motors. As of December 31, 2018, this entity employed 39 people.
Turkey—Ototrim Panel Sanayi ve Ticaret, A.S
On December 15, 1992, we entered into an agreement with SKT Yedek Parca ve Makina Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S., a
producer of oil sealants and rubber components for motor vehicles, establishing a joint venture to produce components such
as headliners, sunvisors, hard trim, door panels and mechanisms for the main car manufacturers in the country. The joint
ventures’ main customers are Ford, Renault-Nissan, Hyundai and PSA Group. As of December 31, 2018, Ototrim Panel
Sanayi ve Ticaret A.S. employed 799 people. The Company grants a license to this joint venture for the manufacturing of
headliners, door panels, sunvisors and window regulators and, in consideration, it receives an annual percentage of sales
derived from this joint venture.
USA—Grupo Antolín Primera Automotive Systems LLC
On December 17, 1998, we entered an operating agreement with Crown Automotive Industries LLC, a Michigan
based company, to assemble and deliver automotive overhead systems for certain plants of Ford. The joint venture is Grupo
Antolín Primera Automotive Systems LLC and is located in Michigan, USA. As of December 31, 2018, the joint venture
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employed approximately 213 people.
Property, Plant and Equipment as of December 31, 2018
We have a geographically diversified platform of 155 manufacturing plants and just in time, or JIT, assembly and
sequencing facilities, as well as 25 technical-commercial offices, or TCOs, in 25 countries worldwide as of December 31,
2018.
The following table sets forth the total number of our plant and JIT facilities and our TCOs, by region as at
December 31, 2018:
Region

Plant/JIT

Western Europe ......................................................................................................................................................
Eastern Europe .......................................................................................................................................................
North America ........................................................................................................................................................
Mercosur .................................................................................................................................................................
APAC ......................................................................................................................................................................
Other .......................................................................................................................................................................
Total .......................................................................................................................................................................

TCO/Plant

47
28
31
6
38
5
155

12
1
2
1
7
2
25

Environmental
We have a strong commitment to environmental issues and the impact of our operations on the environment,
including with respect to climate change. We are also committed to maintaining high standards of health and safety, both
environmental and general. We have approved a management model, aimed at covering any legal requirements, and which
currently applies to each entity in our Group. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately 115 employees dedicated to
environmental issues and approximately 105 employees dedicated to health and safety issues.
As manufacturers of automotive components, the environmental impact generated by us have to be taken into
account throughout the life cycle of the vehicle and not only during the manufacturing phase of our parts. For this reason, we
are committed to adapting and using the best techniques available for our components, as well as including environmental
aspects in the design and operation of them. For example, our innovation processes seek weight reduction and make use of
biomaterials and natural fibers, our design processes seek new products and production processes centered around efficient
use of resources and energy, and we seek out recycling options for the components at the end of their useful life.
Over the past three years, we have had no relevant material environmental issues, actions, claims or liabilities that
could have had a significant impact on our equity, financial position or results, and are currently not aware of any such issues,
actions, claims or liabilities, excluding the claim in Brazil against our subsidiary Trimtec Ltda. See “—Proceedings”.
As of December 31, 2018, we had achieved environmental certification in accordance with the standard ISO 14001
for 87 plants/ centers. The chart below shows a breakdown of our ISO 14001 certifications by region as of December 31,
2018:
ISO14001
Certifications

Region

Europe ...................................................................................................................................................................................
North America ......................................................................................................................................................................
Mercosur ...............................................................................................................................................................................
Africa-APAC ........................................................................................................................................................................

44
19
4
20

Additionally, as of December 31, 2018, we had achieved new energy efficiency certification in accordance with the
standard ISO 50001 for four companies in Europe.
Our environmental activities focus on two general areas: (i) environmental management system, based on manuals
and procedures common to all the centers defining the measures to ensure strict compliance with current legislation, the
rational use of resources and energy and minimizing the generation of waste; and (ii) environmentally sensitive design, where
we focus our design of our products with a view to minimizing the environmental impact of the vehicle over its useful life.
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Health and Safety
In terms of health and safety we are aware of the risks in our business and have a policy that ensures that both our
employees and those from other companies working on our premises have a safe and healthy working environment.
In accordance with this policy, we use the same criteria when assessing the performance of any company in terms of
health and safety and no difference is established between the companies operating in the countries in which we are present.
Our management plan, based on the OHSAS 18001 model, includes the identification and verification of any
applicable regulations, as well as the performance of internal audit controls to verify any applicable preventive measures and
the level of compliance.
There is also a system of audits which verifies that any measures in health and safety meet with the criteria
established in our policies, thereby assuring reliability and comparability among the companies.
Proceedings
We are from time to time involved in legal proceedings, claims or investigations that are incidental to the conduct of
our business. We vigorously defend ourselves against these claims. In future periods, we could be subject to cash costs or
non-cash charges to earnings if any of these matters are resolved on unfavorable terms. However, although the ultimate
outcome of any legal matter cannot be predicted with certainty, based on current information, including our assessment of the
merits of the particular claims, we do not expect that our pending legal proceedings or claims will have a material adverse
impact on our future consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
For example, Trimtec Ltda., our subsidiary in Brazil, we are subject to, together with 49 other companies, an
environmental claim initiated in 2009 and derived from the environmental damages caused by Companhia Brasileira de
Bauxita (“CBB”), who was hired to provide services of incineration and industrial waste disposal for Trimtec Ltda. and other
companies in 2001. CBB did not perform such services and failed to dispose of the waste adequately, which allegedly ended
up causing severe environmental damage. The first proceeding, started by citizen action, initially sought Brazilian real 50
million in damages from CBB and each of the companies that had contracted the services of CBB. The second one, a public
civil action, initially sought Brazilian Real 53.2 million in damages. We consider the risk derived from these proceedings to
be remote. An expert in the assessment and valuation of environmental damages was appointed in connection with the
proceeding and has issued an expert’s report which was submitted only to the public prosecutor. The public prosecutor is
currently considering the findings of the expert’s report and the proceedings are still ongoing.
Furthermore, we are subject to several administrative and judicial tax proceedings in Brazil, of which four
proceedings are due to the dispute over certain VAT deductions that we had taken under the exemption for certain
manufacturers that applied to us under Brazilian tax law. As of December 31, 2018, we estimate the aggregate potential
liability under administrative and judicial proceedings in Brazil amounts to be approximately €14.9 million.
Employees
As of December 31, 2018, the number of employees working for us was approximately 32,315, globally, of which
16.7%, 48.2%, 2.8% and 32.3% were based in APAC, Europe, the Mercosur region and North America, respectively. The
breakdown of our employees by business segment as at December 31, 2018 is as follows: 31% in Headliners, 39% in Doors,
16% in Cockpits, 8% in Lighting and 6% in other areas.
Our strategy is to manage relations with our employees primarily on a plant level, with the “plant works council”
being the forum for employee representation most favored by our employees. As a general rule, each plant has its own
collective agreement. This policy allows us to benefit from a number of advantages:
•

collective agreements are adapted to the specific circumstances and needs of each plant (for example different
geographic areas within a country may have different average salary or cost of living allowances);

•

collective agreements can be adapted to the economic performance and productivity of each plant; and

•

workers identify themselves better with their own “plant works council” rather than with a country level one.
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In addition to this strategy, we try to build open and trusting relations with union representatives at regional level or
country level, in order to allow a bi-directional communication channel to provide them with relevant information, but also to
understand their real worries and concerns.
During the global economic crisis, we proactively managed our employee requirements while endeavoring to find
constructive measures to manage and retain experienced professionals. Given the global nature of our business and
operations, the measures implemented required an in-depth analysis of the legal framework of each jurisdiction in which we
operate. Our extensive global footprint has also given us a tool to fight the impact of the global economic crisis as it has
allowed for increased geographical mobility and provided us with the ability to temporarily balance our resources across
different regions, supporting strategic projects with the most skilled and experienced workers.
Where the opportunities have arisen and it has been possible to do so, we have deployed underutilized staffing
resources from one area of our business to other areas experiencing increased staffing requirements, for example, between
2007 and 2009, we mobilized workers from various Spanish group entities in order to avoid temporary layoffs. In addition,
between 2009 and 2011, we used the transfer of employees between different companies of the Group for the purposes of
reducing the negative impact of some reductions in the workforce and the closure of some facilities. Furthermore, in 2013, as
part of a restructuring, we offered employees the possibility of voluntary transfers from Grupo Antolín-Dapsa, S.A.U. to
Grupo Antolín-Plasbur, S.A.U. and the Company. We have made a provision of approximately €16.8 million for termination
benefits and other costs deriving from the closure of the plant in Germany.
Where necessary and where the legal and regulatory labor and employment framework in a jurisdiction allows, we
have implemented measures such as temporary reduction of the workforce, early retirement programs (as a way to achieve
cost reduction in the short-term and to reduce the average age of the staff in the medium to long-term) and “substitute
contracts” which has proven to be an efficient way to manage costs and rejuvenate the workforce, while accommodating the
aging population.
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MANAGEMENT
Board of Directors
The following table sets forth, as of the date of this annual report, the name and title of each member of the board of
directors of the Company, together with their representatives (in the case of corporate directors) and is followed by a
summary of biographical information of each director or representative (in the case of corporate directors), including their
respective ages.
Name

Position

Canea, S.L. (represented by Ernesto Antolín) ..............................................................................................
Injat, S.L. (represented by María Helena Antolín) ......................................................................................
Jesús Pascual ..................................................................................................................................................
Agrícola Cinegética San Quirce, S.L.U. (represented by Emma Antolín) .................................................
Ampaber, S.L.U. (represented by Ana Berta Antolín) ................................................................................

Chairman
Vice Chair
Chief Executive Officer
Director
Director

Ernesto Antolín (54). Representative of Canea, S.L. (Chairman of the Company) since January 2015. Ernesto
Antolín served as Vice-Chairman of Grupo Antolin from 1995 to January 2015. He holds a degree in law (licenciatura en
derecho) from the University of Burgos, and has obtained several post-graduate degrees from Boston University. He has
29 years of international experience within the automotive industry in the areas of strategy, marketing, industry and business
diversification, of which 28 years have been with Grupo Antolin. He also serves as director of several of Grupo Antolin’s
subsidiary companies.
María Helena Antolín (52). Representative of Injat, S.L. (Vice Chair of the Company) since 2015. Former
representative of Agrícola Cinegética San Quirce, S.L.U. (executive director of the Company) from 2009 to January 2015.
María Helena Antolín was appointed as marketing and corporate affairs officer of Grupo Antolin in 2013. She holds a degree
in international business and business administration from Eckerd College (Florida) and a Master in Business Administration
from Anglia University (United Kingdom) and the Polytechnic University of Valencia. She has over 26 years of international
experience with Grupo Antolin in the areas of product quality, industry, human resources and operations. She is a member of
the steering committee of Grupo Antolin, member of the board of directors of Iberdrola, S.A., member of the board of
directors of the Commission of Social Corporate Responsibility and the Permanent Commission of the “Management
Excellence Club” (Club Excelencia en Gestión) and Chairwoman of SERNAUTO, the Spanish Association of Equipment
Manufacturers and Automotive Components. She also serves as director of several of Grupo Antolin’s subsidiary companies.
Jesús Pascual (55). Chief Executive Officer of Grupo Antolin since 2015. Mr. Pascual holds a degree in industrial
engineering from the Polytechnic University of Burgos, as well as a Master in Business Administration from the European
Business School in Burgos. He has over 33 years of international experience in the automotive industry, in the areas of
operations and industrial development. Within Grupo Antolin he has held the position of Plant Manager in several factories,
as well as Territorial Director for the Iberian Peninsula and Head of the Headliners segment from 2005 until 2013, and the
position of Chief Operations Officer from 2013 until 2015. Mr. Pascual is a member of our executive and steering
committees. He also serves as director of several of Grupo Antolin’s subsidiary companies.
Emma Antolín (38). Representative of Agrícola Cinegética San Quirce, S.L.U (Director of the Company) since
January 2015. Emma Antolín was appointed as Head of Corporate Social Responsibility of Grupo Antolin in 2007. She holds
a degree in Psychology from the Pontifical University of Salamanca, an MBA from IEDE Business School and a Master in
Financial Management from IE Instituto de Empresa. She has over 12 years of experience with Grupo Antolin in the area of
Corporate Social Responsibility. She is a member of the Audit commission as well as the Ethics, Corporate Governance,
Compliance and Corporate Social Responsibility commission of Grupo Antolin.
Ana Berta Antolín (50). Director of Grupo Antolin since 2011, as representative of Ampaber, S.L.U. She has
worked for several years in Grupo Antolin, as well as in other companies of the automotive sector.
Senior Management
Our senior management team is led by Jesús Pascual, who has spent his entire career at Grupo Antolin, having held
numerous positions of responsibility.
The following table sets forth, as of the date of this annual report, the name and title of each member of the senior
management team who does not also serve on the board of directors, and is followed by a summary of biographical
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information of each such member including their respective ages.
Name

Position

Miguel Ángel Vicente........................................................................................................................
Miguel Marañón .................................................................................................................................
Cristina Blanco Santo Tomas ............................................................................................................
Pablo Ruiz ..........................................................................................................................................

Chief Operations Officer
Chief Commercial Officer
Chief Financial Officer
General Counsel

Miguel Ángel Vicente (64). Chief Operations Officer of Grupo Antolin since April 1, 2017. Previously he served as
Chief Commercial Officer of Grupo Antolin since 2013. Mr. Vicente holds a degree in industrial engineering from the
ENSAI University in Strasbourg (France), a Master in Business Administration from INSEAD in Fontainebleau (France) as
well as a Master’s degree in Engines from IFP School in Paris (France). He has 38 years of international experience within
the automotive industry, and has worked for companies like Renault in the areas of research, engineering, quality,
manufacturing and purchasing in France, Mexico and Spain. He has been working for Grupo Antolin for the last 25 years,
where he first held the position of Industrial Operations Director. Subsequently, he also held the position of Operations
Director in Europe-Mercosur and in North America, and Head of the Doors segment from 2009 to 2013. Mr. Vicente is a
member of our executive and steering committees.
Miguel Marañón (49). Chief Commercial Officer of Grupo Antolin since 2017. He holds a degree in industrial
engineering from the University of Valladolid. He has more than 22 years of experience with Grupo Antolín, having held
several management positions within the Seating & Metal Business Unit and being named head of the Seating segment from
2013 to 2017. Mr. Marañon is a member of our executive and steering committees.
Cristina Blanco Santo Tomas (45). Chief Financial Officer of Grupo Antolin since 2016. She holds a degree in
Business Administration from Universities of Dundee, Scotland and Burgos, Spain and a degree in Economics and Business
Administration from UNED. She has 19 years of experience with Grupo Antolin, having held several management positions
within the economic and financial division, most recently as the head of financial planning and treasury. Ms. Blanco is a
member of our executive and steering committees.
Pablo Ruíz (61). General Counsel of Grupo Antolin and Secretary of the board of directors of the Company.
Mr. Ruiz holds a degree in law (licenciatura en derecho) from the University of Valladolid. He has more than 27 years of
experience within the automotive industry and is responsible for the legal department of Grupo Antolin. Mr. Ruiz is a
member of our steering committee.
Advisory Board
The following table sets forth, as of the date of this annual report, the name and title of each member of the advisory
board of the Company and is followed by a summary of biographical information of each member, including their respective
ages.
Name

Position

Carmen Gomez de Barreda ...........................................................................................................................
Emilio Ontiveros ............................................................................................................................................
Ramón de Sotomayor.....................................................................................................................................
José Manuel Temiño ......................................................................................................................................
Bernardo Villazán ..........................................................................................................................................

Member
Member
Member
Member
Member

Carmen Gomez de Barreda (50). Member of our advisory board since January 1, 2018. She is currently general
manager of Corporación de Reservas Estratégicas (CORES), independent director of Grupo Ezentis S.A. and independent
director of Red Electrica de España, S.A. She holds a degree in Economics and Business Studies from the Universidad
Pontificia de Comillas (ICADE) and a Master’s in Business from IESE (Executive MBA), University of Navarra.
Emilio Ontiveros (70). Director of Grupo Antolin from 2014 to 2017, he is now member of our advisory board
since 2017. He is founder and Chairman of Afi, Analistas Financieros Internacionales, a financial consultancy. He holds a
PhD in Economics and is Professor of Economics and Business Administration at the Universidad Autónoma de Madrid
since 1985, where he was Vice Chancellor for four years. Mr. Ontiveros has also been visiting scholar in Wharton School—
University of Pennsylvania. Author and coauthor of several books and numerous articles, he is a contributor in magazines
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specialized in international economy and finance.
Ramón de Sotomayor (54). Member of our advisory board since January 1, 2018. He is currently member of the
board of Abengoa, S.A. He graduated from the University of Portsmouth as an Industrial Engineer and holds an MBA from
Rutgers University. He started his career at Ercross España and then joined Thyssenkrupp Elevator A.G., where he has held
several positions, including Chief Executive Officer for Southern Europe, Africa and Middle East from 2011 until 2015. He
has also acted as independent director of several companies including Velatia and Levantina Natural Stone.
José Manuel Temiño (72). Director of Grupo Antolin from 2015 to 2017 and Chief Executive Officer from 1985 to
2015, he is now member of our advisory board since 2017. José Manuel Temiño holds a degree in mining engineering
(ingeniería de minas) from the Technical School of Superior Mining Engineers of Madrid (Escuela Técnica de Ingenieros
Superiores de Minas). Mr. Temiño has 37 years of experience with Grupo Antolin.
Bernardo Villazán (59). Member of our advisory board since January 1, 2018. He is currently an independent
director and Chairman of the Audit Committee of Grupo Lantero. He holds a degree in Industrial Engineering from the ICAI
School of Engineering, where he is now Director of the Chair of Smart Industry 4.0. He holds a Senior Business Management
Program Certification (PADE) from the IESE, University of Navarra, a Certification in Corporate Governance (Spanish
Board Directors Association) and the ICADE Business School Independent Board Member Certificate.
Committees and Commissions
The Board of Directors may form committees and the commissions from among its members and members of the
management team and charge the committees and the commissions with the performance of specific tasks. The committees’
and the commissions’ tasks, authorizations and processes are determined by the board of directors. Where permissible by
law, important powers of the board of directors may also be transferred to the committees. As of December 31, 2018, the
board of directors had established the following committees:
Executive committee
The executive committee is responsible for all tasks delegated to it by the board of directors, and is composed of the
Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Operations Officer, the Chief Commercial Officer and the Chief Financial Officer. The
executive committee meets on a weekly basis.
Steering committee
The steering committee is responsible for (i) the presentation of the budget for its approval by our board of directors,
(ii) approval of projects and innovation plans, (iii) discussion and approval of organizational duties and (iv) human resources,
institutional relations and external communication policies. The steering committee is formed, inter alia, by the Chief
Executive Officer, the Chief Operating Officer, the Chief Commercial Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the General
Counsel. The steering committee meets every month.
Audit commission
The audit commission is responsible for, among others, reporting information on the annual financial statements, as
well as on our quarterly financial. In addition, our audit commission proposes the appointment of the external financial
auditors to the board of directors, and oversees our internal audit services, our financial information reporting process and our
internal control systems. The audit commission meets as often as necessary in order to discharge its functions and at least
once every three months. The audit commission is composed of Emilio Ontiveros (as president), Jose Manuel Temiño, Emma
Antolín, Jesús Pascual and Bernardo Villazán (as members) and Pablo Ruiz (as secretary).
Appointments and remuneration commission
The duties and functions of our appointments and remuneration commission include, among others, the duty to
inform our board of directors of appointments, re-elections, terminations and remuneration of the Board and its members, as
well as upon general remuneration and incentives policy for the Board and senior management. The appointments and
remuneration commission meets as often as necessary in order to perform its functions, and at least once every three months.
The appointments and remuneration commission is composed of Jose Manuel Temiño (as president), Emilio Ontiveros,
Ernesto Antolín, Jesús Pascual and Ramón de Sotomayor (as members) and Alberto Guerra (as secretary).
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Ethics, corporate governance, compliance and corporate social responsibility commission
The commission was created by the board of directors on December 13, 2017. Its duties and functions include,
among others, the monitoring of compliance with internal codes of ethics and conduct and the rules of corporate governance,
the periodical supervision of compliance programs, environmental policies and corporate social responsibility, non-financial
risk evaluation and the supervision of the communication strategy and investor and shareholder relations. The commission
meets as often as necessary in order to perform its duties and functions, and at least once every three months. The Ethics,
Corporate Governance, Compliance and Corporate Social Responsibility commission is composed of Carmen Gómez de
Barreda (as president), Emma Antolín, Bernardo Villazán and Ramón de Sotomayor (as members) and Alberto Guerra (as
Secretary).
In 2018 the members of the board of directors of the Company received €2.8 million in remuneration for their work
as administrators of the Company, compared to €2.9 million of remuneration they have received for the financial year ended
December 31, 2017. Certain members of the board of directors of the Company are also employees and, as such, earned
wages and salaries and other benefits in an aggregate amount of €1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2018,
compared to €1.2 million of remuneration they have received for the financial year ended December 31, 2017.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS
Shareholders
As of the date of this annual report, our issued share capital amounts to 37,468,535.47 consisting of 8,023,241
registered shares with a par value of €4.67 each.
Our shareholders are (i) Grupo Antolin HoldCo, S.A., a Spanish limited liability company (sociedad anónima),
which holds 67.4% of the shares of the Company and (ii) Castilfalé Gestión, S.A.U., a Spanish limited liability company
(sociedad anónima), which holds 32.6% of the shares of the Company. Castilfalé Gestión, S.A.U. is a wholly owned
subsidiary of G.A. HoldCo, S.A. y Compañía, S.R. Colectiva, which in turn is wholly-owned by the Antolín family through
different holding entities (including Grupo Antolin HoldCo, S.A.). Grupo Antolin HoldCo, S.A. is wholly-owned by the
Antolín family through different holding vehicles, including Avot Inversiones, S.L.
Avot Inversiones, S.L. is 100% owned by the Antolín family. The Antolín family has two branches, one for each of
the two Antolín brothers who founded Grupo Antolin. Each family branch owns 50% of Avot Inversiones, S.L., holding their
shares in Avot Inversiones, S.L. through separate investment vehicles.
The board of Avot Inversiones, S.L. is composed of two members of each branch of the Antolín family. In February
2013, the Antolín family signed a shareholders’ agreement regarding its shareholding in Avot Inversiones, S.L. The Antolín
family agreed to a ten year lockup period, in which the sales of shares in Avot Inversiones, S.L. are restricted to certain
requirements such as business interest and the maintenance of family-based control over the Company. The shareholders’
agreement sets economic sanctions and penalties for any breach of the shareholders’ agreement.
Terms and Conditions of Transactions with Related Parties
Transactions with associated companies
The Antolín family owns Compras y Logística Burgalesa, S.L.U., a company which manages non-productive
material purchases and which primarily serves certain Spanish subsidiaries of our group. This entity had a net turnover of
approximately €7.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2018, approximately 800% of which derived from sales to the
Company and its subsidiaries.
In addition, the Antolín family owns Bodegas Imperiales, S.L., a winery in the area of “Ribera del Duero”, devoted
to the production and sale of wine. In the year ended December 31, 2018, this entity had a net turnover of approximately
€2.0 million, approximately 28% of which derived from sales to the Company and its subsidiaries.
See note 22 to our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
included elsewhere in this annual report, for additional information regarding transactions with associated companies.
Transactions with Directors
Canea, S.L. and Injat, S.L., both companies owned by members of the Antolín family, act as the chairman and the
vice chair of the board of directors of the Company, respectively and Agrícola Cinegética San Quirce, S.L.U. and Ampaber,
S.L.U., also companies owned by members of the Antolín family, act as members of the board of directors of the Company.
In 2018 the members of the board of directors of the Company received €2.8 million in remuneration for their work as
administrators of the Company compared to €2.9 million of remuneration they have received for the financial year ended
December 31, 2017.
See note 22 to our consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
included elsewhere in this annual report, for additional information regarding transactions with directors.
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DESCRIPTION OF INDEBTEDNESS
Senior Facilities Agreement
The following section contains a summary of certain key terms of the Senior Facilities Agreement, the Intercreditor
Agreement, the 2026 Notes, the 2024 Notes and other financing arrangements. This section is intended to be a summary only
and does not purport to be a complete or exhaustive description of the topics summarized. Terms not defined in the following
section have the meanings given to them in the Senior Facilities Agreement.
Grupo Antolín-Irausa, S.A. is a party to a senior term and revolving facilities agreement dated March 13, 2014 as
amended and/or amended and restated from time to time, most recently amended and restated on April 13, 2018 with
effectiveness of such amendment and restatement subject to the satisfaction of customary closing conditions (the “Senior
Facilities Agreement”) entered into between, among others, Grupo Antolín-Irausa, S.A. as the company and original
borrower (the “Company”), the original lenders listed therein and Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as agent (“Agent”)
and security agent.
Facilities
After giving effect to the amendment and restatement of the Senior Facilities Agreement entered into on April 13,
2018, the Senior Facilities Agreement provide for committed facilities as set out below:
•

•

a euro term loan facility (“Facility A”) in an aggregate amount of €419.2 million, comprising:
•

a tranche of approximately €182.5 million (“Facility A1”) with an amortizing repayment profile;

•

a tranche of approximately €186.7 million (“Facility A2”) with an amortizing repayment profile;

•

a tranche of €50.0 million (“Facility A3”) with an amortizing repayment profile; and

a multi-currency revolving credit facility of €200.0 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”).

Each of Facility A1, Facility A2, Facility A3 and the Revolving Credit Facility has a maturity date of (the
“Maturity Date”) 30 June 2023.
Interest rates and fees
The interest rate on each loan under the Senior Facilities Agreement for each interest period is the rate per annum
which is the aggregate of the applicable (a) margin (as described below) and (b) LIBOR or, in relation to any loan in euro,
EURIBOR.
Pursuant to the terms of the Senior Facilities Agreement the margin for Facility A and the Revolving Credit Facility
ranges between 1.25% per annum to 1.05% per annum, subject to a margin adjustment mechanism in the Senior Facilities
Agreement pursuant to which the margin applicable to Facility A and the Revolving Credit Facility is adjusted upwards or
downwards based on the ratio of Net Financial Indebtedness to Adjusted EBITDA in respect of any relevant testing period, as
demonstrated in the compliance certificate required delivered with the annual audited and quarterly unaudited financial
statements of the Group. While an event of default is continuing under the Senior Facilities Agreement, the applicable margin
will be the highest margin applicable to each Facility.
Pursuant to the Senior Facilities Agreement, the Company is obligated to pay certain fees, including an agency and
security agent’s fee and a commitment fee in respect of the available but undrawn Revolving Credit Facility commitments.
Guarantees
Pursuant to the terms of the Senior Facilities Agreement, the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company
(together with the Company, the “SFA Guarantors”) guarantee all amounts due to the lenders and other finance parties
under the Senior Facilities Agreement and related finance documents. The guarantees granted by the SFA Guarantors are
subject to certain guarantee limitations which are set out in the Senior Facilities Agreement, or in the case of the Portuguese
Guarantors, in the Intercreditor Agreement. These guarantee limitations primarily limit the scope of the guarantees granted by
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the SFA Guarantors to ensure that they comply with the laws of the jurisdictions in which the SFA Guarantors are
incorporated.
The Company is required to ensure that each of its subsidiaries in which it holds directly or indirectly at least 90% of
the issued ordinary share capital, and which for the last financial year has earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and
amortization (i) calculated on the same basis as EBITDA but on an unconsolidated basis, representing 2.50% or more of the
Group’s EBITDA; and (ii) (calculated on the same basis as EBITDA but on an unconsolidated basis) greater than €5,000,000
(a company meeting these criteria being a “Material Company”), accedes to the Senior Facilities Agreement as an
additional guarantor as soon as possible after becoming a Material Company. The obligation to require such a Material
Company to accede as a guarantor is subject to agreed security principles and certain limitations specified in the Senior
Facilities Agreement and does not apply to a Spanish company established as an Agrupación de Interés Económico or a
Sociedad de responsabilidad limitada or any subsidiary incorporated in Argentina, China, Costa Rica, France, India,
Indonesia, Japan, Morocco, Romania, Russia, South Korea, South Africa, Thailand or Vietnam.
Any subsidiary of the Company that becomes a guarantor in respect of the 2024 Notes or 2026 Notes is also
required to accede to the Senior Facilities Agreement as a guarantor.
Security
Grupo Antolin HoldCo, S.A. has granted Spanish law pledges over the issued share capital of the Company held by
it (comprising 67.4% of the entire issued share capital of the Company) (as extended and/or ratified from time to time, the
“First Share Pledges”).
Castilfalé Gestión, S.A.U. has granted Spanish law pledges over the issued share capital of the Company held by it
(comprising 32.6% of the entire issued share capital of the Company) (as extended and/or ratified from time to time, the
“Second Share Pledges”).
The First Share Pledges and the Second Share Pledges secure obligations owed under the Senior Facilities
Agreement and related finance documents and the 2026 Notes and 2024 Notes.
The security created by the First Share Pledges and the Second Share Pledges rank in the order described in the
section titled “Intercreditor Agreement” below.
Undertakings
The Senior Facilities Agreement contains certain negative undertakings that, subject to certain customary and other
agreed exceptions, limit the ability of each obligor (and in certain cases, members of the Group) to, among other things:
•

incur or allow remaining outstanding financial indebtedness;

•

be a creditor in respect of financial indebtedness;

•

create or permit to subsist any security over any of its assets;

•

issue or allow to remain outstanding any guarantee in respect of any liability or obligation owed to any person;

•

declare or pay any dividend or other payment or distribution of any kind on or in respect of any of its shares;
and

•

make acquisitions of companies, businesses or undertakings.

In addition to the undertakings listed above, the Senior Facilities Agreement contains a number of other customary
positive and negative undertakings.
Financial covenants
The Senior Facilities Agreement contains financial covenants that require the Group to ensure that:
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•

the ratio of Adjusted EBITDA to Financial Expenses shall not be less than 4.00:1:

•

the ratio of Net Financial Indebtedness shall not exceed 3.50:1:

Repayment
Loans drawn under Facility A are required to be repaid in semi-annual instalments, in accordance with an
amortization schedule set out in the Senior Facilities Agreement, with the final repayment instalment due on the Maturity
Date. Each loan under the Revolving Credit Facility is required to be repaid on the last day of each interest period; provided,
however, that Revolving Credit Facility loans may be redrawn subject to the terms and conditions set out in the Senior
Facilities Agreement. All outstanding loans under the Revolving Credit Facility and any outstanding letters of credit are
required to be repaid in full on the Maturity Date.
Prepayments
Subject to certain conditions, the Company or the other borrowers under the Senior Facilities Agreement may
voluntarily cancel any available commitments under, or voluntarily prepay any outstanding utilizations of, the Senior
Facilities by giving three business days’ prior notice to the Agent. Any Facility A loans that are prepaid may not be
reborrowed and the relevant commitments will be canceled. Any Revolving Credit Facility utilizations that are prepaid may
(subject to the terms of the Senior Facilities Agreement) be reborrowed.
Subject to certain exceptions and/or thresholds, mandatory prepayments of amounts outstanding under the Senior
Facilities are required to be made upon the disposal of certain categories of assets, recovery of insurance claim proceeds or a
flotation (which does not cause a change of control of the Company).
A change of control of the Company will trigger a 30 day consultation period with the lenders under the Senior
Facilities Agreement. At the end of such consultation period, each lender who does not wish to continue being a lender under
the Senior Facilities Agreement may request prepayment of all amounts owed to it. Any lender who makes such a request
must be prepaid within five business days and all of such lender’s commitments will be canceled. The Senior Facilities will
be automatically canceled and be immediately repayable upon a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Group to a
third party.
A “change of control” for these purposes means the Investors (being the Principals and any Related Party, each as
defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement) ceasing to directly or indirectly (a) have the power to (i) cast, or control the
casting of, at least 50.01% of the votes that may be cast in a general meeting of the Company; (ii) appoint or remove all, or
the majority of the directors or equivalent officers of the Company; or (iii) give directions with respect to the operating and
financial policies of the Company with which the directors or equivalent officers are obliged to comply; or (b) hold
beneficially at least 50.01% of the issued share capital of the Company with voting rights.
Events of default
The Senior Facilities Agreement contains events of default customary for financings of this nature (with customary
and agreed thresholds and carve-outs), the occurrence of any of which will allow the lenders under the Senior Facilities
Agreement to cancel available commitments under the Senior Facilities, declare all amounts owed under the Senior Facilities
Agreement to be due upon demand and/or demand immediate repayment of all amounts owed under the Senior Facilities
Agreement.
Intercreditor Agreement
The Company (including, in its capacity as the issuer), the SFA Guarantors, the trustee in respect of the 2026 Notes,
the trustee in respect of the 2024 Notes, the Agent, the Security Agent, the lenders under the Senior Facilities Agreement, the
EIB and certain other parties have entered into the Intercreditor Agreement to establish the relative rights of certain of the
Group’s creditors including creditors under the Senior Facilities Agreement, the indenture governing our 2024 Notes, the
indenture governing our 2026 Notes and any Additional Senior Financings (as defined in the Intercreditor Agreement).
The Intercreditor Agreement sets out:
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•

the ranking of the indebtedness under the Senior Facilities Agreement, the 2024 Notes, the 2026 Notes and any
Additional Senior Financing (together the “Senior Secured Debt” and the creditors to whom the Senior Secured
Debt is owed being the “Senior Secured Creditors”);

•

the ranking of the security created pursuant to the Transaction Security (as defined in the Intercreditor
Agreement);

•

the procedure for enforcement of the Transaction Security and any guarantees granted in favor of the Senior
Secured Creditors and the allocation of proceeds resulting from such enforcement;

•

the types of disposals permitted under distressed scenarios and the Security Agent’s authority to release the
Transaction Security and all obligations of the group owed to the Senior Secured Creditors in case of a
distressed disposal;

•

the terms pursuant to which intra-Group debt and certain debt owed to equity investors (“Equity Investor
Liabilities”) will be subordinated; and

•

turnover provisions.

The following description is a summary of certain provisions contained in the Intercreditor Agreement. It does not
restate the Intercreditor Agreement in its entirety.
Priority of debts
The Intercreditor Agreement provides that all liabilities owed under the Senior Facilities Agreement, the 2024
Notes, the 2026 Notes, the Additional Senior Financing (including in each case, any liabilities owed pursuant to any
guarantees given in respect of such debt) will rank pari passu and without any preference between them and in priority to any
intra-Group debt and Equity Investor Liabilities.
Ranking of security
The Intercreditor Agreement provides that the Transaction Security shall rank and secure the Senior Secured Debt as
follows:
(a)

first, security created pursuant to the First Share Pledge and Second Share Pledge which security secure the
Senior Facility Liabilities and the Senior Secured Notes Liabilities (each term, as defined in the
Intercreditor Agreement) pari passu and without any preference between them; and

(b)

second, security created pursuant to the First Share Pledges, the Second Share Pledges and any security
created pursuant to share pledges granted in favor of lenders of ancillary facilities entered into under the
Senior Facilities Agreement after the original date of the First Share Pledges and the Second Share Pledges
(each such facility a “Subsequent Ancillary Facility”) in the order of priority in which they are entered into
in respect of any Additional Senior Financing Liabilities (as defined in the Intercreditor Agreement) and
any Subsequent Ancillary Facility.

Notwithstanding the order of ranking set out above, the date of execution or order the Transaction Security
documents are entered into, or the ranking under applicable law, it is agreed that the Transaction Security shall rank and
secure the Senior Secured Debt pari passu without preference between the different categories of Senior Secured Debt.
Enforcement and application of proceeds
The Intercreditor Agreement sets forth procedures for enforcement of the Transaction Security. Subject to the
Transaction Security having become enforceable, Senior Secured Creditors whose Senior Credit Participations aggregate
more than 50% of the total Senior Credit Participations (the “Instructing Group”) are entitled to direct the Security Agent to
enforce or refrain from enforcing the Transaction Security, as they see fit. The Security Agent may refrain from enforcing the
Transaction Security unless otherwise instructed by the Instructing Group. For these purposes, “Senior Credit
Participations” means at any time in relation to a Senior Secured Creditor, the aggregate amount owed to such Senior
Secured Creditor.
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The proceeds of enforcement of the Transaction Security or any guarantees granted in respect of the Senior Secured
Debt and all other amounts paid to the Security Agent under the Intercreditor Agreement shall be applied in the following
order:
•

first, in payment on a pari passu and pro rata basis any sums (including fees, costs, expenses and liabilities)
owing to (i) the Security Agent or any receiver, delegate, attorney or agent appointed under the Transaction
Security documents or the Intercreditor Agreement; (ii) the Agent or any creditor representative in its capacity
as such in respect of any Additional Senior Financing; (iii) the trustee in respect of the 2024 Notes; and (iv) the
trustee in respect of the 2026 Notes;

•

second, on a pari passu and pro rata basis to the (i) Agent on its own behalf and on behalf of the creditors under
the Senior Facilities Agreement; (ii) the trustee on its own behalf and on behalf of the noteholders of the 2024
Notes; (iii) the trustee on its own behalf and on behalf of the noteholders of the 2026 Notes; and (iv) any
creditor representative in respect of an Additional Senior Financing on its own behalf and on behalf of the
creditors under such Additional Senior Financing, for application towards the discharge of amounts owed under
the Senior Facilities Agreement (in accordance with the terms thereof), and any Additional Senior Financing
(on a pro rata basis);

•

third, if none of the debtors is under any further actual or contingent liability under any of the Senior Secured
Debt documents, in payment to any person the Security Agent is obliged to pay in priority to any debtor; and

•

fourth, in payment or distribution to the relevant debtors.

Distressed disposals
A “Distressed Disposal” means a disposal effected (i) by way of enforcement of the Transaction Security; (ii) at the
request of the Instructing Group in circumstances where the Transaction Security has become enforceable; or (iii) by HoldCo
(in the case of a disposal of the secured shares) or a debtor to a third party (not being a member of the Group) after any of the
Senior Secured Debt has been accelerated.
If to the extent permitted by applicable law a Distressed Disposal is being effected or the shares of the Company are
being appropriated by the Security Agent, the Security Agent is authorized (without the requirement to obtain any further
consent or authorization from any Senior Secured Creditor or other relevant party): (i) to release the Transaction Security or
any other claim over any asset subject to the Distressed Disposal or appropriation; and (ii) if the asset subject to the
Distressed Disposal or appropriation is the shares of a Group company, to release such Group Company and/or its
subsidiaries from any liabilities under borrowings and/or guarantees under the Senior Secured Debt documents, intra-Group
debt documents or documents evidencing Equity Investor Liabilities.
Intra-Group debt
Pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Company and its subsidiaries party thereto that are creditors in respect
of intra-Group debt over a certain threshold have agreed to subordinate intra-Group debt to the Senior Secured Debt.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries that are creditors in respect of intra-Group debt may accept the
benefit of any security, guarantee, indemnity or other assurance against loss in respect of intra-Group debt unless such action
is permitted under the Senior Secured Debt documents. Neither the Company nor any other subsidiary may make any
payment, prepayment, repayment or otherwise acquire or discharge any intra-Group debt if acceleration action has been taken
in respect of any of the Senior Secured Debt unless the Instructing Group consent or such action is undertaken to facilitate
repayment or prepayment of the Senior Secured Debt.
Equity Investor Liabilities
Pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Company and future equity investors party thereto have agreed to
subordinate the Equity Investor Liabilities to the Senior Secured Debt. The Company and other debtors may make payments
in respect of the Equity Investor Liabilities provided that such payments are permitted under the terms of the Senior Secured
Debt documents and the documents evidencing the Equity Investor Liabilities. No equity investor may accept the benefit of
any security, guarantee, indemnity or other assurance against loss in respect of Equity Investor Liabilities prior to the first
date on which all of the Senior Secured Debt has been discharged.
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Turnover
Subject to certain exceptions, if any creditor party to the Intercreditor Agreement (including the Agent, Security
Agent, Trustee, the trustee of the 2024 Notes, the trustee of the 2026 Notes, Senior Secured Creditors, creditors in respect of
intra-Group debt and creditors in respect of Equity Investor Liabilities) receives or recovers a payment (whether by way of
direct payment, set-off or otherwise) except as permitted pursuant to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement, such creditor
shall hold such payment in trust for the Security Agent and promptly pay over such amounts to the Security Agent for
application in accordance with the provision described above under “Enforcement and application of proceeds”.
2024 Notes
Overview
On April 21, 2017, the Company issued €400.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 3.25% senior secured notes
due 2024 (the “2024 Notes”). The 2024 Notes are admitted to the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for
trading on the Euro MTF Market.
Interest Rate
The 2024 Notes accrue interest at a rate of 3.25% per annum and mature on April 30, 2024. Interest is payable in
cash semi-annually on April 30 and October 30 of each year, commencing October 30, 2017.
Prepayments and redemptions
At any time prior to April 30, 2020, the Company may redeem all or part of the 2024 Notes at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2024 Notes redeemed plus a “make whole” premium, plus accrued and unpaid
interest and additional amounts, if any.
At any time on or after April 30, 2020, the Company may redeem all or part of the 2024 Notes at a redemption price
(expressed as percentages of principal amount), plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, at the
redemption date. The redemption prices are 101.6250%, 100.8125% and 100.000%, for years 2020, 2021 and 2022 and
thereafter, respectively.
At any time prior to April 30, 2020, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the
2024 Notes with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 103.250% of their
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to the redemption date provided that at
least 60% of the aggregate principal amount of the notes remains outstanding after the redemption.
The Company may also redeem the 2024 Notes in whole, but not in part, at any time, if changes in tax laws would
require the Company to pay additional amounts on the 2024 Notes. If the Company decides to do this, it must pay holders of
the 2024 Notes a price equal to the principal amount of the notes plus interest and certain other amounts.
If the Company experiences specific kinds of changes in control, it may be required to offer to repurchase the 2024
Notes at a redemption price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest and
additional amounts, if any.
Guarantee
The 2024 Notes are guaranteed jointly and severally, on a senior secured basis by each of the Guarantors and the
Company. If the Company cannot make payments on the 2024 Notes when they are due, the Guarantors must make them
instead. The laws of certain jurisdictions may limit enforceability of certain guarantees and of the rights to the collateral
supporting such guarantees.
Certain covenants and Events of Default
The indenture governing our 2024 Notes contains a number of covenants that, among other things, restricts, subject
to certain exceptions, our ability to:
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•

incur additional indebtedness

•

create liens;

•

pay dividends, redeem capital stock or make certain other restricted payments or investments;

•

enter into agreements that restrict dividends from restricted subsidiaries;

•

sell assets, including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries;

•

engage in transactions with affiliates; and

•

effect a consolidation or merger.

These covenants are subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions and will be suspended with
respect to the 2024 Notes if and when, and for so long as, the 2024 Notes are rated investment grade.
In addition, the indenture governing our 2024 Notes imposes certain requirements as to future subsidiary guarantors.
The indenture governing our 2024 Notes also contains certain customary events of default.
2026 Notes
Overview
On April 27, 2018, the Company issued €250.0 million aggregate principal amount of its 3.375% senior secured
notes due 2026 (the “2026 Notes”). The 2026 Notes are admitted to the Official List of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for
trading on the Euro MTF Market.
Interest Rate
The 2026 Notes accrue interest at a rate of 3.375% per annum and mature on April 30, 2026. Interest is payable in
cash semi-annually on April 30 and October 31 of each year, commencing October 31, 2018.
Prepayments and redemptions
At any time prior to April 30, 2021, the Company may redeem all or part of the 2026 Notes at a redemption price
equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2026 Notes redeemed plus a “make whole” premium, plus accrued and unpaid
interest and additional amounts, if any.
At any time on or after April 30, 2021, the Company may redeem all or part of the 2026 Notes at a redemption price
(expressed as percentages of principal amount), plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, at the
redemption date. The redemption prices are 101.688%, 100.844% and 100.000%, for years 2021, 2022 and 2023 and
thereafter, respectively.
At any time prior to April 30, 2021, the Company may redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the
2024 Notes with the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 3.375% of their principal
amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest and additional amounts, if any, to the redemption date provided that at least 60% of
the aggregate principal amount of the notes remains outstanding after the redemption.
The Company may also redeem the 2026 Notes in whole, but not in part, at any time, if changes in tax laws would
require the Company to pay additional amounts on the 2026 Notes. If the Company decides to do this, it must pay holders of
the 2026 Notes a price equal to the principal amount of the notes plus interest and certain other amounts.
If the Company experiences specific kinds of changes in control, it may be required to offer to repurchase the 2026
Notes at a redemption price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest and
additional amounts, if any.
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Guarantee
The 2026 Notes are guaranteed jointly and severally, on a senior secured basis by each of the Guarantors and the
Company. If the Company cannot make payments on the 2026 Notes when they are due, the Guarantors must make them
instead. The laws of certain jurisdictions may limit enforceability of certain guarantees and of the rights to the collateral
supporting such guarantees.
Certain covenants and Events of Default
The indenture governing our 2026 Notes contains a number of covenants that, among other things, restricts, subject
to certain exceptions, our ability to:
•

incur additional indebtedness

•

create liens;

•

pay dividends, redeem capital stock or make certain other restricted payments or investments;

•

enter into agreements that restrict dividends from restricted subsidiaries;

•

sell assets, including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries;

•

engage in transactions with affiliates; and

•

effect a consolidation or merger.

These covenants are subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions and will be suspended with
respect to the 2024 Notes if and when, and for so long as, the 2024 Notes are rated investment grade.
In addition, the indenture governing our 2024 Notes imposes certain requirements as to future subsidiary guarantors.
The indenture governing our 2024Notes also contains certain customary events of default.
Existing Debt Facilities
On a consolidated basis as of December 31, 2018, we had financial debt of €1,250.9 million. We had bank loans,
debentures and other marketable securities in an aggregate amount of €1,214.0 million outstanding and other financial liabilities
in an aggregate amount of €30.8 million outstanding.
These bank loans, debentures and other marketable securities include (i) €650.0 million of 2024 Notes and 2026 Notes,
(ii) €410.8 million of loans under the Senior Facility Agreement, (iii) €100.0 of the EIB loan, (iv) €9.6 million of other bank
loans, (v) €2.3 million of three different lease agreements, (vi) €49.7 million in drawn credit lines (including factoring without
resource), (vi) €3.1 million in accrued interest less the financial re-measurements of €11.6 million.
Other financial liabilities include (i) €23.0 million in soft loans (which include €18.8 million of non-interest bearing
soft loans), (ii) €6.8 million corresponding to the payable balance of the long term loan held by the JV Iramec granted by Kuster
and International Door Company, (iii) €5.9 million received in respect of an advance payment on the sale of the associate
CREA-Antolin Co; (iv) €1.2 million related to the acquisition of CIDUT; (v) €0.8 million assumed for the business combination
involving the interior components division acquired from Magna in 2015 (vi) €0.5 million related to other liabilities; (vii) less
the financial re-measurements of €1.3 million.
Soft loans (which could either be interest bearing soft loans and non-interest bearing soft loans) consist of (i) eleven
soft loans for an aggregate of €7.3 million granted by CDTI (Centro para el Desarrollo Tecnologico Industrial) and (ii) an
aggregate of €15.6 million of state subsidies granted by Spanish and Portuguese Ministries.
The soft loans granted by CDTI, which include €5.0 million of non-interest bearing soft loans, are provided to Grupo
Antolin-Ingenieria, S.A.U., Grupo Antolin-Aragusa, S.A.U. and Keyland Sistemas de Gestión and must be repaid in ten
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installments, falling due between 2018 and 2028, inclusive of a grace period of 2 years. They contain certain restrictive
covenants like negative covenants or limitations on guarantees. In February 2018, the Company entered into a new soft loan.
A number of the Company’s subsidiaries have been granted state subsidies. These subsidies have been granted by
resolutions of Spanish and Portuguese Ministries. The legal framework of the subsidies is comprised of state level general
plans, designed to encourage and develop technological investigation and innovation activities in certain fields, including the
automotive industry. These general plans are then executed by the Spanish and Portuguese ministries through executive
orders, creating programs and sub-programs that specify and set the total amounts and conditions by which the subsidies are
being granted to companies. As part of such subsidies, loans and other forms of financial support have been awarded to the
companies of the Group on the basis, and subject to compliance with, certain specified obligations, among others, compliance
with the objectives of the subsidy program or special corporate and financial information requirements. As of December 31,
2018, we have €15.6 million outstanding in soft loans with the Spanish and Portuguese Ministries relating to certain public
innovation plans in Spain and Portugal. These include €13.8 million of non-interest bearing soft loans.
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